
NOTICE OF REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 

 

Tuesday, July 5, 2022 

6:00 PM 

Notice is hereby given of a Regular meeting of the Tomball City Council, to be held on 

Tuesday, July 5, 2022 at 6:00 PM, City Hall, 401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 77375, for 

the purpose of considering the following agenda items.  All agenda items are subject to 

action.  The Tomball City Council reserves the right to meet in a closed session for 

consultation with attorney on any agenda item should the need arise and if applicable 

pursuant to authorization by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas Government Code. 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS, WILL CONDUCT THE 

MEETING SCHEDULED FOR JULY 5, 2022, 6:00 PM, AT 401 MARKET STREET, 

TOMBALL, TEXAS, 77375 VIA PHYSICAL ATTENDANCE AND ZOOM.  THIS 

MEETING AGENDA AND THE AGENDA PACKET ARE POSTED ONLINE AT:  

HTTPS://TOMBALLTX.GOV/ARCHIVE.ASPX?AMID=38 

A RECORDING OF THE MEETING WILL BE MADE AND WILL BE AVAILABLE 

TO THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE OPEN MEETINGS ACT UPON 

WRITTEN REQUEST. 

The public toll-free dial-in numbers to participate in the telephonic meeting are any one of the 

following (dial by your location):   +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago); +1 646 876 9923 US (New 

York); +1 301 715 8592 US; +1 346 248 7799 US (Houston); +1 408 638 0968 US (San Jose); 

+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose); or +1 253 215 8782 US (Tahoma) - Meeting ID: 925 2569 

0526, Passcode:  754209. The public will be permitted to offer public comments telephonically, 

as provided by the agenda and as permitted by the presiding officer during the meeting. 

A.        Call to Order 

B.        Invocation - Led by Chaplain Steve Allison - Tomball VFW Post 2427 

C.        Pledges to U.S. and Texas Flags 

D.        Public Comments and Receipt of Petitions; [At this time, anyone will be allowed to speak  

            on any matter other than personnel matters or matters under litigation, for length of time  

            not to exceed three minutes. No Council/Board discussion or action may take place on a 
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            matter until such matter has been placed on an agenda and posted in accordance with law  

            - GC, 551.042.] 

E.        Reports and Announcements 

1.        Announcements 

I. Tomball City Pool – 2022 Swim Season - Jerry Matheson Park Pool will 

be open from 10 a.m.–6 p.m., Tuesday through Friday and Noon–8 p.m. on 

Saturday and Sunday through August 14.   

End of Season hours will be: Noon–8 p.m. on August 20-21, August 27-28, 

and September 3-4; on September 5, the pool will be open 10 a. m. –6 p.m. 

to close out the Swim Season.   

The pool will be closed every Monday during swim season 2022, except 

Labor Day (September 5).  

II. TOMBALL KID'S CLUB – Activities:  July 7, 12, 14, 19, 21, 26 and 28, 

then August 2, 4, 9, and 11 from 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., at the Juergens 

Park Pavilion. 

III. July 9, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

IV. August 5, 2022 – 50th Annual Tomball Night, Parade of Lights, and 

Health & Wellness Expo 

V. August 13, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

VI. September 9-10, 2022 – “9-11 21st Anniversary Remembrance”; an 

event to remember the events of  9-11 - at the Depot 

VII. September 17, 2022 – GroovFest 2022 – 11:00 a.m. – 6:00 p.m. at the 

Depot 

2.         Reports by City staff and members of council about items of community 

            interest on which no action will be taken: 

I. Drew Huffman - Presentation of the City of Tomball’s Drought 

Contingency Plan 

II. Nathan Dietrich – Presentation of City of Tomball New Interactive Map 
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F.        Approval of Minutes 

1. Approve the Minutes of the June 20, 2022 Regular Tomball City Council Meeting 

G.         Old Business 

1. Adopt, on Second Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-12, an ordinance of the City of 

Tomball, Texas, amending Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances 

by changing the Zoning District Classification of approximately 2.10  acres of land 

legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from 

Agricultural (AG) to the Office (O) District. The property is generally located 

within the 13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-

feet east from the intersection of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, 

providing for severability; providing for a penalty of an amount not to exceed 

$2,000 for each day of violation of any provision hereof, making findings of fact; 

and providing for other related matters 

2. Remove from Table for Consideration to Adopt, on First Reading, Ordinance No. 

2022-13, an ordinance of the City of Tomball, Texas, amending Chapter 50 

(Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances by changing the Zoning District 

Classification of approximately 13.21 acres of land legally described as being a 

portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176 from Agricultural 

(AG) to the Commercial (C) District. The property is generally located within the 

13000 block of Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the southwest corner of the 

intersection of South Cherry Street and Medical Complex Drive, providing for 

severability; providing for a penalty of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for each 

day of violation of any provision hereof, making findings of fact; and providing for 

other related matters 

3. Adopt, on Second Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-15, an ordinance of the City of 

Tomball, Texas, amending the Tomball Comprehensive Plan by changing the 

Major Thoroughfare Plan Map; providing for severability; providing for a penalty 

of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for each day of violation of any provision hereof, 

making findings of fact; and providing for other related matters 

H.        New Business 

1. Approve the purchase of 3 vehicles for Police through the State BuyBoard 

Cooperative Contract, from Caldwell Country in the amount of $119,815 

2. Consideration to approve a contract for Land Related Services to Threshold Land 

Services, Inc. for an amount not to exceed $100,000.00. 
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3. Reappoint Judge Brett Peabody to the Municipal Court for terms of office which 

begin October 1, 2022 and ends on September 31, 2024. 

4. Reappoint Chief Prosecutor, Grant Stevens, to the Municipal Court for a term of 

office which begins October 1, 2022 and ends on September 30, 2024.  

5. Approve Request from Turn To Productions to host “Texas Hot Sauce Festival” 

in downtown Tomball, on Saturday, November 5th, through Sunday, November 

6th, 2022, with setup on Friday, November 4th 

6. Presentation of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year ending 

September 30, 2021 

7. Approve Resolution No. 2022-24,a Resolution of the City Council of the City of 

Tomball, Texas, Designating the City Manager as the Authorized 

Official/Program Director of the City to Apply for Grants for the Motor Vehicle 

Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program and Execute the Necessary 

Documents, and Designating the Finance Director [Motor Vehicle Crime 

Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program] 

8. Executive Session: The City Council will meet in Executive Session as 

Authorized by Title 5, Chapter 551, Government Code, the Texas Open Meetings 

Act, for the Following Purpose(s): 

ᵒ  Sec. 551.071 – Consultation with the City Attorney regarding a matter 

which the Attorney’s duty requires to be discussed in closed session 

ᵒ  Sec. 551.074 - Personnel Matters: Deliberation of the Appointment, 

Employment, and Duties of Public Officers or Employees – Police 

Department 

ᵒ  Sec. 551.076 – Deliberation regarding Security Devices 

I.       Adjournment 
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C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

I hereby certify that the above notice of meeting was posted on the bulletin board of City Hall, 

City of Tomball, Texas, a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on the 30th 

day of June 2022 by 5:00 PM, and remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours preceding the 

scheduled time of said meeting. 

 

Doris Speer, City Secretary, TRMC, MMC 

 

This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Requests for accommodations or 

interpretive services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting. Please contact the City Secretary’s office at (281) 

290-1002 or FAX (281) 351-6256 for further information. 

AGENDAS MAY BE VIEWED ONLINE AT www.ci.tomball.tx.us. 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Tomball City Pool – 2022 Swim Season - Jerry Matheson Park Pool will be open from 10 a.m.–6 p.m., 

Tuesday through Friday and Noon–8 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday through August 14.   

End of Season hours will be: Noon–8 p.m. on August 20-21, August 27-28, and September 3-4; on 

September 5, the pool will be open 10 a. m. –6 p.m. to close out the Swim Season.   

The pool will be closed every Monday during swim season 2022, except Labor Day (September 5).  

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-13-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

TOMBALL KID'S CLUB – Activities:  July 7, 12, 14, 19, 21, 26 and 28, then August 2, 4, 9, and 11 from 

10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., at the Juergens Park Pavilion. 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 5-27-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

July 9, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 5-11-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

August 5, 2022 – 50th Annual Tomball Night, Parade of Lights, and Health & Wellness Expo 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 5-11-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

August 13, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-13-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

September 9-10, 2022 – “9-11 21st Anniversary Remembrance”; an event to remember the events 

of  9-11 - at the Depot 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-29-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

September 17, 2022 – GroovFest 2022 – 11:00 a.m. – 6:00 p.m. at the Depot 

Background: 

 

Origination:  

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-29-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: 07/05/2022 

Topic:  

Presentation of the City of Tomball’s Drought Contingency Plan. 

Background: 

As an operator of a public water utility system, the City of Tomball is subject to various regulations 

related to water conservation and droughts. A few of the applicable regulations include the Texas Water 

Code, which mandates that all public utilities that provide potable water service to 3,300 or more 

connections have a Drought Contingency Plan; the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 

(TCEQ), which requires the City to submit a Drought Contingency Plan every five years; and the Texas 

Water Development Board, which requires the City to submit a Water Conservation Plan every five 

years.  

The City’s current Water Conservation and Drought Contingency Plan was adopted in 2019. The Plan 

outlines the City’s five drought stages, the conditions required to trigger each stage, and the conditions 

required to terminate each stage. It also provides guidance on public education, community notification, 

and drought response measures that will be implemented during drought conditions.  

 

Stage Triggers 

1: Mild Drought Condition Total daily demand exceeds 60% of production capacity for three 

consecutive days OR other causes as determined by City Council 

and/or City Manager 

2: Moderate Drought Condition Total daily demand exceeds 70% of production capacity for three 

consecutive days OR other causes as determined by City Council 

and/or City Manager 

3: Severe Drought Condition Total daily demand exceeds 80% of production capacity for three 

consecutive days OR other causes as determined by City Council 

and/or City Manager 

4: Emergency Water Condition Total daily demand exceeds 90% of production capacity for three 

consecutive days OR other causes as determined by City Council 

and/or City Manager 

5: Emergency Water Condition Total daily demand exceeds 95% of production capacity for three 

consecutive days OR natural or man-made contamination of the 

water supply source OR system outage due to failure of major 

water system components 
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Tomball reached Stage 1 on 6/19/2022. At this stage, staff posted on social media, sent out a press 

release to local news outlets, and encouraged all residents to voluntarily practice water conservation.  

Once the City entered Stage 1, Public Works staff developed a decision making matrix during this to 

assist as we move further into our Drought Contingency Plan. The matrix consists of tracking our water 

well pumping capacity, daily high temperature vs. precipitation, and the Keetch-Byram Drought Index 

(KBDI).  

Additional information will be presented at the City Council meeting.  

Origination: Public Works Department  

Recommendation: 

Informational   

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Drew Huffman, Public Works Director 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No: X If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Drew Huffman  Approved by   

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

 

Nathan Dietrich – Presentation of City of Tomball New Interactive Map 

Background: 

 

Origination: Community Development Department 

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-30-22 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Approve the Minutes of the June 20, 2022 Regular Tomball City Council Meeting 

Background: 

 

Origination: City Secetary 

Recommendation: 

Approve 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doris Speer, City Secretary 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-29-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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MINUTES OF REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 

 

Monday, June 20, 2022 

6:00 PM 

The City Council of the City of Tomball, Texas, conducted the meeting scheduled for June 20, 2022, 6:00 

PM, at 401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 77375, via video/telephone conference. 

 

A.        Mayor Klein Quinn called the meeting of the Tomball City Council to order. 

 PRESENT 

 Mayor Lori Klein Quinn 

 Council 1 John Ford 

 Council 2 Mark Stoll 

 Council 4 Derek Townsend, Sr. 

 Council 5 Randy Parr 

  

 ABSENT: 

 Council 3 Dane Dunagin – Excused  

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Assistant City Manager – Jessica Rogers 

Assistant City Secretary – Tracylynn Garcia 

City Attorney – Loren B. Smith 

Director of Community Development – Nathan Dietrich 

Director of Finance – Katherine Dubois 

Police Chief – Jeff Bert 

Fire Chief – Joe Sykora 

Marketing Manager – Sasha Smith 

Assistant to the City Manager/Communications Coordinator – Rebecca Beahan 

Assistant Fire Chief – Jeff Cook 

Community Center Manager – Rosalie Dillon 

Executive Director-TEDC – Kelly Violette 

Economic Development Coordinator-TEDC – Tori Gleason 

B.        Invocation - Led by Pastor Mike Hernandez - Local Church 

C.        Pledges to U.S. and Texas Flags – Led by Councilman Ford 
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D.        The following Public Comments were received:  

 

 Michael Pierce   - expressed his desire to have L. Lovett  

 13607 Arcott Bend Dr.    sign the wall of his business 

 Tomball, Texas 

E.        Presentations 

•         Proclamation – June 27, 2022 is “Justin Alejandro Ortiz Day” 

•        Plaque – Chad Degges, Councilmember, Position 3 – January 18, 2014–June 6, 

2022 

F.        Reports and Announcements 

1.         Announcements 

I. Tomball City Pool – 2022 Swim Season - Jerry Matheson Park Pool  - 

the Regular Season will operate from 10 a.m.–6 p.m., Tuesday through 

Friday and Noon–8 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday through August 14.   

End of Season hours will be:  Noon–8 p.m. on August 20-21, August 27-28, 

and September 3-4; on September 5, the pool will be open 10 a. m. –6 p.m. 

to close out the Swim Season.   

The pool is closed every Monday during swim season 2022, except July 4th 

and Labor Day (September 5). 

II. TOMBALL KID'S CLUB – Activities:  July 7, 12, 14, 19, 21, 26 and 28, 

then August 2, 4, 9, and 11 from 10:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m., at the Juergens 

Park Pavilion (registration required). 

III. July 4, 2021 – July Fourth Celebration & Street Fest – 6:00 p.m.-10:00 

p.m. at Four Corners (Business SH 249 at FM 2920) 

IV. July 9, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

V. August 5, 2022 – 50th Annual Tomball Night, Parade of Lights, and 

Health & Wellness Expo 

VI. August 13, 2022 – 2nd Saturday at the Depot 

2.         Reports by City staff and members of council about items of community 

            interest on which no action will be taken: 
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G.        Approval of Minutes 

1. Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Seconded by Council 2 Stoll, to approve 

the Minutes of the June 6, 2022 Special and Regular Tomball City Council 

Meetings and the June 13, 2022 Special Tomball City Council Meeting 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

Motion carried unanimously. 

Derek made a motion to amend his motion regarding minutes. 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

Motion made to amend the minutes from June 6, 2022 council meeting to reflect 

Vickie Britt Heald, did not speak and was in favor of the Sip & Stroll item. 

Seconded by Councilman 2 Stoll 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

Motion carried unanimously. 

H.         Old Business 

1. Motion made by Council 2 Stoll, Seconded by Council 1 Ford, to approve, on 

Second Reading, Resolution No. 2022-20-TEDC, a Resolution of the City 

Council of the City of Tomball, Texas, authorizing and approving the Tomball 

Economic Development Corporation’s Project to Expend Funds in accordance 

with an Economic Development Agreement by and between the Corporation 

and Sip Hip Hooray to make direct incentives to, or expenditures for, advertising, 

promotion and marketing for monthly Shop and Stroll events held in Old Town 

Tomball, City of Tomball, as authorized under Section 505.158 of the Texas 

Local Government Code. The estimated amount of expenditures for such project 

is $40,545.00.  

 

The following individuals didn’t wish to speak, however wanted their show of 

support for this item recorded: 

 

Victoria Croft 

11743 Northpointe Blvd 

Tomball Texas 77377 
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Amy Bench 

202 Florence  

Tomball, Texas 77377 

 

Madison Heald 

11515 Aspenway Dr 

Houston, Texas 77070 

 

Teresa Pharis 

803 Baker Dr 

Tomball, Texas 77375 

 

Katie Barnes 

31906 McKinley Run Dr 

Hockley, Texas 

 

Mike & Sharon Brockwell 

22102 Gromwell Dr 

Magnolia, Texas 77355 

 

Carlos Marti 

2310 E. Winding Pines Dr 

Tomball, Texas 77375 

 

Melanie Marti 

2310 E. Winding Pines Dr 

Tomball, Texas 77375 

 

The following individuals did want to speak in favor of this item 

 

Bruce Hillegeist 

15300 Cutten Rd 

Houston, Texas 77070 

 

Scott Moore 

404 S. Pine St 

Tomball, Texas 77375 

 

Raymond Francois 

20823 Clydesdale Post Rd 

Tomball, Texas 77377 
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Chuck Harper 

12331 Tall Cypress Dr 

Spring, Texas  

 

Vickie Britt Heald 

11515 Aspenway Dr. 

Houston, Texas 77070 

 

Meagan Morris 

25705 Fish Rd. 

Magnolia, Texas 77375 

 

Michael Pierce 

13607 Arcott Bend 

Tomball, Texas 77377 

 

Eric Sundin 

15303 Parkville Dr. 

Houston, Texas 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

Motion carried unanimously. 

I.        New Business 

1. Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 5 Parr, to 

authorize City Manager to execute documents necessary to participate in National 

Purchasing Partners Government procurement cooperative. 

 Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

Motion carried unanimously. 

2. Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 2 Stoll to 

approve the purchase of  one (1) 2022 Ford Fouts F.O.U.R. Mini Pumper through 

the National Purchasing Partners Government Division Cooperative Purchasing 

Contract, in the amount of $261,000.00. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 
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Motion carried unanimously. 

 

3. Consideration to Approve Zoning Case P22-111: Request from Shahnaz Shahzad 

represented by Atif Shahzad to amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code 

of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 2.10 acres of land legally described as 

being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from Agricultural (AG) to the 

General Retail (GR) District. The property is generally located within the 13100 

block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet east from 

the intersection of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of 

Tomball, Harris County, Texas. 

 Mayor Quinn opened the Public Hearing on Zoning Case P22-111 at 7:04 

p.m. 

   

 Atif Shahzad   - thank you for your support 

 Conroe, Texas 

 Receiving no further comments, Mayor Quinn closed the Public Hearing at 

7:05 p.m. 

  Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Seconded by Council 2 Stoll to read 

Ordinance No. 2022-12 by Caption only on First Reading. 

  Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5  

  Parr 

   

Motion carried unanimously. 

Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr. to amend motion from General Retail 

to Office, Seconded by Council 2 Stoll. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

 

Motion carried unanimously. 

Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 2 Stoll, to adopt, 

on First Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-12, an ordinance of the City of Tomball, 

Texas, amending Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances by 

changing the Zoning District Classification of approximately 2.10 acres of land 

legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from 

Agricultural (AG) to Office (O) District. The property is generally located within 

the 13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet 

east from the intersection of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, providing 
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for severability; providing for a penalty of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for 

each day of violation of any provision hereof, making findings of fact; and 

providing for other related matters. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 Parr 

 

Abstaining: Council 1 Ford 

 

Motion carried unanimously. 

 

 4. Consideration to Approve Zoning Case P22-115: Request from Welcome Land 

Development, LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall represented by Bryan Harrison to 

amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning 

approximately 13.21 acres of land legally described as being a portion of Tomball 

Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176 from Agricultural (AG) to the 

Commercial (C) District. The property is generally located within the 13000 block 

of Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the southwest corner of the intersection 

of South Cherry Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, 

Harris County, Texas. 

Conduct Public Hearing on Zoning Case P22-115 

 Mayor Quinn opened the Public Hearing on Zoning Case P22-111 at 7:45 

p.m. 

   

 Ryan Warsaw  - represented Welcome Land Development 

 5858 Westheimer 

Houston, Texas 

 

 Receiving no further comments, Mayor Quinn closed the Public Hearing at 

7:47 p.m. 

 

  Motion made by Council 2 Stoll, Seconded by Council 5 Parr, to read Ordinance 

No. 2022-13 by Caption only on First Reading. 

 

  Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5   

  Parr 

 

Motion carried unanimously. 
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Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 2 Stoll to adopt, 

on First Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-13, an ordinance of the City of Tomball, 

Texas, amending Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances by 

changing the Zoning District Classification of approximately 13.21 acres of land 

legally described as being a portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, 

and 176 from Agricultural (AG) to the Commercial (C) District. The property is 

generally located within the 13000 block of Medical Complex Drive (south side), 

at the southwest corner of the intersection of South Cherry Street and Medical 

Complex Drive, providing for severability; providing for a penalty of an amount 

not to exceed $2,000 for each day of violation of any provision hereof, making 

findings of fact; and providing for other related matters. 

Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., to amend his motion to table 

consideration of Ordinance No. 2022-13 until next meeting, 7/5/2022, Seconded 

by Council 5 Parr. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 

Parr 

 

Motion to TABLE carried unanimously. 

 

5. Consideration to Approve Zoning Case P22-184: Request by Harrisburg Homes, 

Inc. to amend the City of Tomball’s Comprehensive Plan to update the Major 

Thoroughfare Plan Map. Reclassifying the proposed east-west extension of 

Medical Complex Drive from a major arterial to a minor arterial. 

Specifically being a segment that is planned to extend approximately 0.9 

miles from the eastern right-of-way boundary of Hufsmith-Kohrville Road 

toward the southern right-of-way boundary of Mahaffey Road., Harris 

County, Texas. 

Conduct Public Hearing on Zoning Case P22-184 

 Mayor Quinn opened the Public Hearing on Zoning Case P22-184 at 8:15 

p.m. 

 

No public comments were received 

   

 Receiving no further comments, Mayor Quinn closed the Public Hearing at 

8:16 p.m. 

 

 Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Seconded by Council 5 Parr, to read 

Ordinance No. 2022-15 by Caption only on First Reading. 
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Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., 

Council 5 Parr 

 

Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 2 Stoll, to 

adopt, on First Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-15, an ordinance of the City of 

Tomball, Texas, amending the Tomball Comprehensive Plan by changing the 

Major Thoroughfare Plan Map; providing for severability; providing for a 

penalty of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for each day of violation of any 

provision hereof, making findings of fact; and providing for other related 

matters. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., 

Council 5 Parr 

 

J.      Motion made by Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Seconded by Council 2 Stoll to adjourn. 

 

Voting Yea: Council 1 Ford, Council 2 Stoll, Council 4 Townsend, Sr., Council 5 Parr 

 

         Motion carried unanimously, meeting adjourned at 8:25 p.m. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the 5th day of July 2022. 

 

            

Tracylynn Garcia  Lori Klein Quinn 

Assistant City Secretary, TRMC, CPM, CMC Mayor 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Adopt, on Second Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-12, an ordinance of the City of Tomball, Texas, 

amending Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances by changing the Zoning District 

Classification of approximately 2.10  acres of land legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball 

Medical Park from Agricultural (AG) to the Office (O) District. The property is generally located within 

the 13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet east from the intersection 

of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, providing for severability; providing for a penalty of an 

amount not to exceed $2,000 for each day of violation of any provision hereof, making findings of fact; 

and providing for other related matters. 

 

Background: 

On June 20, 2022, Council amended Ordinance No. 2022-12, to change the Zoning District 

Classification from Agricultural (AG) to the Office (O) District. 

City Staff recommends approval.  Planning & Zoning Commission recommends APPROVAL (3 Vote 

Aye, 0 Votes Nay) 

Origination: Shahnaz Shahzad represented by Atif Shahzad 

Recommendation: 

Adopt Ordinance No. 2022-12 on Second Reading. 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Nathan Dietrich, Community 

Development Director 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed   Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2022-12 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS, AMENDING CHAPTER 50 
(ZONING) OF THE TOMBALL CODE OF ORDINANCES BY CHANGING THE 
ZONING DISTRICT CLASSIFICATION OF APPROXIMATELY 2.1 ACRES OF LAND 
OUT OF LOT 5 IN TOMBALL MEDICAL PARK (DESCRIBED IN “EXHIBIT A”), 
WITHIN THE CITY OF TOMBALL, HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS, FROM THE 
AGRICULTURAL (AG) DISTRICT TO OFFICE (0) DISTRICT, BEING GENERALLY 
LOCATED WITIHIN THE 13100 BLOCK (NORTH SIDE) OF MEDICAL COMPLEX 
DRIVE, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF AN 
AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $2,000 FOR EACH DAY OF VIOLATION OF ANY 
PROVISION HEREOF, MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND PROVIDING FOR 
OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

  * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 Whereas, Shahnaz Shahzad has requested that approximately 2.1  acres of land legally 
described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park, generally located within the 13100 
block (north side) of Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris County, Texas, (the 
“Property”), be rezoned; and 
 
 Whereas, at least fifteen (15) days after publication in the official newspaper of the City of the 
time and place of a public hearing and at least ten (10) days after written notice of that hearing was mailed 
to the owners of land within two hundred feet of the Property in the manner required by law, the Planning 
& Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the requested rezoning; and 
 
 Whereas, the public hearing was held before the Planning & Zoning Commission at least forty 
(40) calendar days after the City’s receipt of the requested rezoning; and 
 
 Whereas, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended in its final report that City Council 
approve the requested rezoning of the General Retail District; and 
 
 Whereas, at least fifteen (15) days after publication in the official newspaper of the City of the 
time and place of a public hearing for the requested rezoning, the City Council held the public hearing 
for the requested rezoning and the City Council considered the final report of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission; and 
  
 Whereas, the City Council deems it appropriate to grant the requested rezoning. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TOMBALL, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. The facts and matters set forth in the preamble of this Ordinance are hereby found to be 
true and correct. 
 
Section 2. The zoning classification of the Property is hereby changed from the Agricultural 
District to the Office subject to the regulations, restrictions, and conditions hereafter set forth.  
 
Section 3. The Official Zoning Map of the City of Tomball, Texas shall be revised and amended to 
show the designation of the Property as Office District, with the appropriate reference thereon to the 
number and effective date of this Ordinance and a brief description of the nature of the change.    
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Ordinance No. 2022-12 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 
Section 4. This Ordinance shall in no manner amend, change, supplement, or revise any provision 
of any ordinance of the City of Tomball, save and except the change in zoning classification for the 
Property to the Office District as described above. 
 
Section 5. In the event any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase, provision, sentence, 
or part of this Ordinance or the application of the same to any person or circumstance shall for any 
reason be adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, it shall not 
affect, impair, or invalidate this Ordinance as a whole or any part or provision hereof other any part 
or provision hereof other than the part declared to be invalid or unconstitutional; and the City Council 
of Tomball, Texas, declares that it would have passed each and every part of the same notwithstanding 
the omission of any and every part of the same notwithstanding the omission of any such part thus 
declared to be invalid or unconstitutional, or whether there be one or more parts. 
 
Section 6. Any person who shall violate any provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, shall be fined in an amount not to exceed $2,000.  Each day 
of violation shall constitute a separate offense. 
 
FIRST READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 20th DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD   ABSTAIN  
   COUNCILMAN STOLL     AYE       
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN   ABSENT     
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND    AYE       
   COUNCILMAN PARR     AYE        
 
SECOND READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 5th DAY OF JULY 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD             
   COUNCILMAN STOLL             
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN               
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND           
   COUNCILMAN PARR            
 
 

     
Lori Klein Quinn, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Doris Speer, City Secretary 
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Exhibit “A” 

Being a lot, tract or parcel of land situated in the Jesse Pruitt Survey, Abstract No. 

629, Harris County, Texas, and being a portion of Lot 5 of Tomball Medical Park 

Replat of Reserve “B” and a Portion of a 0.38 Acre Tract, a subdivision in the 

City of Tomball, Harris County, Texas, according to the Map or Plat thereof 

recorded under Film Code No. 571288, Map Records, Harris County, Texas, 

same being a portion of a tract of land conveyed to Harkins Medical Properties 

LTD by deed recorded in Instrument No. RP-2019-82497, Official Public 

Records, Harris County, Texas, and being more particularly described by metes 

and bounds as follows: 

 
BEGINNING at a 1/2 inch iron rod set with yellow plastic cap stamped “CBG 

SURVEYING” for corner, said corner being along the North right of way line of 

Medical Complex Drive (variable width right of way), said corner being along 

the East line of a tract of land conveycd to Gill Real Estate, LLC by deed recorded 

in Instrument No. 20100000958, Official Public Records, Harris County, Texas; 

 

THENCE North 00 degrees 20 minutes 41 seconds East along the East line of 

said Gill Real Estate, LLC tract, a distance of 182.84 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod 

found for comer, said corner being along the South line of Lot 4 of said Tomball 

Medical Park Replat of Reserve “B”; 

 

THENCE North 87 degrees 48 minutes 48 seconds East along the South line of 

Lot 4 of said Tomball Medical Park Replat of Reserve “B”, a distance of 350.07 

feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod found for corner, said comer being the Southeast corner 

of Lot 4 of said Tomball Medical Park Replat of Reserve “B”, said comer being 

along the West line of a tract of land conveyed to Corral RVP, LLC by deed 

recorded in Instrument No. RP-2018- 138656, Official Public Records, Harris 

County, Texas; 

 

THENCE South 02 degrees 34 minutes 37 seconds East along the West line of 

Corral RVP, LLC tract, a distance of 22.94 feet to 1/2 inch iron rod set with yellow 

plastic cap stamped “CBG SURVEYING” for comer, said corner being the 

Southwest comer of said Corral RVP, LLC tract; 

 

THENCE North 87 degrees 13 minutes 16 seconds East along the South line of 

of Corral RVP, LLC tract, a distance of 21.35 feet to a ½ in iron rod set with 

yellow cap stamped “CBG SURVEYING” for corner, said corner being the 

northwest corner of Reserve “C” of said Tomball Medical Park Replat of Reserve 

“B”;  
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THENCE South 02 degrees 32 minutes 28 seconds East along the West line of 

Reserve “C” of said Tomball Medical Park Replat of Reserve “B”, a distance of 

291.04 feet to a ½ inch iron rod set with yellow plastic cap stamped “CBG 

SURVEYING” for corner, said corner being along the North right of way line of 

Medical Complex Drive, said corner being the beginning of curve to the left, 

having a raidus of 3060.00 feet, and orgin of 07 degrees 33 minutes 28 seconds, 

a chord of of North 33 degrees 13 minutes 12 seconds West, a chord distance of 

403.35 feet;  

 

THENCE along said curve to the left and the North right of way lien of Medical 

Complex Drive, an arc length of 403.64 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and 

containing 91,359 square feet or 2.10 acres of land.  
 

Location: 13100 Block (north side) of Medical Complex Drive 
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NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

CITY OF TOMBALL  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION (P&Z) 

June 13, 2022 

& 

CITY COUNCIL  

June 20, 2022 

 

Notice is Hereby Given that a Public Hearing will be held by the P&Z of the City of Tomball 

on Monday, June 13, 2022 at 6:00 P.M., and by the City Council of the City of Tomball on 

Monday, June 20, 2022 at 6:00 P.M. at City Hall, 401 Market Street, Tomball Texas. On 

such dates, the P&Z and City Council will consider the following: 

 

Zoning Case P22-111: Request from Shahnaz Shahzad represented by Atif Shahzad to 

amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 

2.1  acres of land legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from 

Agricultural (AG) to the General Retail (GR) District. The property is generally located 

within the 13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet east 

from the intersection of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of 

Tomball, Harris County, Texas.  

 

Zoning Case P22-115: Request from Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn 

Marshall represented by Bryan Harrison to amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code 

of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 13.2  acres of land legally described as being a 

portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176  from Agricultural (AG) to the 

Commercial (C) District. The property is generally located within the 13000 block of 

Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the southwest corner of the intersection of South 

Cherry Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris County, 

Texas.  

At the public hearings, parties of interest and citizens will have the opportunity to be heard. 

All citizens of the City of Tomball, and any other interested parties, are invited to attend. 

Applications are available for public inspection Monday through Friday, except holidays, at 

the Public Works Building, located at 501 James Street, Tomball, TX 77375. Further 

information may be obtained by contacting the City Planner, Jared Smith, at (281) 290-1491 

or at jasmith@tomballtx.gov. 
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C E R T I F I C A T I O N 
   
I hereby certify that the above notice of meeting was posted on the bulletin board of City 

Hall; City of Tomball, Texas, a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on 

the 10th day of June 2022 by 5:00 p.m., and remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours 

preceding the scheduled time of said meeting. 
 

          Jared Smith   

        Jared Smith 

        City Planner 

 

 This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available.  Requests for 

accommodations or interpretive services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting. Please feel 

free to contact the City Secretary’s office at (281) 290-1002 or FAX (281) 351-6256 for further 

information. AGENDAS MAY ALSO BE VIEWED ONLINE AT www.tomballtx.gov.  
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                                                        Community Development Department  
 

 

                                             Rezoning  

                                                                Staff Report 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission Public Hearing Date:  June 13, 2022 

City Council Public Hearing Date: June 20, 2022 

 

Rezoning Case:  P22-111 

Property Owner(s):  Shahnaz Shahzad  

Applicant(s): Atif Shahzad  

Legal Description: Portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park  

Location:  13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), 

approximately 250-feet east of the intersection of School Street 

and Medical Complex Drive (Exhibit “A”) 

Area:     2.10 acres   

Comp Plan Designation: Medical District (Exhibit “B”) 

Present Zoning and Use: Agricultural (AG) District (Exhibit “C”) / Vacant (Exhibit “D”) 

Request: Rezone from the Agricultural District to the General Retail District  

Adjacent Zoning & Land Uses: 

North:  Agricultural / Office Building 

South:  Agricultural / Vacant 

West:  Agricultural / Vacant  

East:  Agricultural & Manufactured Home / Drainage Channel (M–121), RV & 

Manufactured Home Park  

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The subject property has been located within the original Tomball Townsite since 1909. The 

property has remained vacant since this time. According to information provided by the applicant, 

the reason for this zone change request is to allow the subject property to be occupied by a medical 

office building.  

 

ANALYSIS 

  

The subject property is approximately 2.10 acres, located within the 13100 block of the north side 

of Medical Complex Drive. In 2008, when the City of Tomball adopted zoning the Agricultural 

zoning classification was applied to the subject property. Immediately north of the subject property 

is an existing medical office within Agricultural zoning. West and south of the subject site are 

vacant tracts that are within Agricultural zoning. East of the subject property is an existing drainage 
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channel (M-121), and east of this channel is an existing manufactured home and RV park within 

Manufactured Home Park zoning.  

 

Comprehensive Plan Recommendation:  
The future land use map designates the subject property as “Medical District.” The Medical 

District land use category is intended to “further capitalize on a unique, regionally-serving area of 

Tomball.” This area should provide “an emphasis on healthcare and supporting services.  

 

According to the Comprehensive Plan, appropriate land uses include “hospitals, clinic, offices, 

lodging, long-term care, retail, and restaurants.” Additionally, secondary uses include “private 

gathering spaces, local utility services, government facilities, and transportation uses.”  

 

The Comprehensive Plan identifies “PD: Planned Development, GR: General Retail, O: Office, 

MU: Mixed Use” as being compatible zoning districts with the Medical District land use.  

 

In making decisions regarding the Medical District land use category the following items should 

be considered: “New development should allow for a variety of uses to create a self-serving 

campus. Active transportation connections to Old Town and transitional residential areas should 

be encouraged. Open space with a pedestrian focus should be a prominent component of the 

district.”  

 

Staff Review Comments: 

The request to rezone the subject property to General Retail is in accordance with the Medical 

District land identified on the Future Land Use Map. According to the Comprehensive Plan, this 

land-use should provide an emphasis on healthcare and supporting services. General Retail zoning 

allows the subject site to be utilized for the planned medical office the applicants wish to construct, 

as well as additional supporting uses such as retail and restaurants. This requested zone change 

will achieve the Comprehensive Plan’s objective of promoting compatible development that 

encourages a medical district with complementary land uses. Furthermore, the subject property is 

located near the intersection of a collector road (School Street.) and a major arterial street (Medical 

Complex Drive.). Commercial land uses are often found at intersections such as this because they 

provide convenient access and exposure to higher volumes of traffic.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

A Notice of Public Hearing was published in the paper and property owners within 200 feet of the 

project site were mailed notification of this proposal on May 26, 2022. Any public comment forms 

will be provided in the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council packets or during the 

public hearing.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 

Based on the findings outlined in the analysis section of this staff report, the City staff recommends 

approval of Zoning Case P22-111. 

 

P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

 

APPROVAL (3 Vote Aye, 0 Vote Nay): 
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EXHIBITS 

 

A. Aerial Photo 

B. Comprehensive Plan 

C. Zoning Map 

D. Site Photo 

E. General Retail Permitted Use Chart 

F. Rezoning Application 
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Exhibit “A” 

Aerial Photo 
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Exhibit “B” 

Future Land Use Map 
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Exhibit “C” 

Zoning Map 
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Exhibit “D” 

Site Photo(s) 
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Exhibit “E” 

General Retail Permitted Use Chart 

 
 

 

 

Page 41



 Page 9 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 Page 10 of 26 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



 Page 11 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 Page 12 of 26 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 Page 13 of 26 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 Page 14 of 26 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



 Page 15 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



 Page 16 of 26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



 Page 17 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 Page 18 of 26 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 Page 19 of 26 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 Page 20 of 26 

Exhibit “F” 

General Retail Permitted Use Chart 

 

Page 53



 Page 21 of 26 
Page 54



 Page 22 of 26 
Page 55



 Page 23 of 26 
Page 56



 Page 24 of 26 

 
 

 

  

Page 57



 Page 25 of 26 

 
  

Page 58



 Page 26 of 26 

 

Page 59



City of Tomball Community Development Department – 501 James Street – Tomball, TX  77375  

Community Development Department 
 

 

Notice of Public Hearing 
 

 

YOU ARE INVITED TO ATTEND the Public Hearing before the PLANNING & ZONING 

COMMISSION and CITY COUNCIL of the City of Tomball regarding the following item:  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

CASE NUMBER:  P22-111 

 

APPLICANT/OWNER: Shahnaz Shahzad represented 

by Atif Shahzad 

 

LOCATION: Generally located within the 13100 block 

of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 

250-feet east from the intersection of School Street and 

Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, 

Harris County, Texas. 

 

PROPOSAL: A Rezoning to amend Chapter 50 

(Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning 

approximately 2.1 acres of land legally described as 

being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from 

Agricultural (AG) to the General Retail (GR) District. 
 

CONTACT: Jared Smith, City Planner  

PHONE: (281) 290-1491 

E-MAIL: jasmith@tomballtx.gov 
  

Interested parties may contact the City of Tomball between 

8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday for further 

information. The application is available for public review 

Monday through Friday, except holidays, between the hours 

of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. in the Community Development 

Department office, located at 501 James Street, Tomball, TX 

77375. The staff report will be available no later than 4:00 

p.m. on the Friday preceding the meeting. 

 
This notice is being mailed to all owners of real property 

within 200 feet of the request as such ownership appears 

on the last approved Harris County Appraisal District 

tax roll.    
 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission  

Public Hearing: 

Monday, June 13, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 

 

City Council Public Hearing: 

*Monday, June 20, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 

 

The Public Hearings will be held in the 

City Council Chambers, City Hall 

401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 

 

*Should the Planning & Zoning Commission vote to 

table the recommendation on the case, the date and 

time of a future meeting will be specified and the City 

Council will not review the subject case until such a 

recommendation is forwarded to the City Council by 

the Planning & Zoning Commission.   
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Public Comment Form 
(Please type or use black ink) 

 

 
All submitted forms will become a part of the public record. 

Please return to: 
City of Tomball 
Attn: Jared Smith 
501 James Street 
Tomball, TX 77375 
 
Name:  ___________________________________________________ 
(please print) 
Address: ___________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________ 

Signature: ___________________________________________________ 

Date: ___________________________________________________ 

 

_____  I am FOR the requested Rezoning as explained on the attached public notice for Zoning 
Case P22-111. (Please state reasons below) 

 

_____  I am AGAINST the requested Rezoning as explained on the attached public notice for 
Zoning Case P22-111. (Please state reasons below) 

 
Date, Location & Time of Planning & Zoning Commission meeting:  

Monday, June 13, 2022 @ 6:00 PM  
City Council Chambers of the City of Tomball, City Hall 
401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 
 

Date, Location & Time of City Council meeting:  
Monday, June 20, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 
City Council Chambers of the City of Tomball, City Hall 
401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 

COMMENTS:  
 
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

You may also comment via email to jasmith@tomballtx.gov.   
Please reference the case number in the subject line.   

For questions regarding this request please call Jared Smith @ 281-290-1491. 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Remove from Table for Consideration to Adopt, on First Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-13, an ordinance 

of the City of Tomball, Texas, amending Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinances by 

changing the Zoning District Classification of approximately 13.21  acres of land legally described as 

being a portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176  from Agricultural (AG) to the 

Commercial (C) District. The property is generally located within the 13000 block of Medical Complex 

Drive (south side), at the southwest corner of the intersection of South Cherry Street and Medical Complex 

Drive, providing for severability; providing for a penalty of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for each day 

of violation of any provision hereof, making findings of fact; and providing for other related matters. 

 

Background: 

On June 20, 2022, Council voted to place consideration of this item ‘on the table’.  The public hearing 

was held; the first item of business will be to “Remove Consideration of Ordinance No. 2022-13 from 

the Table”. 

City Staff recommends approval.  Planning & Zoning Commission recommends APPROVAL (3 Vote 

Aye, 0 Votes Nay) 

Origination: Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall represented by Bryan 

Harrison 

Recommendation:   

Remove Consideration of Ordinance No. 2022-13 from the Table; consideration to adopt Ordinance No. 

2022-13 on First Reading. 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Nathan Dietrich, Community 

Development Director 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2022-13 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS, AMENDING CHAPTER 50 
(ZONING) OF THE TOMBALL CODE OF ORDINANCES BY CHANGING THE 
ZONING DISTRICT CLASSIFICATION OF APPROXIMATELY 13.2 ACRES OF LAND 
OUT OF TOMBALL OUTLOTS 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, AND 176 FROM THE 
AGRICULTURAL (AG) DIRSTRICT TO THE COMMERCIAL (C) DISTRICT, BEING 
GENERALLY LOCATED WITHIN THE 13000 BLOCK (SOUTH SIDE) OF MEDICAL 
COMPLEX DRIVE, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR A 
PENALTY OF AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $2,000 FOR EACH DAY OF 
VIOLATION OF ANY PROVISION HEREOF, MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

  * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 Whereas, Welcome Land Development LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall have requested that 
approximately 13.2  acres of land legally described as being a portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 
171, 172, 175, and 176, generally located within the 13000 block (south side) of Medical Complex 
Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris County, Texas, (the “Property”), be rezoned; and 
 
 Whereas, at least fifteen (15) days after publication in the official newspaper of the City of the 
time and place of a public hearing and at least ten (10) days after written notice of that hearing was mailed 
to the owners of land within two hundred feet of the Property in the manner required by law, the Planning 
& Zoning Commission held a public hearing on the requested rezoning; and 
 
 Whereas, the public hearing was held before the Planning & Zoning Commission at least forty 
(40) calendar days after the City’s receipt of the requested rezoning; and 
 
 Whereas, the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended in its final report that City Council 
approve the requested rezoning of the Commercial District; and 
 
 Whereas, at least fifteen (15) days after publication in the official newspaper of the City of the 
time and place of a public hearing for the requested rezoning, the City Council held the public hearing 
for the requested rezoning and the City Council considered the final report of the Planning & Zoning 
Commission; and 
  
 Whereas, the City Council deems it appropriate to grant the requested rezoning. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TOMBALL, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
Section 1. The facts and matters set forth in the preamble of this Ordinance are hereby found to be 
true and correct. 
 
Section 2. The zoning classification of the Property is hereby changed from the Agricultural 
District to the Commercial subject to the regulations, restrictions, and conditions hereafter set forth.  
 
Section 3. The Official Zoning Map of the City of Tomball, Texas shall be revised and amended to 
show the designation of the Property as Commercial District, with the appropriate reference thereon to 
the number and effective date of this Ordinance and a brief description of the nature of the change.    
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Page 2 of 5 
 
 
Section 4. This Ordinance shall in no manner amend, change, supplement, or revise any provision 
of any ordinance of the City of Tomball, save and except the change in zoning classification for the 
Property to the Commercial District as described above. 
 
Section 5. In the event any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase, provision, sentence, 
or part of this Ordinance or the application of the same to any person or circumstance shall for any 
reason be adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, it shall not 
affect, impair, or invalidate this Ordinance as a whole or any part or provision hereof other any part 
or provision hereof other than the part declared to be invalid or unconstitutional; and the City Council 
of Tomball, Texas, declares that it would have passed each and every part of the same notwithstanding 
the omission of any and every part of the same notwithstanding the omission of any such part thus 
declared to be invalid or unconstitutional, or whether there be one or more parts. 
 
Section 6. Any person who shall violate any provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor and upon conviction, shall be fined in an amount not to exceed $2,000.  Each day 
of violation shall constitute a separate offense. 
 
FIRST READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 20th DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD             
   COUNCILMAN STOLL            
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN               
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND           
   COUNCILMAN PARR             
 
SECOND READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 5th DAY OF JULY 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD             
   COUNCILMAN STOLL             
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN               
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND           
   COUNCILMAN PARR            
 
 
 

     
Lori Klein Quinn, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Doris Speer, City Secretary 
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Exhibit “A” 
TRACT 1 
BEING 3.5879 ACRES (156,290 SQUARE FEET) OF LAND OUT OF THAT CERTAIN CALLED 7.56 

ACRE TRACT RECORDED UNDER H.C.C.F. NO. 20120271296 AND BEING A PORTION OF OUTLOTS 

172, 175 AND 176 OF TOMBALL TOWNSITE, AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 2, PAGE 65 H.C.M.R. AND 

LOCATED IN THE JESSE PRUITT SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 629, HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS SAID 

3.5879 ACRE TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS 

FOLLOWS, (BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE TEXAS STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, 

SOUTH CENTRAL ZONE, NAD83): 

 
BEGINNING at a l-inch iron pipe found at the West right-of-way line of South Cherry Street (80 feet wide) for 
the Northeast corner of Lot 1, Block 1 of Devasco International Subd., as recorded in Film Code No. 615009 
H.C.M.R., said iron rod also marks the Southeast corner of said called 7.56 acre tract and the herein described tract; 

 
THENCE, South 87°28'49“ West, along the North line of said Lot 1, Block 1 Devasco Internationl Subd., a distance of 
951.83 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod found for the Southeast corner of that certain called 2.500 acre tract recorded under 
H.C.C.F. No. 20130397880, said iron rod also marks the Southwest corner of said called 7.56 acre tract and the 
herein described tract; 

 

THENCE, North 02°2l'26" West, along the East line of said called 
2.500 acre tract, a distance of 188.18 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap found in the South line of that certain called 
15.541 acre tract recorded under H.C.C.F. No. P124644 for the Westerly most Northwest corner of the herein 
described tract; 

 

THENCE, North 87°29'33“ East, along the South line of said called 
15.541 acre tract, a distance of 199.17 feet to a 1-inch pinch pipe found for the Southeast corner of said called 
15.541 acre tract and the common corner of Outlots 171, 172, 175 and 176 of said Tomball Townsite, said pinch 
pipe also marks an interior corner for the herein described tract; 

 
THENCE, North 02°39'54" West, along the common line between said called 7.56 acre tract and sais called 15.541 
acre tract, a distance of 134.16 feet to a point in the Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex Drive (120 
feet wide), as recorded under 
H.C.C.F. No. 20150107119 for the Northwest corner of the herein described tract, from which a found 5/8 inch 
iron rod with cap bears N 82°l7' E, 0.36 feet, said point falling in the arc of a non-tangent curve to the Left; 

 
THENCE, in a Southeasterly direction, along the Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex Drive, with said 
curve to the Left, having a central angle of 28°35'35", a radius of 1560.00, an arc length of 778.51 feet and a chord 
bearing and distance of S 73°19'34" E, 770.45 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap found marking the Westerly 
cutback corner at the intersection of East right-of-way line said South Cherry Street, said iron rod also marks the 
Northerly most Northeast corner of the herein described tract; 
 

THENCE, South 45°17'46" East, along said cutback line, a distance of 36.70 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod 

with cap found marking the Easterly cutback corner at the intersection of East right—of-way line said 

South Cherry Street and the South right—of-way line of Medical Complex Drive, said iron rod also marks 

the Easterly most Northeast corner of the herein described tract; 

 

THENCE, South 02°24'16" East, along the East right-of—way line of South Cherry Street, a distance of 

42.07 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 3.5879 acres (156,290 square feet) of land, 

more or less. 

 

TRACT 2 
BEING 2.5043 ACRES (109,087 SQUARE FEET) OF LAND BEING ALL OF THAT CERTAIN  

2.500 ACRE TRACT RECORDED UNDER H.C.C.F. NO. P124644 AND BEING A PORTION OF OUTLOT 

175 OF TOMBALL TOWN SITE, AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 2, PAGE 65 H.C.M.R. AND LOCATED IN 

THE JESSE PRUITT SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 629, HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS SAID 2.5043 ACRE 

TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS, 

(BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE TEXAS STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, SOUTH CENTRAL 

ZONE, NAD83): 
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COMMENCING at a l-inch iron pipe found at the West right-of-way line of South Cherry Street (80 feet wide) 
for the Northeast corner of Lot 1, Block 1 of Devasco International Subd., as recorded in Film Code No. 615009 
H.C.M.R., said iron rod also marks the Southeast corner of that certain called 7.56 acre tract recorded under 
H.C.C.F. No. 20120271296; 

 
THENCE, South 87°28'49“ West, along the North line of said Lot l, Block 1 Devasco Internationl Subd., a distance of 
951.83 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod found for the Southwest corner of said  called 7.56 acre tract, said iron rod also 
marks the Southeast corner and POINT OF BEGINNING of the herein described tract; 

 
THENCE, South 87°28'49" West, continuing along the North line of said Lot 1, Block 1 Devasco Internationl 
Subd., a distance of 579.21 feet to a point in the West line of said Outlot 175 for the Northwest corner of said Lot 1, 
Block 1 of Devasco Internation and the Southwest corner of the herein described tract, from which a found 3/4 inch 
iron pipe bears, N 76°26' E, 1.4 feet; 

 

THENCE, North 02°32'23" West, along the West line of said called 2.500 acre tract, a distance of 188.30 feet to a 

point for the common West corner of Outlots 171 and 175, the Southwest corner of that certain called 15.541 acre tract 

recorded under H.C.C.F. No. P124644, said point also marks the Northwest corner of said called 2.500 acre tract and 

the herein described tract, from which a found 1-inch iron pipe bears N 65°3l' E, 1.39 feet; 

 

THENCE, North 87°29'33" East, along the South line of said called 15.541 acre tract, a distance of 579.81 feet 

to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap found for the Northwest corner of said called 7.56 acre tract, Northeast corner of 

said called 2.500 acre tract and the herein described tract; 

 
THENCE, South 02°21'26" East, along the common line between said called 7.56 acre tract and said called 2.500 
acre tract, a distance of 188.18 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 2.5043 acres (109,087 square 
feet) of land, more or less. 
 
TRACT 3 

BEING 7.1364 ACRES (310,860 SQUARE  FEET)  OF  LAND  OUT  OF  THAT CERTAIN CALLED 15.541 

ACRE TRACT RECORDED UNDER H.C.C.F. NO. P124644 AND BEING A PORTION OF OUTLOTS 163, 
167 AND 171 OF TOMBALL  TOWNSITE,  AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 2, PAGE 65 H.C.M.R. AND 

LOCATED IN THE JESSE PRUITT SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 629, HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS SAID 
7.1364 ACRE TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS 
FOLLOWS, (BEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE TEXAS STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, 

SOUTH CENTRAL ZONE, NAD83): 

 
BEGINNING at a point in the East right-of-way line of a 30.00 foot road (unimproved), as shown on said Plat of 
Tomball Townsite for the common West corner of said Outlots 171 and 175, said point also marks the Southwest 
corner of said called 15.541 acre tract and the herein described tract, from which a found 1-inch iron pipe bears, 
N 65°31' E, 1.39 feet; 

 
THENCE, North 02°32'23" West, along the East right-of-way line of said 30.00 foot road, being common with the 
West line of said Outlots 163, 167 and 171, a distance of 643.20 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap set in the 
Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex Drive (120 feet wide), as recorded under H.C.C.F. No. 
20130059562 for the Northwest corner of the herein described tract, said iron rod falling in the arc of a non-tangent 
curve to the Right; 

 
THENCE, in a Southeasterly direction, along the Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex Drive, with said 
curve to the Right, having a central angle of 07°25'11", a radius of 2940.00, an arc length of 380.73 feet and a chord 
bearing and distance of S 61°30'58" E, 380.46 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap set for the Point of Tangency; 

 
THENCE, South 57°48'23" East, continuing along the Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex Drive, a 
distance of 517.25 feet to a 5/8 inch iron rod with cap set for the Point of Curvature of a curve to the Left: 
 
THENCE, in a Southeasterly direction, continuing along the Southeast right-of-way line of Medical Complex 
Drive, with said curve to the Left, having a central angle of 01°l3'24“, a radius of 1560.00, an arc length of 33.31 
feet and a chord bearing and distance of S 58°25'05" E, 33.31 feet to a point in the East line of said called 15.541 
acre tract and said Outlot 171 for the Northeasterly corner of the herein described tract, from which a found 5/8 
inch iron rod with cap bears, N 82°17' E, 0.36 feet; 

Page 67



  

 

THENCE, South 02°39'54“ East, along the East line of said called 15.541 acre tract, a distance of 134.16 feet to 

a 1-inch pinch pipe found for the Southeast corner of said called 15.541 acre tract and the common corner of 

Outlots 171, 172, 175 and 176 of said Tomball Site, said pinch pipe also marks the Southeast corner for the herein 

described tract: 
 

THENCE, South 87°29'33" West, along the South line of said called 15.541 acre tract, at 199.17 feet pass a 5/8 
inch iron rod with cap found marking the common North corner of s called 7.56 acre tract recorded under 
H.C.C.F. No. 20120271296 and a called 2.500 acre tract recorded under H.C.C.F. No. 20130397880 and 
continuing a total distance of 778.98 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing 7.1364 acres (310,860 
square feet) of land, more or less.  
 

Location: 13000 Block (South side) of Medical Complex D 
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NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

CITY OF TOMBALL  

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION (P&Z) 

June 13, 2022 

& 

CITY COUNCIL  

June 20, 2022 

 

Notice is Hereby Given that a Public Hearing will be held by the P&Z of the City of Tomball 

on Monday, June 13, 2022 at 6:00 P.M., and by the City Council of the City of Tomball on 

Monday, June 20, 2022 at 6:00 P.M. at City Hall, 401 Market Street, Tomball Texas. On 

such dates, the P&Z and City Council will consider the following: 

 

Zoning Case P22-111: Request from Shahnaz Shahzad represented by Atif Shahzad to 

amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 

2.1  acres of land legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in Tomball Medical Park from 

Agricultural (AG) to the General Retail (GR) District. The property is generally located 

within the 13100 block of Medical Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet east 

from the intersection of School Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of 

Tomball, Harris County, Texas.  

 

Zoning Case P22-115: Request from Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn 

Marshall represented by Bryan Harrison to amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code 

of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 13.2  acres of land legally described as being a 

portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176  from Agricultural (AG) to the 

Commercial (C) District. The property is generally located within the 13000 block of 

Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the southwest corner of the intersection of South 

Cherry Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris County, 

Texas.  

At the public hearings, parties of interest and citizens will have the opportunity to be heard. 

All citizens of the City of Tomball, and any other interested parties, are invited to attend. 

Applications are available for public inspection Monday through Friday, except holidays, at 

the Public Works Building, located at 501 James Street, Tomball, TX 77375. Further 

information may be obtained by contacting the City Planner, Jared Smith, at (281) 290-1491 

or at jasmith@tomballtx.gov. 
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C E R T I F I C A T I O N 
   
I hereby certify that the above notice of meeting was posted on the bulletin board of City 

Hall; City of Tomball, Texas, a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on 

the 10th day of June 2022 by 5:00 p.m., and remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours 

preceding the scheduled time of said meeting. 
 

          Jared Smith   

        Jared Smith 

        City Planner 

 

 This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available.  Requests for 

accommodations or interpretive services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting. Please feel 

free to contact the City Secretary’s office at (281) 290-1002 or FAX (281) 351-6256 for further 

information. AGENDAS MAY ALSO BE VIEWED ONLINE AT www.tomballtx.gov.  
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City of Tomball Community Development Department – 501 James Street – Tomball, TX  77375  

Community Development Department 
 

 

Notice of Public Hearing 
 

 

YOU ARE INVITED TO ATTEND the Public Hearing before the PLANNING & ZONING 

COMMISSION and CITY COUNCIL of the City of Tomball regarding the following item:  

 

  

  

 

 

 

CASE NUMBER:  P22-115 

 

APPLICANT/OWNER: Welcome Land Development, 

LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall represented by Bryan 

Harrison 

 

LOCATION: Generally located within the 13000 block 

of Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the 

southwest corner of the intersection of South Cherry 

Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of 

Tomball, Harris County, Texas.  

 

 

PROPOSAL: A Rezoning to amend Chapter 50 

(Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning 

approximately 13.2  acres of land legally described as 

being a portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 

175, and 176  from Agricultural (AG) to the 

Commercial (C) District. 
 

CONTACT: Jared Smith, City Planner  

PHONE: (281) 290-1491 

E-MAIL: jasmith@tomballtx.gov 
  

Interested parties may contact the City of Tomball between 

8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday for further 

information. The application is available for public review 

Monday through Friday, except holidays, between the hours 

of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. in the Community Development 

Department office, located at 501 James Street, Tomball, TX 

77375. The staff report will be available no later than 4:00 

p.m. on the Friday preceding the meeting. 

 
This notice is being mailed to all owners of real property 

within 200 feet of the request as such ownership appears 

on the last approved Harris County Appraisal District 

tax roll.    
 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission  

Public Hearing: 

Monday, June 13, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 

 

City Council Public Hearing: 

*Monday, June 20, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 

 

The Public Hearings will be held in the 

City Council Chambers, City Hall 

401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 

 

*Should the Planning & Zoning Commission vote to 

table the recommendation on the case, the date and 

time of a future meeting will be specified and the City 

Council will not review the subject case until such a 

recommendation is forwarded to the City Council by 

the Planning & Zoning Commission.   
 

 

Page 71

mailto:jasmith@tomballtx.gov


 
 

Public Comment Form 
(Please type or use black ink) 

 

 
All submitted forms will become a part of the public record. 

Please return to: 
City of Tomball 
Attn: Jared Smith 
501 James Street 
Tomball, TX 77375 
 
Name:  ___________________________________________________ 
(please print) 
Address: ___________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________ 

Signature: ___________________________________________________ 

Date: ___________________________________________________ 

 

_____  I am FOR the requested Rezoning as explained on the attached public notice for Zoning 
Case P22-115. (Please state reasons below) 

 

_____  I am AGAINST the requested Rezoning as explained on the attached public notice for 
Zoning Case P22-115. (Please state reasons below) 

 
Date, Location & Time of Planning & Zoning Commission meeting:  

Monday, June 13, 2022 @ 6:00 PM  
City Council Chambers of the City of Tomball, City Hall 
401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 
 

Date, Location & Time of City Council meeting:  
Monday, June 20, 2022 @ 6:00 PM 
City Council Chambers of the City of Tomball, City Hall 
401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 

COMMENTS:  
 
____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

You may also comment via email to jasmith@tomballtx.gov.   
Please reference the case number in the subject line.   

For questions regarding this request please call Jared Smith @ 281-290-1491. 
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                                                        Community Development Department  
 

 

                                             Rezoning  

                                                                Staff Report 
 

Planning & Zoning Commission Public Hearing Date:  June 13, 2022 

City Council Public Hearing Date: June 20, 2022 

 

Rezoning Case:  P22-115 

Property Owner(s):  Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall  

Applicant(s): Bryan Harrison  

Legal Description: Portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, and 176  

Location:  13000 block of Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the 

southwest corner of the intersection of South Cherry Street and 

Medical Complex Drive (Exhibit “A”) 

Area:     13.2 acres   

Comp Plan Designation: Neighborhood Commercial (Exhibit “B”) 

Present Zoning and Use: Agricultural (AG) District (Exhibit “C”) / Vacant (Exhibit “D”) 

Request: Rezone from the Agricultural District to the Commercial District  

Adjacent Zoning & Land Uses: 

North:  Agricultural / Vacant 

South:  Light Industrial /  Office-Warehouse 

West:  Agricultural & Commercial / Drainage Channel (M-121), Vacant  

East:  Office / Office Building  

 

BACKGROUND 

 

The subject properties have been located within the original Tomball Townsite since 1909. The 

properties have remained vacant since that time. According to information provided by the 

applicant, the zone change request is to allow the subject property to be developed as an office 

business park that will include offices, commercial uses, and warehousing facilities. 

 

ANALYSIS  

The subject property is approximately 13.2 acres, located within the 13000 block of the south side 

of Medical Complex Drive. In 2008, when the City of Tomball adopted zoning the Agricultural 

zoning classification was applied to the subject property. North of the subject property is vacant 

land within Agricultural zoning. West of the subject site is an existing drainage channel (M-121) 

and vacant tracts that are within Agricultural and Commercial zoning. East of the subject property 

is an office building within an Office zoning district. South of the subject property is an existing 

office-warehouse facility most recently occupied by Devasco International, Inc. This warehouse 

facility was constructed in 2007. When the city of Tomball adopted zoning in 2008, the adjacent 
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property was zoned Light Industrial. The requested Commercial zoning for the subject property 

would effectively serve as a buffer from the existing Light Industrial use.  

 

Comprehensive Plan Recommendation:  
The Future Land Use Map designates the subject property as “Neighborhood Commercial.” This 

Neighborhood Commercial land use category is intended for “commercial uses that are developed 

with the appropriate context, scale, and design to complement residential development. These 

areas are intended to be accessible by both vehicles and pedestrians.” 

 

The Comprehensive Plan identifies Office, General Retail, and Planned Development as being 

potentially compatible zoning districts with the Neighborhood Commercial land use.  

 

In making decisions regarding the neighborhood commercial land use category the following items 

should be considered: “Neighborhood commercial development should be located adjacent to an 

intersection of a collector street or greater functional classification.” 

 

Staff Review Comments: 

Although the requested Commercial zoning does not strictly adhere to the Neighborhood 

Commercial land use that is identified on the Future Land Use Map, the conditions on the ground 

would suggest the proposed land use category may be more appropriate. Given the existing 

industrial zoning/land use immediately south of the subject property and the business park industry 

land use that it falls within as well as the lack of residential land uses adjacent to the subject site, 

the Neighborhood Commercial land use does not appear appropriate at this time. Furthermore, 

land uses that would result from the rezoning of the subject property would be in character with 

the surrounding land uses. This zone change would encourage the goal of providing an appropriate 

transition of land use between the existing Light Industrial zoning immediately south of the subject 

property and the existing manufactured home residential land use north of Medical Complex 

Drive. Moreover, the subject site is at the intersection of two arterial streets (Medical Complex 

Drive and S. Cherry Street). Intersections such as this are customarily appropriate for commercial 

land uses as they provide convenient access and exposure often considered necessary for 

commercial success. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

A Notice of Public Hearing was published in the paper and property owners within 200 feet of the 

project site were mailed notification of this proposal on May 26, 2022. Any public comment forms 

will be provided in the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council packets or during the 

public hearing.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Based on the findings outlined in the analysis section of this staff report, the City staff recommends 

approval of Zoning Case P22-115. 

 

P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 

APPROVAL (3 Vote Aye, 0 Vote Nay): 

Items of discussion during the meeting: 

 Questions regarding the proposed “light manufacturing” uses stated in the application 

provided, and what manufacturing uses would be permitted if the zone change occurred. 
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 Discussion regarding the suitability of the site for the “Neighborhood Commercial” land 

use identified in the Future Land Use Plan Map for this area.  

 

 

EXHIBITS 

 

A. Aerial Photo 

B. Comprehensive Plan 

C. Zoning Map 

D. Site Photo 

E. Commercial Permitted Use Chart 

F. Rezoning Application 
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Exhibit “A” 

Aerial Photo 
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Exhibit “B” 

Future Land Use Map 
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Exhibit “C” 

Zoning Map 
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Exhibit “D” 

Site Photo(s)  

Page 81



 Page 8 of 43 

 

Exhibit “E” 

Commercial Permitted Use Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



 Page 9 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



 Page 10 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



 Page 11 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 Page 12 of 43 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 Page 13 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 Page 14 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



 Page 15 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



 Page 16 of 43 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 Page 17 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 Page 18 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 Page 19 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 Page 20 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 Page 21 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



 Page 22 of 43 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



 Page 23 of 43 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 Page 24 of 43 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 Page 25 of 43 

Exhibit “E” 

Rezoning Application 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Adopt, on Second Reading, Ordinance No. 2022-15, an ordinance of the City of Tomball, Texas, 

amending the Tomball Comprehensive Plan by changing the Major Thoroughfare Plan Map; providing 

for severability; providing for a penalty of an amount not to exceed $2,000 for each day of violation of 

any provision hereof, making findings of fact; and providing for other related matters. 

 

Background: 

City Staff recommends approval.  Planning & Zoning Commission recommends DENIAL (1 Vote Aye, 

2 Votes Nay) 

Origination: Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall represented by Bryan 

Harrison 

Recommendation: 

Approval 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Nathan Dietrich, Community 

Development Director 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed   Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2022-15 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE 
TOMBALL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN BY CHANGING THE MAJOR 
THOROUGHFARE PLAN MAP; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR A PENALTY OF AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $2,000 FOR EACH DAY OF 
VIOLATION OF ANY PROVISION HEREOF, MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; AND 
PROVIDING FOR OTHER RELATED MATTERS. 

  * * * * * * * * * * 
 
 Whereas, the City of Tomball desires to amend the Future Land Use Map and Major 
Thoroughfare Plan Map of the Tomball Comprehensive Plan (Plan); and  
  
 Whereas, the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council of the City of Tomball, 
Texas have published notices and conducted public hearings regarding the amendments to the Plan and 
all persons were given the opportunity to present verbal and written testimony; and  
 
 Whereas, the Planning and Zoning Commission has evaluated such amendments and has 
recommended approval to the City Council; and 
 
 Whereas, the City Council deems it appropriate to approve the amendments to the Future Land 
Use Map and Major Thoroughfare Plan Map in the Plan.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
TOMBALL, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
 Section 1. The facts and matters set forth in the preamble of this Ordinance are hereby 
found to be true and correct. 
 
 Section 2. The Plan is intended to provide long-range guidance relative to zoning decisions, 
land development, thoroughfare construction and growth management.  
 

Section 3. The Plan Future Land Use Map and Major Thoroughfare Plan Map are hereby 
amended by the City Council as indicated on Exhibit “A”, being attached hereto and made a part hereof 
for all purposes. 
 

Section 4. The City Council reserves the right to amend the Plan by adding or removing 
components or by amending in part or in whole any components of the Plan. 
 

Section 5. Pursuant to the authority provided in the charter and ordinances of the City, 
the Planning and Zoning Commission shall periodically review the projection assumptions, changing 
growth patterns, and planning guidelines that provide the foundation for the policies contained in the 
Plan and shall recommend such amendments as it deems appropriate for the purpose of keeping the 
Plan relevant and useful as a guide for growth, revitalization and renewal of the City. 
 

Section 6.  The amendment to the Major Thoroughfare Plan Map is depicted in Exhibit 
“A”, is attached hereto and made a part of hereof for all purposes.  
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Ordinance No. 2022-15 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Section 7. All ordinances or portions thereof, of the City of Tomball, in conflict with the 
provisions of this ordinance, to the extent of such conflict, are hereby repealed. To the extent that 
such ordinances or portions thereof are not in conflict herewith, the same shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 

Section 8. All references to the Tomball Comprehensive Plan Major Thoroughfare Plan 
Map shall henceforth refer to such as are here adopted.  
 

Section 9.  In the event any section, paragraph, subdivision, clause, phrase, provision, 
sentence, or part of this Ordinance or the application of the same to any person or circumstance shall 
for any reason be adjudged invalid or held unconstitutional by a court of competent jurisdiction, it 
shall not affect, impair, or invalidate this Ordinance as a whole or any part or provision hereof other 
any part or provision hereof other than the part declared to be invalid or unconstitutional; and the 
City Council of Tomball, Texas, declares that it would have passed each and every part of the same 
notwithstanding the omission of any and every part of the same notwithstanding the omission of any 
such part thus declared to be invalid or unconstitutional, or whether there be one or more parts. 
 
FIRST READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 20TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD      AYE       
   COUNCILMAN STOLL     AYE       
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN   ABSENT     
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND    AYE       
   COUNCILMAN PARR     AYE        
 
SECOND READING: 
 
READ, PASSED, AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL HELD ON THE 5th DAY OF JULY 2022. 
 
   COUNCILMAN FORD             
   COUNCILMAN STOLL             
   COUNCILMAN DUNAGIN               
   COUNCILMAN TOWNSEND           
   COUNCILMAN PARR            
 
 

     
Lori Klein Quinn, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
     
Doris Speer, City Secretary 
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NOTICE OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION REGULAR 

MEETING 

CITY OF TOMBALL, TEXAS 

 

Monday, June 13, 2022 

6:00 PM 

Notice is hereby given of a meeting of the Planning & Zoning Commission, to be held on 

Monday, June 13, 2022 at 6:00 PM, City Hall, 401 Market Street, Tomball, Texas 77375, for 

the purpose of considering the following agenda items.  All agenda items are subject to 

action.  The Planning & Zoning Commission reserves the right to meet in a closed session 

for consultation with attorney on any agenda item should the need arise and if applicable 

pursuant to authorization by Title 5, Chapter 551, of the Texas Government Code. 

A. Call to Order 

B. Public Comments and Receipt of Petitions; [At this time, anyone will be allowed to speak 

on any matter other than personnel matters or matters under litigation, for length of 

time not to exceed three minutes. No Council/Board discussion or action may take place 

on a matter until such matter has been placed on an agenda and posted in accordance 

with law - GC, 551.042.] 

C. Reports and Announcements 

D. Approval of Minutes 

D.1 Consideration to Approve the Minutes of the Regular Planning and Zoning 

Commission Meeting of May 9, 2022. 

E. New Business Non Action Items 

E.1 Minor Plat of INTERCHANGE 249 BUSINESS PARK - PARTIAL REPLAT 

NO. 1:  A Subdivision of 87.688 acres (3,819,689 Square Feet), being a replat of 

Lots 3 and 4, Block 1, Interchange 249 Business Park, Film Code No. 698475, 

H.C.M.R. situated in the Auguste Senechal Survey, Abstract No. 722, City of 

Tomball, Harris County, Texas. 

E.2 Minor Plat of INTERCHANGE 249 BUSINESS PARK - PARTIAL REPLAT 

NO. 2:  A Subdivision of 27.1967 acres (1,184,690 Square Feet), being a replat of 

Lot 5, Block 2, Interchange 249 Business Park, Film Code No. 698475, H.C.M.R. 

situated in the Auguste Senechal Survey, Abstract No. 722, City of Tomball, 

Harris County, Texas. 
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E.3 Minor Plat of INTERCHANGE 249 BUSINESS PARK - PARTIAL REPLAT 

NO. 3:  A Subdivision of 87.688 acres (961,380 Square Feet), being a replat of 

Lot 2, Block 1, Interchange 249 Business Park, Film Code No. 698475, H.C.M.R. 

situated in the Auguste Senechal Survey, Abstract No. 722, City of Tomball, 

Harris County, Texas. 

E.4 Minor Plat of TOMBALL MEDICAL COMPLEX:  Being a 2.0974 acre tract 

and being a replat of a portion of Lot 5, of Tomball Medical Park, a subdivision 

situated in the Jesse Pruitt Survey, Abstract Number 629, of Harris County, 

Texas, according to the map or plat thereof recorded in Film Code Number 

571288, of the Map Records of Harris County, Texas. 

E.5 Minor Plat of WILLOW CREEK:  A Subdivision of 12.9051 acre tract, 

(562,147.34 Square Feet), in the Wilhelm Usener Survey A-820 and being out of 

Share No. 4 Mary Jane and Custave Kuehn as recorded in Volume 13, Page 27 

Map Record, Harris County, Texas. 

F. New Business 

F.1 Consideration to Approve Replat of SHOPS ON TOMBALL 

PARKWAY:  Being a 1.8556 acre tract situated in the Joseph House Survey, 

Abstract Number 34, of Harris County, Texas, and being a replat of a portion of 

Unrestricted Reserve "A" of BRTR-ONE, Subdivision, as recorded in Film Code 

Number 696409, of the Map Records of Harris County, Texas. 

F.2 Consideration to Approve Preliminary Plat of TOMBALL CLEAN 

CARWASH:  A Subdivision of 5.360 acres of land, located in the Sam Lewis 

Survey, A-1704, City of Tomball, Harris County, Texas. 

F.3 Consideration to Approve Final Plat of WOOD LEAF RESERVE, SECTION 

2:  A Subdivision of 58.66 acres of land being a part of the Claude N. Pillot 

Survey, A-632, Harris County, Texas. 

F.4 Conduct a Public Hearing and Consideration to Approve Zoning Case P22-

111:  Request from Shahnaz Shahzad represented by Atif Shahzad to amend 

Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball Code of Ordinance by rezoning 

approximately 2.10 acres of land legally described as being a portion of Lot 5 in 

Tomball Medical Park from Agricultural (AG) to the General Retail District 

(GR). The property is generally located within the 13100 block of Medical 

Complex Drive (north side), approximately 250-feet east from the intersection of 

School Street and Medical Complex Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris 

County, Texas. 
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F.5 Conduct a Public Hearing and Consideration to Approve Zoning Case P22-

115:  Request from Welcome Land Development, LLC and Jacquelyn Marshall 

represented by Bryan Harrison to amend Chapter 50 (Zoning) of the Tomball 

Code of Ordinance by rezoning approximately 13.21 acres of land legally 

described as being a portion of Tomball Outlots 163, 167, 171, 172, 175, and 176 

from Agricultural (AG) to the Commercial (C) District. The property is generally 

located within the 13000 block of Medical Complex Drive (south side), at the 

southwest corner of the intersection of South Cherry Street and Medical Complex 

Drive, within the City of Tomball, Harris County, Texas. 

F.6 Conduct a Public Hearing and Consideration to Approve Case P22-184:  Request 

to amend the City of Tomball’s Comprehensive Plan to update the Major 

Thoroughfare Plan Map. Reclassifying the proposed east-west extension of 

Medical Complex Drive from a major arterial to a minor arterial. Specifically 

being a segment that is planned to extend approximately 0.9 miles from the 

eastern right-of-way boundary of Hufsmith-Kohrville Road to the southern right-

of-way boundary of Mahaffey Road.   

F.7 Resolution 2022-23:  A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Tomball, 

Texas, adopting changes made to the current “City of Tomball Approved Tree, 

Shrub, Groundcover Plant and Vine List.” 

G. Adjournment 

C E R T I F I C A T I O N 

I hereby certify that the above notice of meeting was posted on the bulletin board of City Hall, 

City of Tomball, Texas, a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on the 10 day 

of June 2022 by 5:00 PM, and remained posted for at least 72 continuous hours preceding the 

scheduled time of said meeting. 

Kimberly Chandler 
Community Development Coordinator 

 

 

This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Requests for accommodations or 

interpretive services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting. Please contact the City Secretary’s office at (281) 

290-1002 or FAX (281) 351-6256 for further information. 

AGENDAS MAY BE VIEWED ONLINE AT www.ci.tomball.tx.us. 
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 Community Development Department  
 

 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment Staff Report 
 

Planning and Zoning Commission Hearing Date:  June 13, 2022 

City Council Public Hearing Date:  June 20, 2022 

 

Case:  P22-184 

 

Applicant(s): Harrisburg Homes, Inc.  

 

Request: To amend the Major Thoroughfare Plan by reclassifying the proposed east/west segment 

of Medical Complex Drive. From a major arterial to a minor arterial specifically, being described 

as the 0.9-mile segment planned to extend between the eastern right-of-way boundary of Hufsmith-

Kohrville Road to the southern right-of-way boundary of Mahaffey Road.  

 

BACKGROUND 

 

In 2008 the Houston-Galveston Area Council conducted the FM 2920 Access Management Study, 

as well as the Livable Centers Downtown Plan for the City of Tomball. Within the context of these 

studies, there is reference to the need to improve parallel east-west facilities to provide alternative 

connections to FM 2920. The study specifically identifies Medical Complex Drive as one potential 

alternative connection. According to the study, Medical Complex Drive could improve local traffic 

circulation within Tomball as well as alleviate congestion along FM 2920. In 2009 the City of 

Tomball adopted a Comprehensive Plan that builds on the concept of providing an alternative east-

west connection for FM 2920. This Comprehensive Plan mentions the east-west connection of 

Medical Complex Drive as a potential roadway for said east-west alternative route. In 2019, 

construction was completed on a section of SH 249 (Tomball Tollway) immediately west of 

Tomball. This construction did not account for an underpass or fly-over at the intersection of 

Medical Complex Drive. This effectively cut off the western connection of Medical Complex 

Drive to FM 2920. In 2021, the City Council approved an ordinance that downgraded the existing 

and proposed western extent of Medical Complex Drive from a major arterial to a minor arterial 

between Business State Highway 249 and FM 2920. In May 2022, the applicant requested to 

remove the subject portion of Medical Complex Drive from the Major Thoroughfare Plan. This 

request was recommended to be denied by the Planning & Zoning Commission on May 9 and was 

subsequently denied by City Council on May 16, 2022. 

 

ANALYSIS 

 

Comprehensive Plan Recommendation: The current Comprehensive Plan, adopted in 2019, 

identifies the need to promote east-west connections through the city including, alternatives to FM 

2920. However, due to the construction of SH 249 without an underpass for Medical Complex 

Drive, the current Comprehensive Plan acknowledges that the previous plan to utilize Medical 

Complex Drive as an east-west bypass from FM 2920 around Old Town Tomball is limited. 

Subsequently, the Comprehensive Plan suggests reviewing the Medical Complex Drives street 

classification.  
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Staff Review Comments:  

 

Although Medical Complex Drive may no longer have the potential to function as a true east-west 

bypass for FM 2920, it could serve as an alternative east-west route for carrying high volumes of 

traffic from FM 2920 to regional destinations within the city of Tomball and thus should remain 

on the Major Thoroughfare Plan. As indicated in the 2019 Comprehensive Plan, the functional 

classification of Medical Complex Drive should be reviewed, and consideration should be given 

toward reclassifying the street. The applicant’s proposal to downgrade the subject segment of 

Medical Complex Drive to a minor arterial will continue to provide the necessary alternative east-

west route through the city and will promote greater connectivity and traffic circulation throughout 

Tomball. If the subject segment of Medical Complex Drive were to be reclassified to a minor 

arterial street the desired right-of-way width would become 80 feet, opposed to the currently 

planned 100–120-foot right-of-way. This 80-foot right-of-way is sufficient for a 40-foot pavement 

width (four lanes of traffic). This planned pavement cross-section is adequate to carry higher 

volumes of traffic to regional destinations within the city of Tomball.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

  

Based on findings outlined in the analysis section of this staff report, City staff recommends 

approval of Case P22-184. 

 

P&Z COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 

 

DENIAL (1 Vote Aye, 2 Vote Nay): 

Items of discussion during the meeting: 

 Concerns about the potential impact that downgrading this segment of Medical Complex 

Drive will have on the overall traffic circulation in Tomball.  

 Questions & discussion regarding what the road would look like if it were to be 

downgraded to a minor arterial. 

 

 

EXHIBITS 

 

A. Aerial Photo 

B. Zoning Map 

C. Future Land Use Map 

D. Major Thoroughfare Plan 

E. Site Photos 

F. Application 

G. ROW Alignment Exhibit 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

Aerial Location Map 
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EXHIBIT “B” 

Zoning Map 
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EXHIBIT “C” 

Future Land Use Map 
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EXHIBIT “D” 
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EXHIBIT “E”  
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EXHIBIT “F” 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: 07/05/2022 

Topic: 

Approve the purchase of 3 vehicles for Police through the State BuyBoard Cooperative Contract, from 

Caldwell Country in the amount of $119,815 

Background: 

The purchase is being made through the State Buyboard Cooperative purchasing contract and will be 

funded from the City’s Fleet Replacement Fund, which has allocated appropriations for the purchase of 

the vehicles as part of the adopted Fiscal Year 2021-2022 budget. These vehicles, once approved, will 

be purchased from Caldwell Country for an amount of $119,815. 

 

The new vehicles will be added to the existing because of the new school contract. A total of three (3)   

vehicles will be purchased for the Police Department at this time.  

Additionally, up-fit for each vehicle being purchased will need to be completed: 

 Lighting: $36,003.61 

 Communication Radios: $9,780.92 

Total up-fit cost of $45,784.53.  Making the total cost for all identified vehicles $161,714.59. 

 

Origination: Police Department 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approving the purchase of the vehicles with up-fit as appropriated in the Fiscal Year 

2021-2022. 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Brandon Patin, Captain of Police 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No: X If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account:  # To Account:  # 

Signed: Brandon Patin 6/23/2022 Approved by:   

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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QUOTE# 00E1 (C.GRAY)       CONTRACT PRICING WORKSHEET 
End User: CITY OF TOMBALL  Contractor: ROCKDALE COUNTRY   

Contact Name: LT. BRANDON PATIN   ROCKDALE COUNTRY FORD  

DBA CALDWELL COUNTRY 

Email: BPATIN@TOMBALLTX.GOV     Prepared By:  Averyt Knapp 

Phone #: 281-291-1344 

         832-745-2891 -C           

Email: aknapp@caldwellcountry.com 

Fax #:     Phone #:  979-567-6116 

Location City & State: TOMBALL, TX Fax #:    979-567-0853 

Date Prepared: JUNE 27, 2022  Address:  P. O. Box 72,  

ROCKDALE, TX 76567 

Contract Number: BUY BOARD #601-19 Tax ID #  27-3037856 

Product Description: 2023 FORD EXPLORER PPV K8A  

 

A  Base Price & Options:                                                                                                                                        $41,875 

 

B  Fleet Quote Option: 

Code Description Cost Code Description Cost 

 (NO SPOTLIGHT), PPV, 

3.3L-V6 (NOT 

HYBRID), 6-SPD 

AUTOMATIC, 18” 

ALUMINUM WHEELS, 

CLOTH BUCKET/CLOTH 

REAR BENCH, FULL 

RUBBER FLOOR, FRONT 

AND REAR AIR 

CONDITION, AMFM-

STEREO W/SYNC, TILT, 

CRUISE, POWER 

WINDOWS, POWER 

LOCKS, POWER 

MIRRORS, KEYLESS 

ENTRY, OBDII SPLIT 

CONNECTOR, REAR TAIL 

LAMP HOUSING 

PROVISION, REAR 

VISION CAMERA, 

REVERSE SENSORS, 

SWITCHABLE RED/WHITE 

LIGHTING IN CARGO 

AREA, REAR CAMERA 

ON-DEMAND, DARK CAR 

FEATURE, FRONT 

HEADLAMP LIGHTING 

SOLUTION (66A), REAR 

VISION CAMERA MIRROR 

(87R) 

INCL  ******C. GRAY******  

 FORD WARRANTY 

5YR/60,000 MILES 

POWERTRAIN @ N/C 

INCL  ROCKDALE COUNTRY FORD 

PO BOX 72 

ROCKDALE, TEXAS 76567 

 

       

       

      

      

Subtotal B  INCL 
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C  Unpublished Options  

Code Description Cost Code Description Cost 

        

      

      

      

      

      

Subtotal C      

 

D  Other Price Adjustments (Installation, Delivery, Etc…) 

Subtotal D   INCL  

 

E  Unit Cost Before Fee & Non-Equipment Charges(A+B+C+D) $41,875   

    Quantity Ordered                                             1 

Subtotal E $41,875 

 

F  Non-Equipment Charges (Trade-In, Warranty, Etc…) 

    BUY BOARD                              $400 

  

G.  Color of Vehicle: CARBONIZED GRAY M7   INCL 

 

H.  Total Purchase Price (E+F)                                                    $42,275 

 

Estimated Delivery Date: 10 MONTHS 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Consideration to approve a contract for Land Related Services to Threshold Land Services, Inc. for an 

amount not to exceed $100,000.00. 

Background: 

The City entered into a contract with Kimley-Horn for the design of a steel main replacement for our 

natural gas line located along S. Cherry Street. During the design phase, it was noted that the City has 

not obtained utility easements along several properties that will be effected by this replacement. In order 

to ensure that our gas line is located within a utility easement staff contacted Threshold Land Services, 

Inc. to provide the needed services for the acquisition of these easements.  

The contract with Threshold Land Services, Inc will provided land acquisition for right-of-way 

easements along a portion of S. Cherry Street and will include title searches, negotiations, and other 

land-related services as requested by City staff. The total proposed contract price for all related services 

will not exceed $100,000.00. 

Origination: Public Works Department  

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends authorizing the contract for Land Related Services to Threshold Land Services, Inc. 

for an amount not to exceed $100,000.00.  

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Meagan Mageo, Project Manager 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No: X If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Meagan Mageo  Approved by   

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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CONTRACT FOR LAND RELATED SERVICES 
 
 

This Agreement is entered into by THE CITY OF TOMBALL (referred to as the “City”), with an office at 
501 James Street, Tomball, TX and, THRESHOLD LAND SERVICES, INC. (the “Contractor”), a Texas 
Corporation with an office at 234 Southwest Parkway East, College Station, TX 77840, (together, the 
“Parties”).  City hereby engages the services of Contractor as an independent contract right of way and 
fee land acquisition company, upon the following terms and conditions: 
 

ARTICLE I 
SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED 

Contractor shall perform the services of an independent contract land service company, with its landmen 
and land agents, which includes, but is not limited to, conducting title research, title curative, due 
diligence, curative matters, negotiating the purchase of fee simple land and right of way easements, and 
all other land-related services as directed by City (the “Services”).  The project for which Services are to 
be provided is more specifically described on Exhibit “B” attached hereto and made a part hereof  (the 
“Project”). 
 

ARTICLE II 
TERM OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from the date of execution until terminated as 
hereinafter provided. 
 

ARTICLE III 
TERMS OF PAYMENT 

Generally, if the term of this Agreement is less than thirty (30) days in duration, then Contractor shall be 
entitled to payment upon completion of the Project and submission of appropriate invoices.  If the term of 
this Agreement exceeds thirty (30) days, then Contractor shall receive progress payments, throughout the 
term of the Agreement, based upon periodic invoices to be submitted by Contractor to City, evidencing 
that portion of the Project then completed.  Additional terms of payment, including the hourly rate and 
reimbursable expenses are set forth on Exhibit “A”. 
  
Contractor may submit periodic invoices monthly.  All invoices submitted by Contractor, whether periodic 
or lump sum, shall be divided into a separate invoice for each project on which Contractor performed 
Services during such invoice period and include the project name, a brief description of the Services 
performed, an itemization of all reasonable expenses incurred for said period and copies of appropriate 
receipts. The invoice period shall be monthly. Reasonable expenses permitted under this Agreement are 
more specifically described on Exhibit “A”. It is agreed that all invoice terms shall be “DUE UPON 
RECEIPT”. 
 
The total cost of all professional services provided under this Contract may not exceed One Hundred 
Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) as further outlined in Exhibit “B”. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
EQUIPMENT, MATERIALS, SUPPLIES & PERSONNEL 

Contractor shall supply, at Contractor’s sole expense, all equipment, tools, materials, and/or supplies 
necessary to accomplish the Services related to the Project.  It is agreed and understood that the City 
shall not, under any circumstance, directly hire any of the landmen and/or land agents furnished by the 
Contractor for a period of one year after this contract expires. 
 

ARTICLE V 
TERMINATION WITHOUT CAUSE 

Without cause, either party may terminate this Agreement after giving ten (10) days prior written notice to 
the other of intent to terminate without cause. Such termination shall not extinguish or terminate the 
respective rights, liabilities, or obligations of the parties incurred prior to termination. 
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ARTICLE VI 
NON-WAIVER 

The failure of either party to exercise any of its rights under this Agreement for a breach thereof shall not 
be deemed a waiver of such rights or waiver of any subsequent breach. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
WRITTEN COMMUNICATION  

Any notice, request, statement, invoice or other communication provided for in this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be considered as duly received when mailed to the following addresses of the Parties: 
 
City:   CITY OF TOMBALL 

501 James Street 
Tomball, TX 77375 
Attn: David Esquivel 
 

Contractor:   THRESHOLD LAND SERVICES, INC. 
234 Southwest Parkway East 
College Station, Texas 77840 
Attn: Kimbrough Jeter, President 

 
Either party may, by written notice to the other, change the address to which notices, requests, 
statements or other communications shall be made. 

 
ARTICLE VIII 

NO AUTHORITY TO BIND CITY 
Other than in connection with the Services to be rendered pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor has no 
authority to enter into any contracts or agreements on behalf of City.  This Agreement does not create a 
partnership, joint venture, or joint undertaking of any kind between the Parties. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS 

The Contractor declares that he is engaged in his own independently established business, and as such, 
he has complied with all federal, state, and local laws regarding business permits, certificates, and 
licenses that may be required to carry out the Services.  City has no authority or right to direct or control 
Contractor’s actions, and Contractor assumes full responsibility and discretion for the methods, 
techniques, and procedures used to perform the Services.  City contracts only for the results of the 
Services rendered hereunder. 

 
ARTICLE X 

CHOICE OF LAW 
THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND DUTIES OF THE PARTIES ARISING OUT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS 
OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, EXCEPT PROVISIONS OF THAT LAW REFERRING GOVERNANCE OR 
CONSTRUCTION TO THE LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION.  Any claim or controversy between 
Contractor and City arising out of or in connection with this Agreement and the Services performed 
hereunder shall be settled by mutual agreement.  If agreement cannot be reached, any dispute arising out 
of the terms of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with the applicable Commercial Dispute 
resolution procedures promulgated by the American Arbitration Association.  The courts in Bryan, Brazos 
County, Texas, shall have personal jurisdiction over City and Contractor to hear any litigation arising out 
of this Agreement and venue shall be proper with such courts to hear such disputes.  In the event either 
City or Contractor is not able to effect service of process upon the other in any litigation brought in such 
courts with respect to such disputes, it is agreed that the Secretary of State for the State of Texas shall be 
an agent of City and Contractor to receive service of process. 
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ARTICLE XI 
GENERAL 

The descriptive headings for the paragraphs or sections contained in this Agreement were constructed 
and arranged for convenience only and shall not be considered to affect the meaning or interpretation of 
the provisions herein.   
 

ARTICLE XII 
ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This is the entire Agreement of the Parties with respect to matters covered thereby and shall be binding 
on the Parties and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. This Agreement shall supersede any 
and all prior agreements and understandings, whether verbal or written, between the City and Contractor 
respecting the subject matter hereof.  Representations or statements made by any representative of the 
City or the Contractor, which are not stated herein, shall not be binding on either party. 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
SEVERABILITY 

If any part of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the rest of the Agreement will 
nevertheless remain in full force and effect. 

 
ARTICLE XIV 

AMENDMENTS 
This Agreement may be supplemented, amended, or revised only by further written agreement signed by 
both parties. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is executed and effective the ____ day of ___________, 2022. 
 
CITY:       CONTRACTOR: 
 
THE CITY OF TOMBALL    THRESHOLD LAND SERVICES, INC. 
 
 
By:        By:       
   
Printed:       Printed: Kimbrough Jeter, CPL 
 
Its: ________________________   Its: President 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

To that certain Contract for Land Related Services dated effective _______________, 2022 between 
THE CITY OF TOMBALL, as City and THRESHOLD LAND SERVICES, INC., as Contractor. 

 
The following terms and conditions shall be in addition to the terms and conditions contained in the 
Agreement.  The terms and conditions set forth in this Exhibit apply to the services specifically contracted 
for and described herein. 
 
1. Project:  

 
S. Cherry Street Gas Line Relocation 
 

2. Services: 
 
Conducting title research, title curative, due diligence, curative matters, negotiating the purchase 
of fee simple land and right of way easements, and all other land-related services as directed by 
City 
 

3. Payment Terms: 
 

a. 2022 Rates and Fees 
 

ITEM UNIT RATE 

Project Manager Hour $85.00 

Senior Land Agent Hour $75.00 

Land Technician Hour $45.00 

Mileage (standard IRS rate) Mile $0.585 

In-house copies – black/white Page $0.10 

In-house copies – color Page $0.20 

Copies (courthouse, online, copy/print store, etc.)  At Cost 

Postage  At Cost 

Office Supplies  At Cost 

Title Ownership Reports  At Cost 

Lien Subordination/Release Fees  At Cost 

Easement/deed Recording Fees  At Cost 
 

b. Contractor will invoice monthly and payment shall be DUE UPON RECEIPT 
c. City shall be responsible for and will pay for the following anticipated project 

expenses: 
a. Landowner consideration and damages for land/easement acquisitions 
b. Project engineering and surveying costs 
c. Title insurance 
d. Appraisal costs 
e. Legal fees 
f. Condemnation proceedings 

 
  
THE CITY OF TOMBALL     
 
By:           
   
Printed:         
 
Its: ________________________ 

Page 145



5 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT B 

Project Scope and Bid Sheet for Land Services:  
S. Cherry Street Gas Line 

SCOPE:      
- Acquisition of Utility Easements for the S. Cherry Street Gas Line relocation 
- Project will require the acquisition of utility easements across 33 different properties 
- Threshold will acquire title ownership reports (without warranty) on each tract and perform the necessary curative to clear 
up title defects, as needed. 
- Threshold will obtain Rights of Entry for each parcel, as needed, for the purposes of surveying, appraising, etc. 
- Threshold will send project description and initial offer letters based on tax values, sales comparisons, and/or a certified 
appraisal of the parcel -- all offers to be approved by the City. 
- Threshold will negotiate the acquisition terms and consideration amount and secure a signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding or Purchase and Sale Agreement, also to be approved by City. 
- Threshold will acquire executed and notarized easements, and lien subordinations/releases and submit to the City for 
processing and filing 

       

LAND SERVICES COST PER PARCEL Quantity  Rate   Subtotal   TOTAL  

Project Manager - hourly 15  $    85.00  $               1,275.00    

Senior Land Agent - hourly 25  $     75.00  $               1,875.00    

Land Technician - hourly 5  $     45.00  $                   225.00    

Mileage 100  $     0.585  $                     58.50    

Postage  1  $     10.00   $                     10.00    

Copies - courthouse (online), copy center, in-house 50  $       1.00  $                     50.00    

Title Report 1 $500   $                   500.00    

SUBTOTAL COST PER PARCEL:     $              3,993.50   

Miscellaneous costs, office supplies, overhead (1% of total)    $                    39.94    

TOTAL COST PER PARCEL:     $               4,033.44    

  
No. of 
Parcels     

LAND SERVICES COST ALL PARCELS 22  $4,033.44   $           88,735.57   $   88,735.57  

     Contingency 15%   $    11,264.43  

TOTAL ANTICIPATED COST OF LAND SERVICES FOR PROJECT: $100,000.00 

       

SEPARATE COSTS TO BE ASSUMED BY CITY:      

Title Insurance      

Landowner Consideration for Easements      

Surveying Costs      

Appraisals Costs      

Easement/Deed Recording Fees         

 
THE CITY OF TOMBALL     
 
By:           
   
Printed:         
 
Its: ________________________ 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Reappoint Judge Brett Peabody to the Municipal Court for terms of office which begin October 1, 2022 and 

ends on September 31, 2024. 

Background: 

Judge Brett Peabody is an employee of the City of 8 years. Judge Peabody presides over the municipal court, 

magistrate of the jail and directs the Associate Judges.  

Origination: Tomball Municipal Court 

Recommendation:  

Reappoint Judge Brett Peabody to a two year term 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda:  Doug Tippey 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  X No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   #100-122-6004 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed   Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Reappoint Chief Prosecutor, Grant Stevens, to the Municipal Court for a term of office which begins October 

1, 2022 and ends on September 30, 2024.  

Background: 

The Chief Municipal Court Prosecutor is not employees of the City. The Chief Municipal Court Prosecutor 

serves on a contract basis to represent the State in misdemeanor cases involving offenses under the Texas Penal Code, 

such as traffic offenses and violations of City ordinances, in the absence of the Chief Prosecutor or as assigned by the 

Chief Prosecutor. Current appointment expires September 30, 2022. 

Chief Prosecutor recommended for reappointment: 

Grant Stevens 

The appointment of the Chief Prosecutor is subject to his execution of a contract with the City and will be for 

the two-year term. 

 

Origination: Tomball Municipal Court 

Recommendation:  

Reappoint Chief Prosecutor Grant Stevens to a two year term 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Doug Tippey 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  X No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   #100-122-6303 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed   Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Approve Request from Turn To Productions to host “Texas Hot Sauce Festival” in downtown Tomball, on 

Saturday, November 5th, through Sunday, November 6th, 2022, with setup on Friday, November 4th 

Background: 

 

Origination: Turn To Productions 

Recommendation: 

Approval 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Sasha Smith, Marketing Manager 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed   Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 

 

Page 149



 
TEXASHOTSAUCEFESTIVAL.COM 

 

PROPOSAL FOR TEXAS HOT SAUCE FESTIVAL 
SUBMITTED BY TURN TO PRODUCTIONS, LLC 

P. O. Box 25111, Houston, Texas 77265-2511 | www.TurnToProduction.com | 713.714.1916 
 

The Texas Hot Sauce Festival proposes the City of Tomball to become the new home for this great event, which has been a 
popular, family-friendly celebration of the signature element of Southwest cuisine for over 20 years. 
 
We are requesting use of the Railroad Depot Plaza as the festival site. The festival would be fenced and ticketed. The extensive 
promotion of the festival will emphasize joining the Tomball community and all that the City of Tomball has to offer as a place 
to live, do business, and enjoy great events and amenities. (In fact, one of our regular members is headquartered in Tomball, 
Pain Train Salsa.) 
 
Event Description: 
The Texas Hot Sauce Festival celebrates two decades of “bringing the heat” by serving up the endless combinations of spice, 
flavor, and heat that has made Southwest a world-wide phenomenon. “Chile-heads” will enjoy hot sauce, salsa, chips, dips, 
peppers, spices, marinades, rubs, jams/jelly, pickled products, condiments, soup mixes, chili mixes, wing sauces; chunky, spicy, 
smooth, garlicky, sweet, fruity, peppery, smoky, from hot to mild to REALLY HOT!   
 
Thousands of attendees will sample hundreds of products from award winning chefs and vendors from as far away as 
California, Arizona, Ohio, Louisiana, and Florida – even Alaska.  While hot sauce and the food that goes with it the best are the 
main focus, there will be plenty of other food for all tastes, with a variety and quality fitting for Houston’s diverse population 
and “Foodie” culture, and there will be plenty of cold drinks to cool the heat. Continuous live music provides the soundtrack of 
good times with great food and friends with specialty entertainment acts and contests.  The “Children’s Area” provides fun for 
the mini chileheads, while Arts & Crafts vendors offer unique souvenirs. 
Website: https://texashotsaucefestival.com/ 
 
Dates: Saturday, November 5TH through Sunday, November 6TH, 2022, with setup Friday, November 4TH. 
 
Hours: Planned 11:00 AM – 9:00 PM Saturday and 11:00 AM - 6:00 PM Sunday 
 
Number of People: Anticipated attendance of 8,000 – 10,000 over the two days of the event. 
 
Types of Activities: 
Sampling and sales of hot sauce and related products from producers across the country 
Craft Vendors 
Food Trucks/Vendors 
Beer/Wine/Beverage Sales (Non –profit TABC temporary alcohol sales permit or licensed caterer 
Live music from local and regional artists – likely mix of blues, country, jazz, southern rock 
Cooking demonstrations 
Contests 
Children’s activities. 
 
Charity Involvement: The Texas Hot Sauce Festival has in the past benefited the Snowdrop Foundation, and intends to benefit 
them with this event, the precise involvement to be determined. We are also looking to benefiting a veteran’s charity, to be 
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determined. A veteran’s charity focused on the Tomball area would be an ideal combination, and we would welcome 
guidance as possible from the City of Tomball. 
 
City Services Required: 
Use of the Railroad Depot Plaza, electrical and water access 
Use – if possible - of Depot building, maintenance building, or other structure for event office. 
Use – if possible – of property across Fannin St. from Plaza for vendor parking. 
Security for Event (we are not planning any street closures at this time, unless needed for vendor parking) 
Trash Service (if available, or outside vendor could be used) 
EMS (if available, or outside vendor could be used) 
Potential logistical elements, such as barricade, signage, ticket booth, etc. that Tomball may have available 
 
Vendors From the 2019 Event –Texas Hot Sauce Festival will pursue the same and similar vendors for 2022. 
 
Hot Sauces 
5 Point BBQ Sauce 
Alvin's Hot Sauces 
Angry Goat 
Aunt May's Bajan Pepper Sauce 
Behrnes' Pepper Salts 
Big Daddy's 
Boerne 
Bravado Spice 
Bravo 
Cascabel 
Cowboy Spice Co. 
Das Gud 
Dom's Chop Salsa 
Freedom Hot Sauce 
Hot Line Pepper Products 
Klowns On Fire 
Lolita Specialty Foods 
Lottabit Spice Co. 
Mama Lucifora’s Italian Kitchen 
Mikey V's 
Pain Train 
Pico de Salsas 
R Sauces 
Rocky Top Sauces 
Salsas Comatli 
Swamp Dragon 
Teardrop Pepper Co. 
Texas Select Seasonings 
Tio Pelon’s Salsitas 
Underwood Ranches 
Vatsana's Hot Sauce 

Sponsors 
Comcast 
George Dickel Tabasco Barrel Finish 
Houston Community College 
Insperity 
Mancuso Powersports Southwest 
Smirnoff Spicy Tamarind 
T-Mobil 
Topgolf. 
 
Commercial Vendors 
Resort Vacations 
Max Home 
Digital Vacation 
Green Mountain 
AARP 
Renewal by Anderson 
Power Home Remodeling 
Cutco 
Texas Beer Bus 
ATT&T 
 
Craft and Activities 
Apple Pie Publishing 
Cosmic Creations 
Duluth Trading Co. 
Face Painting 
Hats By Laura 
Hullabaloo Henna Tattoo 
Inca Wasi 
Infinity Engraving 
Knives & Wives 

Lasik 
My Massage Pillow 
Paparazzi 
Pink Zebra 
Pinspiration 
Purely 
Rost Family Games 
Scentfully Yours 
Slayer’s Reptile Ranch 
State Farm 
Tanja Alejandra Leather 
T-Mobile 
Tupperware 
 
Food Vendors/Trucks 
1P2P Original Fries 
Chet’s Grill 
Chicago’s Famous Fried Chicken 
Fish Fry Mama 
Friohana Shaved Ice 
Gelu Italian Ice 
JLB Enterprises 
No Bull Street Tacos 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

I look forward to speaking with you about the opportunity of working with the City of Tomball on this great event. 
 
Regards, 

 
Michael R. Martin 
Turn To Productions, LLC 
281-802-2776 
mrmartin@turntoproductions.com 
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Services Qty Rate per hour Number of hours Total

Police Department 6 $40 21 $5,040

Fire Department 2 $40 21 $1,680

Public Works 8 $34 21 $5,712

  Road barricades 20 $20 $400

  Trashcans 20 $20 $400

Electricity (per outlet) 20 $25 $500

Dumpster service TBD by GFL Environmental

Water (per vendor) $25 __

Depot Rental Fees 125 (full day) x 2 + 100 (1/2 day) 350

Total $14,082
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June 14, 2022 X
We would welcome
city sponsorship

X

X
Michael R. Martin

PO Box 25111, Houston, TX, 77265-2511

mrmartin@turntoproductions.com

November, 5 & 6, 2022, Set up on Nov. 4
8 AM - 8 PM
11/4

6 PM - 10 PM
11/6

11 AM 11/5
Noon 11/6

9 PM 11/5
6 PM 11/6

Michael R. Martin

TBD

8,000 - 10,000 over the two days

Map is subject to change.X

X

Est. $12.00 Kids 12 and under free

8:00 AM

TBD

Not a charity event, but will benefit one or more non-
profits to be determined.

281-802-2776

281-802-2776

X

Food themed festival - hot sauce producers locally and from around the country

Texas Hot Sauce Festival

Texas Hot Sauce Festival
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Presentation of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year ending September 30, 2021. 

Background: 

Weaver and Tidwell, LLP was engaged to audit the financial statements for fiscal year ending 
September 30, 2021. This was the second audit performed under the current contract.  

Origination: Finance 

Recommendation: 

Acceptance of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year ending September 30, 2021. 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Katherine DuBose, Finance Director 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes: X No:  If yes, specify Account Number: # 100-116-6301 

If no, funds will be transferred from account:  # To Account:  # 

Signed: Katherine DuBose 06/29/2022 Approved by:   
 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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City of Tomball, Texas 
Compliance Report 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021 
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City of Tomball, Texas  
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021 
 

The Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards are an integral part of this schedule. 
1 

Assistance 
Listing Number 

Pass-Through
Entity Identifying 

Number
Grant Funds 
Expended

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Passed through Texas General Land Office

Community Development Block Grant - 
Disaster Recovery Program 14.228 19-076-029-8386 1,523,566$          

Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 1,523,566            

U.S. Department of Treasury
Passed through Harris County, Texas

COVID 19 - Coronavirus Relief Fund 21.019 n/a 646,855               

Total U.S. Department of Treasury 646,855               

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Passed Through Texas Department of Emergency Management

FEMA Disaster Grants - Public Assistance 97.036 4332DRTXP0000001 763                      

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 763                      

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 2,171,184$          

Grantor/Program Title
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City of Tomball, Texas  
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021 
 

 
2 

Note 1.   Basis of Presentation  
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the "Schedule") includes the federal 
award activity of the City of Tomball, Texas (the “City”) under programs of the federal government for 
the year ended September 30, 2021. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with 
the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not intended to 
and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the City.  
Expenditures reported on the Schedule are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting.  This 
basis of accounting recognizes expenditures in the accounting period in which the liability is incurred, if 
measurable.  Such expenditures are recognized following, as applicable, the cost principles contained 
in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to 
reimbursement.   
 
Note 2.   Indirect Cost Rate  
 
The City has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform 
Guidance.  
 
Note 3.   Relationship to Federal Financial Reports  
 
Grant expenditure reports which have been submitted to grantor agencies will, in some cases, differ 
slightly from amounts disclosed herein.  The reports prepared for grantor agencies are typically 
prepared at a later date and often reflect refined estimates of year-end accruals. The reports will agree 
at termination of the grant as the discrepancies noted are timing differences.  
 
Note 4.   Expenditures Incurred in a Prior Year  
 
The City recognized $763 in the Schedule for FEMA Disaster Grants – Public Assistance (Assistance Listing 
Number 97.036) which represents reimbursements for expenditures incurred in a prior year. 
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Weaver and Tidwell, L.L.P. 
4400 Post Oak Parkway Suite 1100 | Houston, Texas 77027

Main: 713.850.8787
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial  
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an  
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with  

Government Auditing Standards  
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and  
Members of City Council  
City of Tomball, Texas 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Tomball, Texas (the City) as of and for the year 
ended September 30, 2021, and the related notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 27, 2022.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that have not been identified. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, 
described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs as item 2021-001 that we 
consider to be a material weakness.  
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 
on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was 
not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our 
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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The Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 
City of Tomball, Texas 
 

4 

The City’s Response to Findings 
 
The City’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying Corrective 
Action Plan. The City’s response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report  
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
 
WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P. 
 
Houston, Texas 
June 27, 2022 

Page 161



Weaver and Tidwell, L.L.P. 
4400 Post Oak Parkway Suite 1100 | Houston, Texas 77027

Main: 713.850.8787

CPAs AND ADVISORS | WEAVER.COM
 

 

 

5 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program; 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on  
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards required by the Uniform Guidance 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor and  
Members of City Council  
City of Tomball, Texas 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  
 
We have audited the City of Tomball, Texas’ (the City) compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City’s major federal program for the year 
ended September 30, 2021. The City’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s 
results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
 
Management’s Responsibility  
 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.   
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City’s major federal programs 
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our 
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct 
and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances.   
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program  
 
In our opinion, the City complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended September 30, 2021. 
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The Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 
City of Tomball, Texas 
 

6 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance  
 
Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing 
our audit of compliance, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance with the types of 
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to 
determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance.  
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
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The Honorable Mayor and 
Members of City Council 
City of Tomball, Texas 
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Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance  
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021 and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. We issued our 
report thereon dated June 27, 2022, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial 
statements.  Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements 
that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures 
of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, 
in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
 
WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P. 
 
Houston, Texas 
June 27, 2022 
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Section 1.   Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
 
1. Type of auditor’s report issued Unmodified 

 
2. Internal control over financial reporting: 

 
a. Material weakness(es) identified?  Yes, 2021-001 

 
b. Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not  

considered to be material weaknesses? None reported 
 

3. Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No 
 

Federal Awards 
 

4. Internal control over major programs: 
 
a. Material weakness(es) identified?  No 

 
b. Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are  

not considered to be material weaknesses? None reported 
 

5. Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance with  
major programs Unmodified 

 
6. Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be  

reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? No 
 

7. Identification of major programs: 
a. 14.228 – Community Development Block Grant - Disaster Recovery Program 

  
8. Dollar threshold used to distinguish between  

Type A and Type B federal programs $750,000 
 

9. Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? No 
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Section 2.   Financial Statement Findings 
 
Finding 2021-001  
Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: Financial Statement Close 
 
Criteria 
Management is responsible for the accuracy and completeness of all financial records and related 
information and for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting. The 
existence of a material misstatement of an entity’s financial statements is an indication of a material 
weakness in internal control. 
 
Condition   
During the course of our audit we identified a number of misstatements in the City’s financial records, 
which resulted in a number of material corrections needed to present the financial statements fairly in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP). Certain 
misstatements affected the balances of net position or fund balance previously reported and resulted 
in adjustment of these previously-reported balances. Additional material misstatements were 
concentrated in the areas of accounting for accruals, bond issuances, and intra-entity transactions. 
 
Cause   
The above condition is indicative of a material weakness in the City’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as the City’s controls over financial statement closing were not sufficient to ensure that 
financial statements were accurate, nor provide for the timely identification and correction of errors. 
 
Implementation of an effective financial statement closing process requires dedicated personnel 
resources with sufficient time and experience to complete this function, and such resources did not exist 
during the fiscal year due to understaffing and personnel changes in the accounting and finance 
department. We noted that there were several changes in the City’s key accounting personnel during 
the fiscal year, and also after fiscal year end. These changes ultimately resulted in increased personnel 
resources dedicated to the accounting function; however, the timing of personnel changes 
contributed to the condition due to periods of insufficient staffing. Furthermore, the City’s current 
dedicated personnel assumed their roles subsequent to the end of the fiscal year, with limited time to 
complete the close process and address the existing condition prior to financial close. 
 
Effect or Potential Effect   
The deficiency in internal controls allowed material misstatements of the City’s financial statements to 
occur which were not prevented, or detected and corrected, by the City’s system of internal control. 
Failure to address the deficiency will allow possible irregularities to exist and continue without detection. 
 
Recurring Finding 
Yes (2020-001) 
 
Recommendation   
We recommend that City personnel continue to review and improve internal controls and procedures in 
place with respect to the financial statement close process. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials 
See Corrective Action Plan. 
 
Section 3.   Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 
None reported. 
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City of Tomball Lori Klein Quinn 
Mayor 

 
David Esquivel 

City Manager 
 

 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Finding 2020-001 
Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: Financial Statement Close 
 
Status 
Partially corrected. This is a recurring finding 2021-001 in the current year. 
 
City staff recognizes that this is a recurring finding and has taken necessary corrective action. Due to 
staff turnover from late fiscal year 2021 into early fiscal year 2022, there was a lack of financial 
reporting oversight for fiscal year-end 2021. Since that time, City staff has implemented and continues 
to implement internal controls and process improvements to the financial reporting process. Staff 
expects that Finding 2020-001 will be fully corrected in fiscal year 2022. 
 
Finding 2020-002 
Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: Reconciliation of Restricted Funds 
 
Status  
Completed. 
 
Finding 2020-003 
Significant Deficiency in Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Noncompliance: IRS Reporting 
 
Status  
Completed. 
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City of Tomball Lori Klein Quinn 
Mayor 

 
David Esquivel 

City Manager 
 

 
Finding 2021-001 
Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: Financial Statement Close (Recurring) 
 
Corrective Action Plan 
City staff recognizes that this is a recurring finding and has taken necessary corrective action. Staff has 
implemented and continues to implement internal controls and process improvements related to the 
financial reporting process. Policies and procedures are being reviewed and updated as necessary to 
ensure financial information is timely and accurate. Monthly bank reconciliations are completed timely 
and staff is preparing balance sheet reconciliations to verify account activity and balances. Financial 
statements are generated monthly and reviewed by the Finance Director and City Management for 
accuracy. Lastly, process improvements will be established for year-end close to ensure this finding is 
resolved for fiscal year 2022. 
 
Person(s) Responsible 
Katherine DuBose, Finance Director 
 
Anticipated Completion Date 
Implementation began in early fiscal year 2022 and is expected to be completed by  
September 30, 2022. 
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City of Tomball Lori Klein Quinn 
Mayor 

 
David Esquivel 

City Manager 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
June 27, 2022 
  
To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and Citizens of the City of Tomball, Texas: 
 
It is with great pleasure that we present to you a copy of the Annual Financial Report of the City of 
Tomball, Texas (the City) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.  The responsibility for both the 
accuracy of the presented information and the completeness and fairness of the presentation of the 
data, including all disclosures, rests with the City.  To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed 
data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly the results 
of operations of the various funds of the City, as well as the fund balances.  All disclosures necessary to 
enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City's financial activities have been included.  
 
The Annual Financial Report is presented in three sections:  Introductory, Financial, and Statistical.  The 
Introductory Section includes this transmittal letter, the City's organizational chart, and a list of principal 
officials, elected and appointed.  The Financial Section includes Management's Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A), Basic Financial Statements, Required Supplementary Information, Combining and Individual 
Fund Financial Statements and Schedules, as well as the independent auditors' report.  The Statistical 
Section includes selected financial and demographic information generally presented on a multi-year 
basis. 
 
MD&A immediately follows the independent auditors' report and provides a narrative introduction, 
overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements.  MD&A complements this letter and should be 
read in conjunction with it. 
 
Profile of the Government 
 
The City, incorporated on July 18, 1933, is located northwest of Houston, Texas, in a rapidly growing area 
of Harris County.  The City currently occupies a land area of 12.34 square miles and serves an estimated 
population of 12,341.  The City of Tomball is empowered to levy a property tax on both real and personal 
properties located within its boundaries.  It also is empowered by state statute to extend its corporate 
limits by annexation, which occurs when deemed appropriate by the governing council.  
 
The City has operated under the Council-manager form of government since 1980.  Policy-making and 
legislative authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the Mayor and five Council members. 
The Council is elected on a non-partisan basis.  Council members serve three-year terms, with two Council 
members elected every year.  The mayor is elected to serve a three-year term.  The Mayor and Council 
are elected at large.  The governing council is responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances, 
adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring both the City Manager and City Attorney.  The 
City Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the governing Council, for 
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the government, and for appointing the heads of the various 
departments.   
 
The City provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection; the construction and 
maintenance of streets and other infrastructure; recreational activities and cultural events.  Solid waste 
services are provided through a contract with GFL Environmental, formally Waste Corporation of America.   
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The annual budget serves as the foundation for the City's financial planning and control.  All departments 
of the City are required to submit requests for appropriation to the Finance Director.  These requests serve 
as a starting point for developing a proposed budget.  The Finance Director provides the information to 
the City Manager who then presents this proposed budget to the Council for review.  The Council is 
required to hold public hearings on the proposed budget and to adopt a final budget no later than 
September 30, the close of the City's fiscal year.  The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, 
and department.  Department heads may make requests to the City Manager for transfers of 
appropriations within a department.  Transfers of appropriations between departments, however, require 
the approval of the City Council.  Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each 
individual governmental fund for which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted.  For the 
general fund, this comparison is presented on Page 78 as part of required supplementary information.  For 
governmental funds, other than the general fund, with appropriated annual budgets, this comparison is 
presented in the non-major governmental fund subsection of this report, which starts on Page 94. 
 
Factors Affecting Financial Condition 
 
The information presented in the financial statements is better understood when it is considered from the 
broader perspective of the specific environment within which the City of Tomball operates. 
 
Local Economy 
 
The City is located approximately 32 miles northwest of Houston and is primarily surrounded by various 
taxing districts, making it one of the only incorporated areas in this portion of Harris County.  As a result, 
the City has evolved into the area's principal commercial center.  Assessed values for Fiscal 2021 reflect 
an increase of 4.49% percent to $2.20 billion.  This property value increase is the result of continued 
development within the City including both residential and commercial.  The City is experiencing major 
residential growth with over 2,000 homes currently in development. Additionally, two Public Improvement 
Districts for residential development were added during the year.   
 
For fiscal year 2021, sales tax revenues increased by 8.48% compared to prior year. The City had 
anticipated this revenue source remaining level when the budget was adopted.  At this writing, for fiscal 
year 2022, sales taxes revenues have recovered and are up 22.29% over last year, which is attributable to 
growth and inflation.     
 
The region (which covers an area within a five-mile radius from the center of the City) has an employed 
labor force of approximately 26,000.  The largest groups of employers are in service and retail trade.   
 
Long-term Financial Planning 
 
The City issued $20,240,000 Certificates of Obligation in 2016 for the construction of Medical Complex 
Drive, Section 4B and the extension of Persimmon Street. The design and construction of these projects 
was substantially completed at year-end.    
 
Additionally, infrastructure projects for water, sewer, drainage, and natural gas distribution continue to 
be funded through the budget process.  All capital projects and major infrastructure needs are reviewed 
periodically during the year to assess both the progress of construction and the actual versus projected 
costs. 
 
Major Initiatives 
 
The largest revenue source in the General Fund is sales tax.  The City has experienced significant 
commercial and retail growth over the last several years.  The City continued a conservative approach 
in budgeting sales tax revenues.  For fiscal year 2021, sales tax revenues were projected at $12,585,000. 
Because of the pandemic, the budget projection remained level for fiscal year 2022, but as previously 
stated, this major revenue source is up over 22%. 
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The City made application to the Harris Galveston Area Council in 2015 for a grant to fund major 
improvements along FM 2920 (Main Street) from the downtown area to State Highway 249.  At that time, 
the City Council approved local funding in the amount of $3,000,000 to assist in expediting the project. 
At this time, there is not a definite time set by the county for the beginning of construction on this project.  
 
The Capital Project Fund includes major funding for park improvements, streets, sidewalks, and 
infrastructure for fiscal year 2022. 
  
Financial Information 
 
The City's management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls designed to 
ensure that the assets of the City are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and to ensure that adequate 
accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles.  Internal controls are designed to provide reasonable but not 
absolute assurance that these objectives are met.  The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that 
(1) the cost of the controls should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived and (2) the valuation of 
cost and benefits requires estimates and judgments to be made by management. 
 
Budgeting Controls 
 
The City maintains budgetary controls to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual 
appropriated budget approved by the City Council.  Activities of the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, 
Special Revenue Funds, Utility Fund, and Internal Service Funds are included in the annual operating 
budget.  The TEDC, a component unit of the City, is budgeted separately.  A capital improvement plan 
is approved each year by the City Council and funded through a separate capital projects fund.  The 
level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated 
amount) is established at the Department level within an individual fund.  The City maintains an 
encumbrance accounting system as a means of accomplishing budgetary controls and a technique of 
budgetary "lock out" which will prevent a transaction from exceeding legally appropriated budgetary 
amounts.  As demonstrated by the statements and schedules included in the financial section of this 
report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound financial management. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
The City may issue General Obligation bonds that are approved by voters in a capital improvements 
plan.  Certificates of Obligation can be used for major construction projects and for the financing of 
vehicles and equipment.   When available, sales tax revenue in excess of budgeted projections can be 
dedicated to one-time capital purchases. 
 
Independent Audit 
 
The City Charter requires an independent audit of the accounts of the City by an independent auditor.  
The firm of Weaver and Tidwell, LLP, Certified Public Accountants, has issued unmodified (clean) opinions 
on the City of Tomball's financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2021.  The independent 
auditor's report is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 
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Awards 
 
The Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of Achievement for 
Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2020.  This was the 31st consecutive year that the City has received this award. 
In order to be awarded the Certificate of Achievement, the City published an easily readable and 
efficiently organized Annual Financial Report.  This report satisfies both generally accepted accounting 
principles and applicable legal requirements.  The Certificate of Achievement is held for a period of one 
year only.  Our current Annual Financial Report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
requirements, and will be submitted to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
The City also received the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for the fiscal year beginning October 
1, 2021.  This is the thirteenth consecutive year that the City has received this award from the GFOA.  The 
award is made to those cities whose budget presentations meet very stringent presentation guidelines.  
The budget document must be of the very highest quality that reflects both the guidelines established by 
the National Advisory Council on State and Local Budgeting and the GFOA's recommended practices 
on budgeting. 
 
Acknowledgements 
 
The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the efficient and dedicated services 
of the administrative staff of the City and the members of the Finance Department.  We also would like 
to express our appreciation to all members of the departments who assisted and contributed to the 
preparation of this report.  Credit must also be given to the Mayor and the City Council for their unfailing 
support for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the City of 
Tomball's finances. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
 
David Esquivel 
City Manager 
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 David Esquivel City Manager 
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 Doris Speer City Secretary 
 Jeff Bert  Chief of Police 
 Joe Sykora  Fire Chief 
 Katherine DuBose  Director of Finance 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 
The Honorable Mayor  
  and Members of the City Council  
City of Tomball, Texas 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the  
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Tomball, Texas (the “City”) as of and for the year ended  
September 30, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
as of September 30, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash 
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matters 
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, during the year ended September 30, 2021, the 
City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 84, Fiduciary 
Activities.  Beginning net position of the governmental activities and beginning fund balance of certain 
nonmajor funds have been restated as a result of the implementation of this statement.  Our opinions are 
not modified with respect to this matter.    
 
As discussed in Note 16 to the basic financial statements, the City restated the beginning net position of 
governmental activities, business-type activities, the enterprise fund and the internal service fund to 
correct misstatements in its previously issued 2020 financial statements. Our opinions are not modified with 
respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Required Supplementary Information, as listed in the table 
of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not 
a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures 
to this required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary and Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The Introductory Section, Other Supplementary 
Information section, and Statistical Section, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes 
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
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The statements and schedules included in the Other Supplementary Information section are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other supplementary information is fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
 
The Introductory and Statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated  
June 27, 2022, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests 
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
 
WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.  
 
Houston, Texas 
June 27, 2022 
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Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 
 

The management of the City of Tomball (the “City”) offers readers of the City’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2021.  We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional 
information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal and statistical section as listed in the table of 
contents. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows 
of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $133.5 million (net position). Of this amount, 
$34.4 million (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations 
to citizens and creditors. 

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $42.3 million, a decrease of $6.3 million over the prior year. Approximately 50% of 
this total amount, $21.3 million, is available for spending at the government's discretion (unassigned 
fund balance).  

 The City’s total long-term debt decreased by $2.8 million due primarily to scheduled repayment of 
bonded debt. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. 
The City’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 
2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other 
supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.  
 
Refer to the table of contents for the location of each of these components. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases 
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is 
improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during 
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving 
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., 
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).  
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type 
activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public safety, public works, 
community development, and interest and fiscal agent fees. The business-type activities of the City include 
utility system administration, water, wastewater and gas operations. 
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The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary 
government), but also a legally separate entity (Tomball Economic Development Corporation) for which 
the City is financially accountable. Financial information for this discretely presented component unit is 
reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three 
categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal 
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers 
may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions. Both the 
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities. 
 
The City maintains 14 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Debt Service Fund, Capital Projects Fund and State and 
Federal Grants Fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other ten governmental funds 
are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements as noted in the table of contents. 
 
Proprietary Funds - The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
The City uses enterprise funds to account for its gas system and water and sewer system. Internal service 
funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various 
functions. The City uses internal service funds to account for fleet replacement and health benefits. Because 
these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only 
in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide information for the Enterprise Fund, which 
is considered to be a major fund. Conversely, all internal service funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation in the proprietary fund financial statements. Individual fund data for the internal 
service funds is provided in the form of combining statements as noted in the table of contents. 
 
Fiduciary Funds - The City maintains one type of fiduciary fund. Custodial funds are used to report fiduciary 
activities that are not required to be reported in a trust fund.  The City maintains one custodial fund to 
account for private developer contributions, bond proceeds, assessments, and related debt associated 
with the issuance of bonds issued by the City as the custodian for the Pubic Improvement Districts (PIDs) 
within the City. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data presented in 
the government-wide and fund financial statements.   
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Other Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain 
required supplementary information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide 
pension benefits and other post-employment benefits to its employees. The City adopts an annual 
appropriated budget for the general fund and certain other governmental funds. Budgetary comparison 
schedules have been provided to demonstrate compliance with these budgets as noted in the table of 
contents. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. 
The City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 
by $133.5 million at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Current and other assets 50,365,580$     58,515,845$     12,144,012$     9,242,019$       62,509,592$     67,757,864$     
Capital assets 82,249,629       66,268,808       40,057,607       38,760,225       122,307,236     105,029,033     

Total assets 132,615,209     124,784,653     52,201,619       48,002,244       184,816,828     172,786,897     

Deferred outflows 1,917,896         1,927,466         343,391            325,774            2,261,287         2,253,240         

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,917,896         1,927,466         343,391            325,774            2,261,287         2,253,240         

Long-term liabilities outstanding 43,522,853       46,273,310       1,767,356         1,785,650         45,290,209       48,058,960       
Other liabilities 5,248,663         7,040,497         1,307,039         1,541,970         6,555,702         8,582,467         

Total liabilities 48,771,516       53,313,807       3,074,395         3,327,620         51,845,911       56,641,427       

Deferred inflows 1,426,204         1,618,561         260,555            293,539            1,686,759         1,912,100         

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,426,204         1,618,561         260,555            293,539            1,686,759         1,912,100         

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 52,259,872       38,457,189       40,057,607       38,760,225       92,317,479       77,217,414       
Restricted 6,829,497         5,959,267         -                   -                   6,829,497         5,959,267         
Unrestricted 25,246,016       27,363,295       9,152,453         5,946,634         34,398,469       33,309,929       

Total net position 84,335,385$     71,779,751$     49,210,060$     44,706,859$     133,545,445$   116,486,610$   

City of Tomball, Texas Net Position

Governmental Business-Type Total
Activ ities  Activ ities Primary Government

 
By far the largest portion of the City’s net position, 69.1% or $92.3 million, reflects its net investment in capital 
assets (e.g., land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, 
vehicles, gas system, water and sewer system and infrastructure), less any related outstanding debt used to 
acquire those assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported 
net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from 
other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the City’s net position, 5.1% or $6.8 million, represents resources that are subject to 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position of 25.8% or $34.4 
million, may be used to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net 
position, for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type activities. 
The same situation held true for the prior fiscal year. 
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Governmental activities and business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $14.4 million in 2021.  
The following table provides a summary of the City’s operations for the year ended September 30, 2021.   
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenues:
Program revenues:

Charges for serv ices 4,965,064$        4,443,535$      16,208,763$      13,474,570$      21,173,827$      17,918,105$      
Operating grants and contributions 1,358,419          473,851           -                     -                     1,358,419          473,851             
Capital grants and contributions 4,869,087          -                  989,795             -                     5,858,882          -                     

General revenues:
Property taxes 7,213,050          6,919,721        -                     -                     7,213,050          6,919,721          
Sales taxes 13,361,050        12,291,928      -                     -                     13,361,050        12,291,928        
Franchise and other taxes 1,459,571          1,565,842        -                     -                     1,459,571          1,565,842          
Gain on sale of capital assets 260,345             162,560           195,593             -                     455,938             162,560             
Contributions not restricted 782,885             2,356,370        370,000             1,420,458          1,152,885          3,776,828          
Special assessments 769,412             -                  -                     -                     769,412             -                     
Unrestricted investment earnings 39,807               788,699           6,041                 94,836               45,848               883,535             
Other 533,098             633,271           661,412             140,513             1,194,510          773,784             

Total revenues 35,611,788        29,635,777      18,431,604        15,130,377        54,043,392        44,766,154        

Expenses:
General government 7,453,414          6,479,677        -                     -                     7,453,414          6,479,677          
Public safety 10,642,757        10,976,532      -                     -                     10,642,757        10,976,532        
Public works 4,998,747          4,071,787        -                     -                     4,998,747          4,071,787          
Parks and recreation 850,842             924,069           -                     -                     850,842             924,069             
Tourism and arts 551,323             604,578           -                     -                     551,323             604,578             
Community development 532,472             556,924           -                     -                     532,472             556,924             
Interest and fiscal agent fees 1,017,122          1,295,548        -                     -                     1,017,122          1,295,548          
Utility administration -                     -                  1,908,989          1,672,850          1,908,989          1,672,850          
Water -                     -                  5,132,543          5,115,488          5,132,543          5,115,488          
Wastewater -                     -                  2,041,666          2,114,431          2,041,666          2,114,431          
Gas -                     -                  4,474,541          1,646,494          4,474,541          1,646,494          

Total expenses 26,046,677        24,909,115      13,557,739        10,549,263        39,604,416        35,458,378        

Change in net position 
before transfers 9,565,111          4,726,662        4,873,865          4,581,114          14,438,976        9,307,776          

Transfers 1,206,112          2,467,434        (1,206,112)         (2,467,434)         -                     -                     

Change in net position 10,771,223        7,194,096        3,667,753          2,113,680          14,438,976        9,307,776          

Net position - beginning 71,779,751        64,534,309      44,706,859        42,593,179        116,486,610      107,127,488      
Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 67,645               -                  -                     -                     67,645               -                     
Prior period adjustments 1,716,766          51,346             835,448             -                     2,552,214          51,346               

Net position - beginning, restated 73,564,162        64,585,655      45,542,307        42,593,179        119,106,469      107,178,834      

Net position - ending 84,335,385$      71,779,751$    49,210,060$      44,706,859$      133,545,445$    116,486,610$    

Activ ities  Activ ities Primary Government

City of Tomball, Texas Change in Net Position

Governmental Business-type Total

 
Governmental Activities 
 
Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $10.8 million, which is primarily due to 1) $4.9 
million in capital grants and contributions in 2021 that did not exist in 2020, 2) $1.1 million increase in sales tax 
revenues and 2) $1.2 million in transfers from business type activities related to subsidies.  Expenses held 
stable with a 4.6% increase over the prior year. 
 
Business-type Activities 
 
Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $3.7 million, due primarily to 1) $1 million in capital 
grants and contributions in 2021 that did not exist in 2020 and 2) $1.2 million reduction in transfers to 
governmental activities.  Expenses increased $3.0 million primarily due to an unprecedented $2.7 million 
natural gas bill from the City’s provider resulting from extreme price spikes due to the winter storms that 
occurred during February 2021. 
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Financial Analysis of the City's Funds 
 
As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds - The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information of near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's 
financing requirements, in particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City's 
net resources available for discretionary use as it represents a portion of fund balance which has not yet 
been limited to use for a particular purpose by either an external party, the City itself, or a group or individual 
that has been delegated authority to assign resources for use for particular purposes by City Council. 
 
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $42.3 million, a decrease of $6.3 million over the prior year. Approximately 50.4% of this total 
amount, $21.3 million, is unassigned fund balance and 49.1%, or $20.8 million, is restricted fund balance.  The 
remaining fund balance is less than 1% of the total. 
 
Fund balance in the General Fund increased from the prior year by $4.1 million, resulting in an ending fund 
balance of $21.5 million at year end. The unassigned fund balance of $21.3 million represents 99.3% of total 
fund balance and 94.9% of total General Fund expenditures. Total general fund revenues increased $3.4 
million from 2020 to 2021, of which property tax revenues increased $1.2 million and sales tax revenues 
increased $1.0 million as a result of the strong growth in the local population and tax base.  Total general 
fund expenditures increased only $1.2 million, or 5.6%, by comparison due primarily to an average 3% cost 
of living adjustment in 2021.   
 
The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $5.9 million at year end, all of which is restricted for the 
payment of debt service. The net increase in fund balance during the current year in the Debt Service Fund 
was $0.8 million, due primarily to a decrease in debt service payments of $1.5 million which was greater than 
the property tax revenue decrease of $1 million due to a lower interest and sinking rate in 2021.   
 
The Capital Projects Fund has a total fund balance of $13.8 million at year end, all of which is restricted for 
capital projects. The net decrease in fund balance during the current year in the Capital Projects Fund was 
$11.1 million, due primarily to planned expenditures of bond proceeds. The City also transferred a net $0.2 
million into the Capital Projects Fund from other funds to supplement the bond proceeds. 
 
The State and Federal Grants Fund has no fund balance at year end since this represents grant awards that 
are reimbursement based or are advance funded, resulting in a net zero change in fund balance.  The fund 
recognized $1.5 million in both grant revenues and expenditures during the current year.  
 
Proprietary Funds - The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.  
 
The Enterprise Fund has unrestricted net position at fiscal year-end of $8.8 million and total net position of 
$48.9 million. Other factors concerning the finances of the City's Proprietary Funds have already been 
addressed in the discussion of the City's business-type activities. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Budget estimates for revenues between the original and final amended budget increased by $4.0 million 
due primarily to refined property and sales tax collection estimates resulting from partial economic recovery 
from impacts of COVID-19.   
 
During the year there was a net decrease between the original and final amended budget expenditure 
appropriations of $0.4 million due to mild fluctuations from initial estimates. 
 
The City budgeted a net increase in fund balance of the General Fund of $2.4 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2021.  The actual change in fund balance was an increase of $4.1 million, a favorable 
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variance of $1.7 million.  The City had a favorable variance of $0.6 million between actual revenues and 
budgeted revenues resulting primarily from receiving more sales taxes than anticipated.  The City also had 
a favorable variance of $0.7 million between budgeted expenditures and actual expenditures due primarily 
to unanticipated savings in public safety. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
At the end of the current fiscal year 2021, the City's governmental activities and business-type activities had 
invested $82.2 million and $40.1 million, respectively, in a variety of capital assets and infrastructure, as 
reflected in the following schedule. This represents a net increase of $16.0 million or 24.1% over the end of 
last fiscal year for governmental activities and an increase of $1.3 million or 3.3% for business-type activities. 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Land 7,982,088$       7,982,088$       1,897,333$       1,897,333$       9,879,421$          9,879,421$       
Construction in progress 15,847,571       19,191,012       452,845            802,128            16,300,416          19,993,140       
Buildings and improvements 6,184,301         6,461,532         -                   -                   6,184,301            6,461,532         
Gas system -                   -                   2,989,062         2,928,289         2,989,062            2,928,289         
Water and wastewater system  -                   -                   32,589,970       30,881,933       32,589,970          30,881,933       
Machinery and equipment 1,872,946         1,524,782         2,128,397         2,250,542         4,001,343            3,775,324         
Vehicles 2,469,357         2,441,541         -                   -                   2,469,357            2,441,541         
Infrastructure 47,893,366       28,667,853       -                   -                   47,893,366          28,667,853       

Totals 82,249,629$     66,268,808$     40,057,607$     38,760,225$     122,307,236$      105,029,033$   

City of Tomball, Texas Capital Assets (net of depreciation)

Governmental Business-type Total
Activ ities Activ ities Primary Government

 
The overall increase in capital assets for governmental activities is due primarily to $12.4 million of additions 
to construction in progress related to on-going and new infrastructure projects.  The business-type activities 
reported $2.0 million of additions and $1.6 million of depreciation expense. 
 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 5 to the basic financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City reported total long-term liabilities of $45.3 million.  The City had 
bonds payable of $30.4 million ($32.3 million, net of premiums). Of this amount, $14.9 million was general 
obligation refunding debt and $15.5 million represents certificates of obligation. The City’s other long-term 
liabilities include its contractual obligations, compensated absences, landfill post closure costs, and net 
pension and total other post employments benefits liabilities. 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Certificates of obligation 15,540,000$     22,535,000$     -$                 -$                 15,540,000$     22,535,000$     
General obligation refunding bonds 14,875,000       10,790,000       -                   -                   14,875,000       10,790,000       
Unamortized premiums 1,913,996         1,625,273         -                   -                   1,913,996         1,625,273         
Public property finance contractual
  obligations 1,039,868         1,169,868         -                   -                   1,039,868         1,169,868         
Compensated absences 1,801,201         1,829,038         268,326            319,111            2,069,527         2,148,149         
Landfill postclosure care costs 351,375            345,375            -                   -                   351,375            345,375            
Net pension liability 4,943,051         5,280,898         830,778            869,378            5,773,829         6,150,276         
Total OPEB liability 3,058,362         2,697,858         668,252            597,161            3,726,614         3,295,019         

Total 43,522,853$     46,273,310$     1,767,356$       1,785,650$       45,290,209$     48,058,960$     

City of Tomball, Texas Long-term Liabilities Outstanding

Governmental Business-type Total
Activ ities Activ ities Primary Government
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Bond debt decreased by $2.9 million as a result of scheduled debt service requirements.  
 
The most recent ratings on debt issues are as follows: 
 

Standard and
Poor's Moody's

General obligation bonds AA+
Certificates of obligation AA+ Aa3

 
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in Note 6 to the basic financial statements. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 
The City continues to focus on economic development initiatives, including the revitalization of historic Old 
Town Tomball and commercial businesses. The Business and Technology Park continues to attract businesses 
with over 544,000 square feet constructed as of April 2022. The City is also experiencing significant residential 
growth with the development of 2,000 homes currently underway. During fiscal year 2021, City Council 
approved the development of two Public Improvement Districts for residential developments. In December 
2021, City Council approved a tax increment reinvestment zone (TIRZ) for an industrial development of 240 
acres of land located between Grand Parkway and Boudreaux Road. As a result of the development, the 
City's taxable valuation is expected to increase. 
 
On September 20, 2021, City Council adopted a $53.3 million operating budget for fiscal year 2022. The 
City's largest source of revenue is sales tax, which has experienced significant increases compared to prior 
years. The fiscal year 2022 budget maintains the property tax rate at $0.3333390 per $100 of valuation. The 
City expects to maintain a stabilized property tax rate due to increases in the taxable valuation. 
 
Utility and solid waste rates remained unchanged in the adopted budget. During fiscal year 2023, the City 
will perform a utility cost of service study to evaluate the current rates and overall rate structure. Also, the 
City is reviewing all other fees to ensure cost recovery. 
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the resources it receives.  Questions 
concerning this report or requests for additional financial information should be directed to phone (281) 290-
1417 or: 
 
Finance Department 
501 James Street 
Tomball, Texas 77375 
 
Or for general City information, please visit the City’s website at https://www.tomballtx.gov . 
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City of Tomball, Texas 
Statement of Net Position 
September 30, 2021 
 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 
25 

Primary Government Component Unit
Tomball Economic

Governmental Business-type Development
Activities Activities Total Corporation

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 33,772,852$       9,663,869$          43,436,721$          9,323,399$             
Investments 8,762,105           -                       8,762,105              9,506,259               
Receivables, net of allowance 2,796,633           1,614,069            4,410,702              995,858                  
Due from other governments 253,705              -                       253,705                 -                          
Due from component unit 242,612              -                       242,612                 -                          
Due from fiduciary 26,606                -                       26,606                   -                          
Internal balances (346,273)             346,273               -                         -                          
Prepaid items 316,434              -                       316,434                 -                          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,540,906           519,801               5,060,707              -                          
Capital assets - nondepreciable 23,829,659         2,350,178            26,179,837            3,871,115               
Capital assets - depreciable, net 58,419,970         37,707,429          96,127,399            3,919,128               

Total assets  132,615,209       52,201,619          184,816,828          27,615,759             

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions 1,436,485           241,430               1,677,915              -                          
Other post employment benefits 481,411              101,961               583,372                 -                          

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,917,896           343,391               2,261,287              -                          

Total assets and deferred outflows
  of resources  134,533,105       52,545,010          187,078,115          27,615,759             

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 2,870,125           625,207               3,495,332              3,646                      
Accrued liabilities 738,681              162,031               900,712                 -                          
Due to other governments 5,194                  -                       5,194                     -                          
Deposits payable 7,885                  519,801               527,686                 8,869                      
Unearned revenue 1,459,211           -                       1,459,211              -                          
Due to primary government -                      -                       -                         242,612                  
Accrued interest payable 167,567              -                       167,567                 -                          
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within one year 3,265,635           80,498                 3,346,133              -                          
Due in more than one year 40,257,218         1,686,858            41,944,076            -                          

Total liabilities 48,771,516         3,074,395            51,845,911            255,127                  

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions 1,076,674           180,956               1,257,630              -                          
Other post employment benefits 349,530              79,599                 429,129                 -                          

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,426,204           260,555               1,686,759              -                          

Total liabilities and deferred inflows
  of resources  50,197,720         3,334,950            53,532,670            255,127                  

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 52,259,872         40,057,607          92,317,479            7,790,243               
Restricted for

Debt serv ice  5,737,644           -                       5,737,644              -                          
Court security 240,845              -                       240,845                 -                          
Court technology 152,675              -                       152,675                 -                          
Hotel occupancy tax 683,948              -                       683,948                 -                          
Child safety 14,385                -                       14,385                   -                          

Unrestricted 25,246,016         9,152,453            34,398,469            19,570,389             

TOTAL NET POSITION 84,335,385$       49,210,060$        133,545,445$        27,360,632$           
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Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Governmental activ ities

General government 7,453,414$          103,456$             648,568$             4,869,087$          
Public safety 10,642,757          1,344,309            709,851               -                      
Public works 4,998,747            1,888,491            -                      -                      
Parks and recreation 850,842               -                      -                      -                      
Tourism and arts 551,323               -                      -                      -                      
Community development 532,472               1,628,808            -                      -                      
Interest and fiscal agent fees 1,017,122            -                      -                      -                      

Total governmental activ ities 26,046,677          4,965,064            1,358,419            4,869,087            

Business-type activ ities
Utility administration 1,908,989            2,878,294            -                      -                      
Water 5,132,543            6,819,402            -                      358,783               
Wastewater 2,041,666            2,522,144            -                      582,194               
Gas 4,474,541            3,988,923            -                      48,818                 

Total business-type activ ities 13,557,739          16,208,763          -                          989,795               

Total primary government 39,604,416$        21,173,827$        1,358,419$          5,858,882$          

COMPONENT UNIT
Tomball Economic Development Corporation 2,857,077            -                          -                          -                          

2,857,077$          -     $                   -     $                   -     $                   

GENERAL REVENUES
Taxes:

Property taxes
Sales taxes
Franchise and other taxes

Gain on sale of capital assets
Contributions not restricted to specific programs
Special assessments
Unrestricted investment earnings
Other

Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position

NET POSITION, beginning of year - as prev iously reported
Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 (Note 1)
Prior period adjustment (Note 16)

NET POSITION, beginning of year - restated

NET POSITION, end of year

Program Revenues
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Component Unit
Tomball Economic

Governmental Business-type Development
Activities Activities Total Corporation

(1,832,303)$        -     $                   (1,832,303)$        -     $                          
(8,588,597)          -                          (8,588,597)          -                                 
(3,110,256)          -                          (3,110,256)          -                                 

(850,842)             -                          (850,842)             -                                 
(551,323)             -                          (551,323)             -                                 

1,096,336            -                          1,096,336            -                                 
(1,017,122)          -                          (1,017,122)          -                                 

(14,854,107)        -                          (14,854,107)        -                                 

-                          969,305               969,305               -                                 
-                          2,045,642            2,045,642            -                                 
-                          1,062,672            1,062,672            -                                 
-                          (436,800)             (436,800)             -                                 

-                          3,640,819            3,640,819            -                                 

(14,854,107)        3,640,819            (11,213,288)        -                                 

-                          -                          -                          (2,857,077)                 

-                          -                          -                          (2,857,077)                 

7,213,050            -                      7,213,050            -                             
13,361,050          -                      13,361,050          4,408,484                  
1,459,571            -                      1,459,571            -                             

260,345               195,593               455,938               583,290                     
782,885               370,000               1,152,885            16,000                       
769,412               -                      769,412               -                             
39,807                 6,041                   45,848                 87,766                       

533,098               661,412               1,194,510            336,228                     
1,206,112            (1,206,112)          -                          -                             

25,625,330          26,934                 25,652,264          5,431,768                  

10,771,223          3,667,753            14,438,976          2,574,691                  

71,779,751          44,706,859          116,486,610        24,785,941                
67,645                 -                          67,645                 -                                 

1,716,766            835,448               2,552,214            -                                 

73,564,162          45,542,307          119,106,469        24,785,941                

84,335,385$        49,210,060$        133,545,445$      27,360,632$              

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 17,889,912$        5,799,002$          
Investments 2,631,839            -                      
Receivables, net of allowance 2,796,633            -                      
Due from other governments 253,705               -                      
Due from component unit 174,256               68,356                 
Due from fiduciary 26,606                 -                      
Prepaid items 44,475                 -                      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - construction -                      -                      
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - deposits 7,885                   -                      

TOTAL ASSETS 23,825,311$        5,867,358$          

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 1,629,039$          -$                    
Accrued liabilities 731,502               -                      
Deposits payable 7,885                   -                      
Unearned revenue -                      -                      

Total liabilities 2,368,426            -                      

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 44,475                 -                      
Restricted:

Debt serv ice -                      5,867,358            
Construction -                      -                      
Court security -                      -                      
Court technology -                      -                      
Hotel occupancy tax -                      -                      
Child safety -                      -                      

Committed:
City programs -                      -                      

Assigned:
Special projects 101,936               -                      

Unassigned 21,310,474          -                      

Total fund balances 21,456,885          5,867,358            

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 23,825,311$        5,867,358$          

General Fund
Debt Service 

Fund
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Nonmajor Total

Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

4,304,204$          1,459,211$          1,207,265$          30,659,594$        
6,130,266            -                      -                      8,762,105            

-                      -                      -                      2,796,633            
-                      -                      -                      253,705               
-                      -                      -                      242,612               
-                      -                      -                      26,606                 
-                      -                      -                      44,475                 

4,533,021            -                      -                      4,533,021            
-                      -                      -                      7,885                   

14,967,491$        1,459,211$          1,207,265$          47,326,636$        

1,153,914$          -$                    23,593$               2,806,546$          
-                      -                      7,179                   738,681               
-                      -                      -                      7,885                   
-                      1,459,211            -                      1,459,211            

1,153,914            1,459,211            30,772                 5,012,323            

-                      -                      -                      44,475                 

-                      -                      -                      5,867,358            
13,813,577          -                      -                      13,813,577          

-                      -                      240,845               240,845               
-                      -                      152,675               152,675               
-                      -                      683,948               683,948               
-                      -                      14,385                 14,385                 

-                      -                      84,640                 84,640                 

-                      -                      -                      101,936               
-                      -                      -                      21,310,474          

13,813,577          -                      1,176,493            42,314,313          

14,967,491$        1,459,211$          1,207,265$          47,326,636$        

Capital Projects 
Fund

State and 
Federal Grants 

Fund
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Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 
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TOTAL FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 42,314,313$        

Amounts reported for governmental activ ities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activ ities are not current financial resources,
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.

Capital assets, cost 104,393,956$      
Capital assets, accumulated depreciation (25,269,329)        79,124,627          

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period, and therefore
are not reported in the fund financial statements.  The components of
long-term liabilities are:

Bonds payable, par (30,415,000)$      
Bonds payable, premiums (1,913,996)          
Accrued interest payable (129,714)             
Landfill post closure care costs (351,375)             
Compensated absences payable (1,801,201)          
Net pension liability (4,943,051)          
Total OPEB liability (3,058,362)          (42,612,699)        

The deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to the net pension liability
and the total OPEB liability are recognized on the statement of net position:

Deferred outflows - pensions  $         1,436,485 
Deferred outflows - OPEB                481,411 
Deferred inflows - pensions            (1,076,674)
Deferred inflows - OPEB               (349,530) 491,692               

Internal serv ice funds are used by management to charge the cost of certain
activ ities, such as fleet management and health benefits, to indiv idual funds.
A portion of the assets and liabilities of the internal serv ice funds are included
in the governmental activ ities in the statement of net position. 5,017,452            

TOTAL NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 84,335,385$        
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REVENUES
Property tax 3,511,280$          3,701,770$          
Sales tax 13,361,050          -                      
Franchise and other taxes 973,053               -                      
Licenses and permits 1,633,908            -                      
Fines and forfeitures 307,568               -                      
Charges for serv ices 3,013,862            -                      
Intergovernmental 1,358,419            -                      
Special assessments -                      -                      
Contributions from property owners -                      -                      
Contributions from component unit for debt serv ice -                      757,885               
Investment earnings (losses) (15,499)               1,647                   
Other 44,366                 4,142                   

Total revenues 24,188,007          4,465,444            

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 6,413,908            -                      
Public safety 10,111,561          -                      
Public works 4,633,013            -                      
Parks and recreation 850,842               -                      
Tourism and arts -                      -                      
Community development 382,201               -                      

Debt serv ice
Principal -                      2,540,000            
Interest -                      1,028,508            
Issuance costs and fiscal agent fees -                      186,875               

Capital outlay 75,172                 -                      

Total expenditures 22,466,697          3,755,383            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 1,721,310            710,061               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from issuance of refunding bonds -                      5,255,000            
Premiums on bonds issued -                      535,384               
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 27,469                 -                      
Insurance recoveries 219,612               -                      
Payments to refunding bond escrow agent -                      (5,652,859)          
Transfers in 2,771,041            -                      
Transfers out (672,012)             -                      

Total other financing 
  sources (uses) 2,346,110            137,525               

Net change in fund balances 4,067,420            847,586               

Fund balances, beginning of year - as previously reported 17,389,465          5,019,772            
Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 (Note 1) -                      -                      

Fund balances, beginning of year - restated 17,389,465          5,019,772            

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 21,456,885$        5,867,358$          

General Fund
Debt Service 

Fund
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Nonmajor Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

-$                    -$                    -$                    7,213,050$          
-                      -                      -                      13,361,050          
-                      -                      486,518               1,459,571            
-                      -                      -                      1,633,908            
-                      -                      34,726                 342,294               
-                      -                      -                      3,013,862            
-                      1,523,566            -                      2,881,985            
-                      -                      769,412               769,412               
-                      -                      1,906,073            1,906,073            
-                      -                      -                      757,885               

49,451                 807                      854                      37,260                 
380,014               -                      77,107                 505,629               

429,465               1,524,373            3,274,690            33,881,979          

-                      -                      924,235               7,338,143            
-                      -                      10,051                 10,121,612          
-                      -                      -                      4,633,013            
-                      -                      -                      850,842               
-                      -                      551,162               551,162               
-                      -                      -                      382,201               

-                      -                      -                      2,540,000            
-                      -                      -                      1,028,508            
-                      -                      -                      186,875               

11,762,372          1,523,566            1,906,073            15,267,183          

11,762,372          1,523,566            3,391,521            42,899,539          

(11,332,907)        807                      (116,831)             (9,017,560)          

-                      -                      -                      5,255,000            
-                      -                      -                      535,384               
-                      -                      -                      27,469                 
-                      -                      -                      219,612               
-                      -                      -                      (5,652,859)          

827,682               -                      126,000               3,724,723            
(600,000)             (807)                    (163,486)             (1,436,305)          

227,682               (807)                    (37,486)               2,673,024            

(11,105,225)        -                      (154,317)             (6,344,536)          

24,918,802          -                      1,263,165            48,591,204          
-                      -                      67,645                 67,645                 

24,918,802          -                      1,330,810            48,658,849          

13,813,577$        -$                    1,176,493$          42,314,313$        

Capital Projects 
Fund

State and 
Federal Grants 

Fund
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (6,344,536)$        

Amounts reported for governmental activ ities in the statement of activ ities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of 
activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported 
as depreciation expense.  This is the amount of capital asset additions recorded in the current period. 15,768,230          

Depreciation expense on capital assets is reported in the statement of activ ities, but does 
not require the use of current financial resources.  Therefore, depreciation expense is not 
reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (1,800,580)          

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involv ing capital assets (i.e., sales, disposals,
and transfers) is not reported in the governmental funds. (79,601)               

The issuance of long term debt prov ides current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing
debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of bond and other debt
principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the 
statement of net position.  Also, governmental funds report the effect of bond premiums, discounts, and
similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement
of activ ities.  The effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items was:

Proceeds from issuance of refunding bonds (5,255,000)$        
Premiums on bonds issued (535,384)             
Payments to refunding bond escrow agent 5,652,859            
Amortization of premium on bonds payable 146,430               
Amortization of deferred loss on refunding (3,629)                 
Accrued interest payable decreased 53,088                 
Principal paid on bonds 2,540,000            2,598,364            

Some expenses reported in the statement of activ ities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. The
following long-term liabilities (increased) / decreased:

Landfill post closure care costs (6,000)$               
Compensated absences 27,837                 
Net pension liability 337,847               
Total OPEB liability (360,504)             (820)                    

Some deferred outflows and deferred inflows reported in the statement of activ ities do not require the
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as revenues or expenditures in
the governmental funds. The following deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources changed:

Deferred outflows of resources - pensions (167,449)$           
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB 192,236               
Deferred inflows of resources - pensions 125,627               
Deferred inflows of resources - OPEB 66,730                 217,144               

An internal serv ice fund is used by management to charge the cost of certain activ ites, such as fleet
management and health benefits, to indiv idual funds.  A portion of the change in the net position
of the internal serv ice funds is included in governmental activ ities in the statement of activ ities. 413,022               

Change in net position - governmental activ ities 10,771,223$        
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Business-type Governmental
Activities Activities

Enterprise Fund Internal Service
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9,663,869$          3,113,258$          
Receivables, net of allowance 1,614,069            -                      
Prepaid items -                      271,959               

Total current assets 11,277,938          3,385,217            

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - deposits 519,801               -                      

Capital assets
Capital assets - nondepreciable 2,350,178            -                      
Capital assets - depreciable, net 37,707,429          3,125,002            

Net capital assets 40,057,607          3,125,002            

Total noncurrent assets 40,577,408          3,125,002            

Total assets 51,855,346          6,510,219            

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions 241,430               -                      
Other post employment benefits 101,961               -                      

Total deferred outflows of resources 343,391               -                      

Total assets and deferred outflows
  of resources 52,198,737          6,510,219            

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 625,207               63,579                 
Accrued liabilities 162,031               -                      
Due to other governments -                      5,194                   
Deposits payable 519,801               -                      
Accrued interest payable -                      37,853                 
Public property finance contract obligation, current -                      130,000               
Compensated absences, current 80,498                 -                      

Total current liabilities 1,387,537            236,626               

Noncurrent liabilities
Public property finance contract obligation -                      909,868               
Compensated absences 187,828               -                      
Net pension liability 830,778               -                      
Total OPEB liability 668,252               -                      

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,686,858            909,868               

Total liabilities 3,074,395            1,146,494            

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pensions 180,956               -                      
Other post employment benefits 79,599                 -                      

Total deferred inflows of resources 260,555               -                      

Total liabilities and deferred inflows
  of resources 3,334,950            1,146,494            

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 40,057,607 2,085,134            
Unrestricted 8,806,180            3,278,591            

TOTAL NET POSITION 48,863,787 5,363,725$          

Reconciliation to government-wide statement of net position
Adjustment to report the cumulative internal balance for the net effect of the activ ity
  between the internal serv ice funds and the enterprise fund over time 346,273

NET POSITION OF BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 49,210,060$        
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Business Type Governmental
Activities Activities

Enterprise  Internal Service
Fund Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for sales and serv ices

Water sales 6,819,402$          -$                    
Sewer sales 2,522,144            -                      
Gas sales 3,988,923            -                      
Internal serv ice charges -                      3,539,195            

Impact fees 2,878,294            -                      
Other 661,412               -                      

Total operating revenues 16,870,175          3,539,195            

OPERATING EXPENSES
Materials, supplies and contracted serv ices 9,934,516            2,614,909            
Personnel serv ices 2,064,251            -                      
Depreciation 1,638,576            507,952               

Total operating expenses 13,637,343          3,122,861            

Operating income 3,232,832            416,334               

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment earnings 6,041                   2,547                   
Intergovernmental -                      72,284                 
Contributions from component unit for debt serv ice 370,000               -                      
Interest -                      (39,272)               
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 195,593               40,733                 

Total nonoperating revenues  (expenses) 571,634               76,292                 

Income before transfers and capital contributions 3,804,466            492,626               

Capital asset contributions from governmental activ ities 1,082,306            -                      
Capital asset contributions from developers 989,795               -                      
Transfers in 600,000               -                      
Transfers out (2,888,418)          -                      

Change in net positon 3,588,149            492,626               

Net position, beginning of year - as previously reported 44,440,190          4,798,815            
Prior period adjustment (Note 16) 835,448               72,284                 

Net position, beginning of year - restated 45,275,638          4,871,099            

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 48,863,787$        5,363,725$          

RECONCILIATION TO GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Change in net position 3,588,149$          
Adjustment for the net effect of the current year activ ity between
  the internal serv ice fund and the enterprise fund 79,604                 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES 3,667,753$          
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Business Type Governmental
Activities Activities
Enterprise Internal Service

Fund Fund

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 15,826,640$        -$                    
Receipts from interfund charges -                      3,586,512            
Payments to suppliers and serv ice providers (9,747,791)          (2,664,860)          
Payments to employees for salaries and benefits (2,089,350)          -                      
Other receipts 661,412               -                      

Net cash prov ided by operating activ ities 4,650,911            921,652               

NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from other funds 600,000               -                      
Transfers to other funds (2,888,418)          -                      

Net cash used for noncapital financing activ ities (2,288,418)          -                      

CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (38,042)               (1,000,728)          
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 129,781               43,575                 
Proceeds from insurance 75,445                 -                      
Receipts from component unit for debt serv ice 370,000               -                      
Principal paid on long-term debt -                      (130,000)             
Interest paid on long-term debt -                      (43,359)               
Intergovernmental capital grants -                      72,284                 

Net cash prov ided by (used for) capital and
related financing activ ities 537,184               (1,058,228)          

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment earnings 6,041                   2,547                   

Net cash prov ided by investing activ ities 6,041                   2,547                   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,905,718            (134,029)             

Cash and cash equivalents,  beginning of year 7,277,952            3,247,287            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 10,183,670$        3,113,258$          

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
  TO STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Cash and cash equivalents 9,663,869$          3,113,258$          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 519,801               -                      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,183,670$        3,113,258$          
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Business Type Governmental
Activities Activities
Enterprise Internal Service

Fund Fund

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET 
  CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 3,232,832$          416,334$             
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
  cash prov ided by operating activ ities:

Depreciation 1,638,576            507,952               
(Increase) decrease in assets and deferred outflows

Accounts receivable (13,152)               -                      
Due from other governments -                      47,317                 
Inventory 96,481                 -                      
Prepaid items -                      (62,788)               
Deferred outflows of resources - pension and OPEB 88,092                 -                      

Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows
Accounts payable 90,244                 7,643                   
Accrued liabilities 43,796                 -                      
Due to other governments -                      5,194                   
Deposits payable (368,971)             -                      
Compensated absences (50,785)               -                      
Pension and OPEB liability (70,103)               -                      
Deferred inflows of resources - pension and OPEB (36,099)               -                      

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,650,911$          921,652$             

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital asset contributions from governmental activ ities 1,082,306$          -$                    
Capital asset contributions from developers 989,795$             -$                    

 
 

Page 216



City of Tomball, Texas 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
Fiduciary Fund 
September 30, 2021 
 

The Notes to the Basic Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement. 
40 

Public Improvement
Districts

Custodial Fund
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 265,724$                     

Total assets 265,724                       

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Due to other governments 26,606                         

Total liabilities 26,606                         

NET POSITION
Restricted for debt serv ice 239,118                       

TOTAL NET POSITION 239,118$                     
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Public Improvement
Districts

Custodial Fund
ADDITIONS

Developer contributions 519,312$                     
Contributions from property owners 315,686                       
Investment earnings 81                                
Other 16,397                         

Total additions 851,476                       

DEDUCTIONS
Materials, supplies and contracted serv ices 69,627                         
Payments to bondholders 87,236                         
Contributions to City 428,889                       

Total deductions 585,752                       

Change in net positon 265,724                       

Net position, beginning of year -                               
Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 (Note 1) (26,606)                        

Net position, beginning of year - restated (26,606)                        

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 239,118$                     
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Note 1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
A. Financial Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Tomball, Texas, (the "City") was incorporated on July 18, 1933.   The City has operated under a 
“Home Rule Charter”, which provides for a Council-City Manager form of government, since 1987.  The 
City Council is the principle legislative body of the City. 
 
The City Manager is appointed by a majority vote of the City Council and is responsible to the Council for 
the administration of all the affairs of the City. The City Manager is responsible for the appointment and 
removal of department directors and employees, supervision and control of all City departments, and 
preparation of the annual budget. 
 
The City provides the following services: public safety to include police and fire services; municipal court; 
streets; drainage; water, wastewater and gas services; solid waste collection and disposal; community 
development; and general administration. 
 
The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by an elected council and 
a mayor and is considered a primary government. As required by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), these basic financial statements have been prepared 
based on considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations, or functions 
as part of the City's financial reporting entity utilizing criteria prescribed by GAAP. These same criteria are 
evaluated in considering whether the City is a part of any other governmental or other type of reporting 
entity. The overriding elements associated with prescribed criteria considered in determining that the 
City's financial reporting entity status is that of a primary government are that it has a separately elected 
governing body; it is legally separate; and it is fiscally independent of other state and local governments. 
Additionally, prescribed criteria under GAAP include considerations pertaining to organizations for which 
the primary government is financially accountable and considerations pertaining to organizations for 
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that 
exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
 
The Tomball Economic Development Corporation, Employee Benefits Trust, and Tomball Legacy Fund, 
Inc., although legally separate organizations, are considered part of the reporting entity. No other entities 
have been included in the City's reporting entity. Additionally, as the City is considered a primary 
government for financial reporting purposes, its activities are not considered a part of any other 
governmental or other type of reporting entity. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Unit 
 
Tomball Economic Development Corporation 
The Tomball Economic Development Corporation (the Corporation) was formed in 1994 pursuant to the 
Development Corporation Act of 1979 (the Act), governed under Section 4B of the Act. It receives and 
utilizes the proceeds of a one-half cent sales tax to promote and assist in the economic development of 
the City. The seven directors of the Corporation are appointed by the governing body of the City. 
Directors are removable by the governing body of the City at any time without cause.  Separately issued 
audited financial statements are not available for the Corporation. Financial information for the 
Corporation may be obtained from the following address: 
 

Tomball Economic Development Corporation 
401 West Market Street 
Tomball, Texas 77375 
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Blended Component Units 
 
Employee Benefits Trust 
The Employee Benefits Trust (the Trust) has been included in the reporting entity as a blended component 
unit. The Trust is a revocable trust and a not-for-profit entity and is organized under Section 222.002(c)(5) 
of the Texas Insurance Code. The Trust's Board of Trustees are the members of City Council. The Trust is 
organized for the purpose of providing or offering City officers, employees, and qualified retirees and their 
dependents with life, disability, sickness, accident, and other health benefits either directly or through the 
purchase of insurance. The operations of the Trust are presented as a proprietary fund type in the Health 
Benefits internal service fund.  The Trust does not issue separate financial statements. 
 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. has been included in the reporting entity as a blended component unit. 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. is a not-for-profit 501(c)3 foundation managed by a seven-member Board of 
Directors consisting of the Mayor and City Council of the City of Tomball, plus one appointed individual. 
Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. was established to allow the City to receive private and corporate grant funds 
to be used on behalf of the City. The operations of Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. are presented as a 
governmental fund type in a special revenue fund.  Tomball Legacy Fund, Inc. does not issue separate 
financial statements. 
 
B. Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) report information about the City as a whole. These statements include all activities of the 
primary government and its discretely presented component unit. Governmental activities, which 
normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues and other nonexchange transactions, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges 
to external customers for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from discretely 
presented component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.  
 
While separate government‐wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated. The 
governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements incorporates data from 
governmental funds and internal service funds, while business‐type activities incorporate data from the 
City's enterprise fund. 
 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes where the amounts are 
reasonably equivalent in value to the interfund services provided and other charges between the City's 
business-type and governmental activities. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and 
program revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
C. Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s funds, including its blended 
component units. Separate statements for each fund category—governmental, proprietary and 
fiduciary—are presented, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial 
statements. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, 
each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated 
and reported as nonmajor funds. 
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Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions are typically financed.  
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is used to account for all financial transactions not reported in other funds. The 
principal sources of revenues include local property taxes, sales and franchise taxes, licenses and 
permits, fines and forfeitures, and charges for services. Expenditures include general government, 
public safety, public works, parks and recreation, community development, and capital outlay. 
 
The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the payment of interest and principal on all general 
obligation bonds and other long-term debt of the City. The principal source of revenue for debt 
service is local property taxes.  
 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the expenditures of resources accumulated from the 
sale of bonds, appropriations of local resources from other funds and related interest earnings for 
capital improvement projects, other than Public Improvement Districts (PIDs), within the City. Capital 
projects activities related to PIDs within the City are accounted for in a separate, nonmajor capital 
projects fund as described below.  
 
The State and Federal Grants Fund is used to account for the expenditures of resources awarded or 
provided for state and federal grant programs.  
 

In addition, the City reports the following nonmajor fund types: 
 

Special revenue funds are governmental funds used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue 
sources that are legally restricted or committed to expenditures for specific purposes other than debt 
service or capital projects. The City’s special revenue funds are aggregated and reported as 
nonmajor funds. 
 
Capital projects fund - PID is used to account for the acquisition and construction of capital facilities 
and improvements relating to the PIDs within the City. 

 
Proprietary funds are used to account for activities that are similar to those often found in the private 
sector, and include all assets, liabilities, deferred outflows and inflow of resources, net position, revenues, 
expenses and interfund transfers related to enterprise funds and internal service funds. 
 
The City reports the following proprietary funds: 
 

The Enterprise Fund is a major fund used to account for the City’s water, wastewater and gas 
operations. The services are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises 
where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses including depreciation) of 
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis will be financed or recovered 
primarily through user charges. 
 
The Internal Service Fund is a type of proprietary fund used to account for the financing of goods or 
services provided by one department or program to other departments or programs of the City on a 
cost-reimbursement basis. Goods and services provided by the internal service fund include fleet 
replacement and employee health benefits. 
 

The City reports the following fiduciary funds: 
 

The Public Improvement Districts Custodial Fund accounts for private developer contributions, bond 
proceeds, assessments, and related debt associated with the issuance of bonds issued by the City as 
the custodian for the PIDs within the City.  
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D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus 
and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as 
current financial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of 
transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements. 
 
The government-wide, proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the 
related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants 
and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met. 
 
The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measurable and available.  “Measurable” means that the amount of the transaction can 
be determined and “available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to 
pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City generally considers revenues to be available 
if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, as required under accrual accounting. However, debt service 
expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, and claims and judgments, are 
recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as 
other financing sources. 
 
Interest associated with the current period is considered to be susceptible to accrual, and has been 
recognized as revenues of the current period. Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all eligibility 
requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the amount is received during the period or 
within the availability period. Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying 
expenditures have been incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount 
is received during the period or within the availability period. All other revenue items, including property 
taxes, are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 
 
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Position/Fund Balance 
 
1. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, bank demand or time deposits, 
money market mutual funds and local government investment pools with original maturities of three 
months or less from the date of acquisition. The investment pools operate in accordance with appropriate 
state laws and regulations and are reported at amortized cost or net asset value. For the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund types consider temporary investments with maturity of three 
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 
2. Investments 
Investments for the City are reported at fair value. 
 
3. Restricted Cash and Investments 
The City has restricted certain cash and investments for refundable customer deposits.  The remaining 
unspent proceeds from bonded debt are restricted in the capital projects fund.  
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4. Receivables 
All receivables are reported at their gross value and, where appropriate, are reduced by the estimated 
portion that is expected to be uncollectible. Estimated unbilled revenues from the Enterprise Fund are 
recognized at the end of each fiscal year on a pro rata basis, based on billings during the month following 
the close of the fiscal year.  
 
5. Inventories and Prepaid Items 
Inventories consist of expendable supplies (stock / parts) held for consumption, and the cost thereof is 
recorded as an expense/expenditure at the time the inventory items are used (consumption method).  
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items is 
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased. 
 
6. Capital Assets 
Capital assets, including land, construction in progress, buildings and improvements, machinery and 
equipment, vehicles, infrastructure (e.g., roads, bridges and similar items) and water, wastewater and gas 
system, are reported in the applicable governmental or business‐type activities column in the 
government‐wide financial statements and are reported in the proprietary fund statements. Capital 
assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $20,000, and an 
estimated useful life in excess of one year.  
 
In the case of the initial capitalization of infrastructure assets, the City chose to include all such items 
regardless of their acquisition date or amount. The City was able to estimate the historical cost for the 
initial reporting of some of these assets through back trending (i.e., estimating the current replacement 
cost of the infrastructure to be capitalized and using an appropriate price-level index to deflate the cost 
to the acquisition year or estimated acquisition year). As the City constructs or acquires additional capital 
assets each period, including infrastructure assets, they are capitalized and reported at historical cost. 
The reported value excludes normal maintenance and repairs which are essentially amounts spent in 
relation to capital assets that do not increase the capacity or efficiency of the item or increase its 
estimated useful life. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date 
of donation. 
 
Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. The remaining capital assets of the City are 
depreciated using the straight line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Estimated
Capital Asset Classification Useful Life

Buildings and improvements 20 to 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 to 40 years
Vehicles 3 to 15 years
Infrastucture 40 to 50 years
Water, wastewater and gas system 20 to 40 years

 
7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) 
and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditures) until then. Deferred inflows 
of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. 
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The City has the following items that qualify for reporting in these categories: 
 

 Deferred outflows of resources - contributions to the pension and OPEB plans after the 
measurement date of each plan are recognized as reductions of the applicable liability in the 
subsequent year. 

 Deferred outflows/inflows of resources from other pension and OPEB activities are amortized over 
the weighted average remaining service life of all participants in the respective qualified pension 
plan and OPEB plan, except for projected and actual earnings differences on investments which 
are amortized on a closed basis over a 5-year period. 

 
8. Compensated Absences 
The City’s policy permits employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation, sick and compensatory 
time benefits.  Eligible time accumulated, up to certain limits, may be paid to employees upon separation 
from service.  
 
The liability for such leave is reported as incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements. A liability for those amounts is recorded in the governmental funds only if the liability has 
matured as a result of employee resignations or retirements. The liability for compensated absences 
includes salary-related benefits, where applicable. 
 
9. Landfill Post-Closure Care Costs 
The City reports municipal solid waste landfill costs in accordance with Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and 
Post-Closure Care Costs.  The liability for landfill post-closure costs is reported as long-term debt.  
 
10. Pensions 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, pension related deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources, and pension expense, City specific information about its fiduciary net position in the Texas 
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from the City’s fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan 
contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when 
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
11. Other Post-Employment Benefits 
The City participates in two single-employer defined benefit other post-employment benefit (OPEB) plans 
(the Plans). For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, OPEB related deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources, and OPEB expense have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the 
Plans. For this purpose, benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms for the Plans. 
 
12. Net Position Policies 
Net position within the government-wide, proprietary fund and custodial fund financial statements is 
reported in various categories based on the nature of any limitations requiring the use of resources for 
specific purposes. The City classifies net position as follows: 
 

Net investment in capital assets – the component of net position that reports capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, and net of related debt, excluding unspent proceeds, that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these capital assets. 
 
Restricted - the component of net position that is constrained for specific purposes which are 
externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts restricted due to constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.   
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Unrestricted - the component of net position that includes the residual difference between assets, 
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources that is not classified in the 
categories mentioned above.   

 
13. Net Position Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or 
grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net 
position and unrestricted net position in the government‐wide, proprietary fund financial statements, a 
flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  
 
It is the City’s policy to consider restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestricted net 
position is applied. 
 
14. Fund Balance Policies 
Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any 
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The City classifies governmental fund 
balances as follows: 
 

Nonspendable – includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable 
form, or, for legal or contractual reasons, must be kept intact.  This classification includes prepaid items 
and inventories.  
  
Restricted – includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes which are 
externally imposed by providers, such as creditors or amounts restricted due to constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation.   
  
Committed – includes amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally imposed 
by the City through formal action of the City’s highest level of decision-making authority. The City 
Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the City that can, by action or adoption 
of a resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation 
imposed by City Council action or the resolution remains in place until a similar action is taken (the 
action or adoption of another resolution) to remove or revise the limitation. 
  
Assigned – includes fund balance amounts that are self-imposed by the City to be used for specific 
purposes, but do not meet the criteria to be classified as nonspendable, restricted or committed. City 
Council has, by policy, authorized the City Manager or his/her designee to assign fund balance. City 
Council may also assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap 
between estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent year’s appropriated budget. 
Unlike commitments, assignments generally exist temporarily. In other words, an additional action 
does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an assignment. Conversely, as discussed 
above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise a commitment. 
  
Unassigned – includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been 
classified within the other above mentioned categories.  The general fund should be the only fund 
that reports a positive unassigned fund balance.  Unassigned fund balance may also include deficit 
balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted, committed, or 
assigned for those specific purposes. 

 
  

Page 226



City of Tomball, Texas 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
 

 
50 

The City strives to maintain an unassigned fund balance of not less than 25 percent of the budgeted 
operational expenditures in all City funds.  Due to the volatile nature of a majority of its revenues, it is not 
deemed excessive for the City to maintain an unassigned fund balance in the general fund at levels 
greater than 33 percent of the budgeted operational expenditures.  The purpose of this unassigned 
balance is to alleviate significant unanticipated budget shortfalls and to ensure the orderly provisions of 
service to citizens.  Should unassigned fund balance fall below the goal or have a deficiency, the City will 
seek to reduce expenditures prior to increasing revenues to replenish fund balance within a reasonable 
timeframe. 
 
15. Fund Balance Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the 
amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental 
fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are 
considered to be applied. It is the City’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted 
before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the components of 
unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 
followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 
 
F. Revenues and Expenditures / Expenses 
 
1. Program Revenues 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, 
use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) 
grants and contributions (including special assessments) that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific 
purposes, and other internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as 
program revenues. 
 
2. Property Taxes 
Property values are determined by the Harris County Appraisal District as of January 1 of each year. Prior 
to October 1 of each year, the City must adopt its annual budget and as soon thereafter as practicable, 
shall adopt a tax rate thus creating the tax levy. Property taxes for the current calendar year are levied 
on approximately October 1 of each year and are payable by January 31 of the following year. Property 
tax receivables are recorded as of the date levied. Unpaid taxes become delinquent on February 1 and 
a tax lien on real property is created as of July 1 of each year. 
 
3. Proprietary Fund Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services. The enterprise fund also recognizes 
as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers 
to the system. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of sales 
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
G. Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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H. Implementation of New Accounting Standards 
 
GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities (GASB 84), establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities 
of all state and local governments.  The focus of the criteria generally is on 1) whether a government is 
controlling the assets of the fiduciary activity and 2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship 
exists.  Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit 
arrangements that are fiduciary activities.  The requirements of this statement were originally effective for 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018; however, issuance of GASB Statement No. 95, 
Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance (GASB 95), extended the 
effective date of GASB 84 to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with earlier application 
encouraged. GASB 84 was implemented in the City’s 2021 financial statements, resulting in a cumulative 
effect adjustment of $67,645 as of October 1, 2020, to fund balance / net position in the non-major 
governmental funds and governmental activities, as well as a cumulative effect adjustment of ($26,606) 
as of October 1, 2020, to net position in the fiduciary fund, due to reclassification of certain fiduciary 
activities to conform to the new standard. 
 
I. Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements 
 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases (GASB 87), establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset.  Under GASB 87, 
a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is 
required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the 
relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.  The requirements of this 
statement were originally effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019; however, 
issuance of GASB 95 extended the effective date of GASB 87 to reporting periods beginning after June 
15, 2021, with earlier application encouraged.  GASB 87 will be implemented in the City’s fiscal year 2022 
financial statements and the impact has not yet been determined.   
 
GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period 
(GASB 89), establishes accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction 
period.  Such interest cost includes all interest that previously was accounted for in accordance with the 
requirements of paragraphs 5-22 of GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which are 
superseded by GASB 89.  The requirements of this statement were originally effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019; however, issuance of GASB 95 extended the effective date of GASB 
89 to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with earlier application encouraged. GASB 
89 will be implemented in the City’s fiscal year 2022 financial statements and the impact has not yet been 
determined.   
 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements (GASB 94), improves financial reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and 
public-public partnership arrangements and provides guidance for accounting and financial reporting 
for availability payment arrangements.  The requirements of this statement are effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2022, with earlier application encouraged.  GASB 94 will be implemented 
in the City’s fiscal year 2023 financial statements and the impact has not yet been determined.   
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GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (GASB 96), provides 
guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology 
arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users.  This statement 1) defines a SBITA; 2) establishes that a 
SBITA results in a right-to-use subscription asset – an intangible asset - and a corresponding subscription 
liability; 3) provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments; and 4) requires 
note disclosures regarding a SBITA.  The requirements of this statement are effective for reporting periods 
beginning after June 15, 2022, with earlier application encouraged.  GASB 96 will be implemented in the 
City’s fiscal year 2023 financial statements and the impact has not yet been determined.   
 
Note 2.   Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability  
 
Budget 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the 
general fund, debt service fund, special general fund, court security fund, court technology fund, hotel 
occupancy tax fund, child safety fund, and Tomball fun runs fund. The capital projects funds and the 
state and federal grant major special revenue fund are appropriated on a project-length basis.  
 
The original budget is adopted by the City Council prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.  The legal level 
of budgetary control as defined by the City Charter is the department level in the general fund, and fund 
level for all other funds.  The City Manager may transfer appropriations within departments without seeking 
approval from City Council.   
 
Encumbrances 
Encumbrances are commitments related to unperformed (executory) contracts for goods or services (i.e., 
purchase orders, contracts, and commitments). Encumbrance accounting is utilized to the extent 
necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and to facilitate effective cash 
planning and control. While all appropriations and encumbrances lapse at year end, valid outstanding 
encumbrances (those for which performance under the executory contract is expected in the next year) 
are re-appropriated and become part of the subsequent year’s budget. Appropriations in all budgeted 
funds lapse at the end of the fiscal year even if they have related encumbrances. 
 
As of September 30, 2021, the City had the following outstanding encumbrances that were re-
appropriated in the subsequent year: 

Encumbrances 
Included in
Restricted

Fund Balance

Capital projects fund 3,342,962$              

Total encumbrances 3,342,962$              
 

Note 3.   Deposits and Investments 
 
A. Cash Deposits 
 
The City's funds are required to be deposited and invested under the terms of a depository contract 
pursuant to the Texas Public Funds Collateral Act. The depository bank pledges securities which comply 
with state law and these securities are held for safekeeping and trust with the City's and the depository 
banks' agent bank. The pledged securities shall be in an amount sufficient to protect City funds on a  
day-to-day basis during the period of the contract. The pledge of approved securities is waived only to 
the extent of the depository bank’s dollar amount of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) 
insurance. 
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Custodial Credit Risk - Cash Deposits 
In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be 
returned to it.  As of September 30, 2021, the City’s bank balances were $6.45 million, which exceeded 
FDIC coverage and collateral by approximately $736 thousand at one of its depository banks.   
 
B. Investments 
 
The Public Funds Investment Act (PFIA) (Government Code Chapter 2256) contains specific provisions in 
the areas of investment practices, management reports and establishment of appropriate policies. 
Among other things, it requires the City to adopt, implement, and publicize an investment policy. That 
policy must address the following areas: (1) safety of principal and liquidity, (2) portfolio diversification, (3) 
allowable investments, (4) acceptable risk levels, (5) expected rates of return, (6) maximum allowable 
stated maturity of portfolio investments, (7) maximum average dollar-weighted maturity, allowed based 
on the stated maturity date for the portfolio, (8) investment staff quality and capabilities, (9) and bid 
solicitation preferences for certificates of deposit. 
 
The City is authorized to invest in the following instruments provided that they meet the guidelines of the 
investment policy: 
 

1. Obligations of, or guaranteed by governmental entities as permitted by Government Code 
2256.009 

2. Certificates of deposit and share certificates as permitted by Government Code 2256.010 
3. Fully collateralized repurchase agreements permitted by Government Code 2256.011 
4. Commercial paper as permitted by Government Code 2256.013 
5. No-load money market mutual funds and no-load mutual funds as permitted by Government 

Code 2256.014 
6. Public funds investment pools as permitted by Government Code 2256.016. 

 
The Council has adopted a written investment policy regarding the investment of City funds as required 
by the PFIA. The City’s investment policy is more restrictive than the PFIA requires. The City’s investment 
policy does not allow investments in bankers’ acceptances.  
 
Cash, cash equivalents and investments as of September 30, 2021 are classified in the financial statements 
as follows: 
 

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

Restricted Cash 
and Cash 

Equivalents Investments

Governmental funds 30,659,594$        4,540,906$          8,762,105$          
Internal serv ice fund 3,113,258            -                      -                      

Total governmental activ ities 33,772,852          4,540,906            8,762,105            

Enterprise fund 9,663,869            519,801               -                      

Total business-type activ ities 9,663,869            519,801               -                      

Total Primary Government 43,436,721$        5,060,707$          8,762,105$          

Total Discretely Presented Component Unit 9,323,399$          -$                    9,506,259$          
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As of September 30, 2021, the City had the following cash, cash equivalents and investments: 
 

Weighted Credit Credit
Average Risk Risk

Fair Value Maturity Rating Rating
Amount % Level 2 (Years) S&P Moodys

Primary Government
Investments measured at fair value:

Municipal bonds 7,752,238$    88% 7,752,238      1.8                 AA- to AAA Aa3 to Aaa
U.S. agency bonds 1,009,867      12% 1,009,867      3.7                 AA+ Aaa

Total investments 8,762,105$    100% 8,762,105      2.0                 

Cash 4,234,959$    
Cash equivalents:

Local government investment pools:
TexPool 31,881,662    AAAm
TexPool Prime 4,533,021      AAAm
Texas CLASS 5,800,789      AAAm

Money market 2,046,997      

Total cash and cash equivalents 48,497,428$  

Discretely Presented Component Unit
Investments measured at fair value:

Municipal bonds 8,496,392$    89% 8,496,392      1.2                 AA to AAA A1 to Aaa
U.S. agency bonds 1,009,867      11% 1,009,867      3.7                 AA+ Aaa

Total investments 9,506,259$    100% 9,506,259      1.5                 

Cash 339,696$       
Cash equivalents:

Local government investment pools:
TexPool 8,007,604      AAAm
Texas CLASS 976,099         AAAm

Total cash and cash equivalents 9,323,399$    
 

Fair Value Measurement 
The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, 
provides a framework for measuring fair value which establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that 
describes the inputs that are used to measure assets and liabilities. 
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that 
a government can access at the measurement date. 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs—other than quoted prices included within Level 1—that are observable 
for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 
 
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs. 
If a price for an identical asset or liability is not observable, a government should measure fair value using 
another valuation technique that maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use 
of unobservable inputs. If the fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using inputs from more than 
one level of the fair value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority 
level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 
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Municipal bonds and U.S. agency bonds classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using 
a matrix pricing technique. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship 
to benchmark quoted prices. 
 
Local Government Investment Pools 
Local government investment pools are considered cash equivalents and are measured at either 
amortized cost or net asset value (NAV), depending on the valuation policies of the underlying portfolio. 
 
TexPool and TexPool Prime 
TexPool is duly chartered and overseen by the State Comptroller’s Office, administered and managed 
by Federated Investors, Inc.  State Street Bank serves as the custodial bank. The TexPool portfolio consists 
of U.S. Government securities; collateralized repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements; and AAA 
rated money market mutual funds. The TexPool Prime portfolio consists of these instruments as well as 
commercial paper and certificates of deposit. 
 
TexPool and TexPool Prime transact at a net asset value of $1.00 per share, have a weighted average 
maturity of 60 days or less and weighted average life of 120 days or less, investments held are highly rated 
by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization, have no more than 5% of portfolio with one issuer 
(excluding US government securities), and can meet reasonably foreseeable redemptions. The 
investment pools have a redemption notice period of one day and no maximum transaction amounts. 
The investment pools’ authorities may only impose restrictions on redemptions in the event of a general 
suspension of trading on major securities market, general banking moratorium or national or state 
emergency that affects the pools’ liquidity. 
 
Texas Cooperative Liquid Asset Securities System Trust (Texas CLASS) 
Texas CLASS was created in accordance with the requirements contained in section 2256.016 of the PFIA.  
The Texas CLASS Trust Agreement is an agreement of indefinite term regarding the investment, 
reinvestment, and withdrawal of local government funds. The parties to the Trust Agreement are Texas 
local government entities that choose to participate in the Trust (the Participants), Public Trust Advisors, 
LLC (Public Trust) as Program Administrator, and Wells Fargo Bank Texas, N.A. as Custodian.   
 
Texas CLASS is an external investment pool measured at fair value, i.e. net asset value. The investment 
pool’s strategy is to seek preservation of principal, liquidity and current income through investment in a 
diversified portfolio of short term marketable securities. Texas CLASS has a redemption notice period of 
one day and may redeem daily. The investment pool’s authorities may only impose restrictions on 
redemptions in the event of a general suspension of trading on major securities market, general banking 
moratorium or national or state emergency that affects the pool’s liquidity. The Texas CLASS portfolio 
consists of U.S. Government securities; collateralized repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements; 
AAA rated money market mutual funds; and commercial paper. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater the sensitivity of its fair value 
to changes in market interest rates. The City monitors interest rate risk utilizing weighted average maturity 
analysis and specific identification. In accordance with its investment policy, the City reduces its exposure 
to declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of any internally created pool to no 
more than 90 days and any individual investment not to exceed four years from the date of purchase, 
unless approved by the governing body. During the year ended September 30, 2021, the City did not 
invest in any securities which were highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. 
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Credit Risk 
Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of 
the investment. The minimum rating required by the Public Funds Investment Act for local government 
investment pools is AAA or AAAm.  Obligations of federal, state or local government securities and must 
be rated as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than A or its 
equivalent.  During the year ended September 30, 2021, the City was not significantly exposed to credit 
risk, and its investment pools, municipal bonds and U.S. agency bonds met the minimum required rating 
as noted in the preceding table. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
The investment policy of the City requires the investment portfolio to be diversified in terms of investment 
instruments, maturity scheduling, and financial institutions in order to reduce the risk of loss resulting from 
over-concentration of assets in a specific class of investments, specific maturity, or specific issuer. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the City's investment policy requires all security 
transactions that are exposed to custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) 
basis with the underlying investments held by a third party custodian. 
 
Note 4.   Receivables 
 
Receivables at September 30, 2021, consist of the following: 
 

Business-Type
Activ ities Tomball

Debt Total Economic
General Serv ice Governmental Enterprise Development

Fund Fund Funds Fund Corporation

Property taxes 69,389$       105,106$     174,495$          -$            -$                 
Sales and other taxes 2,465,158    -              2,465,158         -              782,624           
Utility receivable 387,026       -              387,026            2,000,028    -                   
Other 91,491         -              91,491              5,157           213,234           
Due from other governments 253,705       -              253,705            -              -                   
Due from component unit 174,256       68,356         242,612            -              -                   
Due from fiduciary 26,606         -              26,606              -              -                   
Less: allowance for uncollectibles (216,431)     (105,106)     (321,537)           (391,116)     -                   

Totals 3,251,200$  68,356$       3,319,556$       1,614,069$  995,858$         

Governmental Activ ities
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Note 5.   Capital Assets 
 
Changes in the capital assets for governmental activities for the year ended September 30, 2021, are 
summarized as follows:  
 

Beginning Reclass and Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Governmental activ ities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 7,982,088$     -$                -$                -$                7,982,088$     
Construction in progress 19,191,012     12,378,223     -                  (15,721,664)    15,847,571     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 27,173,100     12,378,223     -                  (15,721,664)    23,829,659     

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 11,485,435     -                  -                  -                  11,485,435     
Machinery and equipment 6,105,640       612,518          (222,459)         -                  6,495,699       
Vehicles 6,156,398       463,336          (197,532)         -                  6,422,202       
Infrastructure 43,261,501     3,273,237       -                  15,633,168     62,167,906     

Total capital assets, being depreciated 67,008,974     4,349,091       (419,991)         15,633,168     86,571,242     

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (5,023,903)      (277,231)         -                  -                  (5,301,134)      
Machinery and equipment (4,580,858)      (264,354)         222,459          -                  (4,622,753)      
Vehicles (3,714,857)      (432,678)         194,690          -                  (3,952,845)      
Infrastructure (12,949,166)    (1,334,269)      -                  8,895              (14,274,540)    

Total accumulated depreciation (26,268,784)    (2,308,532)      417,149          8,895              (28,151,272)    

Total depreciable capital assets, net 40,740,190     2,040,559       (2,842)             15,642,063     58,419,970     

Governmental activities capital assets, net 67,913,290$   14,418,782$   (2,842)$           (79,601)$         82,249,629$   
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Changes in the capital assets for business-type activities for the year ended September 30, 2021, are 
summarized as follows:  
 

Beginning Reclass and Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Business-type activ ities:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 1,897,333$     -$                -$                -$                1,897,333$     
Construction in progress 802,128          1,002,705       -                  (1,351,988)      452,845          

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 2,699,461       1,002,705       -                  (1,351,988)      2,350,178       

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Gas system 6,644,331       62,788            -                  -                  6,707,119       
Water and wastewater system 56,343,583     940,977          -                  1,440,484       58,725,044     
Machinery and equipment 4,409,028       14,439            (47,659)           -                  4,375,808       

Total capital assets, being depreciated 67,396,942     1,018,204       (47,659)           1,440,484       69,807,971     

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Gas system (3,562,323)      (155,734)         -                  -                  (3,718,057)      
Water and wastewater system (24,779,921)    (1,346,258)      -                  (8,895)             (26,135,074)    
Machinery and equipment (2,158,486)      (136,584)         47,659            -                  (2,247,411)      

Total accumulated depreciation (30,500,730)    (1,638,576)      47,659            (8,895)             (32,100,542)    

Total depreciable capital assets, net 36,896,212     (620,372)         -                  1,431,589       37,707,429     

Business-type activities capital assets, net 39,595,673$   382,333$        -$                79,601$          40,057,607$   

 
Depreciation was charged to governmental and business-type activities as follows: 
 

Governmental activ ities:
General government 495,105$           
Public safety 770,412             
Public works 379,155             
Community development 155,908             
Internal serv ice fund 507,952             

Total depreciation expense, governmental activities 2,308,532$        

Business-type activ ities:
Utility administration 136,584$           
Water 686,794             
Wastewater 659,464             
Gas 155,734             

Total depreciation expense, business-type activities 1,638,576$        

 
Completed infrastructure, gas system and water and wastewater system assets were donated to the City 
from third party developers during 2021. These contributions are reported in the governmental activities 
and business-type activities of the primary government at $1,367,164 and $989,795, respectively. 
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The City has active construction projects and remaining commitments under related contracts.  As of 
September 30, 2021, the City's contractual commitments on projects for governmental and business-type 
activities were as follows: 
 

Project Total Remaining
Project Description Authorization Expended Commitment

Governmental activ ities:
Medical Complex Drive 17,511,616$      14,881,033$      2,630,583$        
Sidewalks 45,500               45,000               500                    
Persimmons Drainage Improvements 3,657,857          3,648,697          9,160                 
Alley Improvement Project 248,499             172,182             76,317               

Total governmental activities 21,463,472$      18,746,912$      2,716,560$        

Business-type activ ities:
Design of SCADA 118,796$           93,461$             25,335$             
DRI  Prime System - 2920 Lift Station 31,850               18,610               13,240               
Sanitary Sewer Rehab 524,456             490,456             34,000               

Total business-type activities 675,102$           602,527$           72,575$             

 
These commitments are included in encumbrances as described previously in Note 2. 
 
Changes in the capital assets for the discretely presented component unit for the year ended September 
30, 2021, are summarized as follows: 
 

Beginning Reclass and Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Transfers Balance

Discretely presented component unit:
Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 1,977,832$     1,972,740$     (79,457)$         -$                3,871,115$     

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,977,832       1,972,740       (79,457)           -                  3,871,115       

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 4,162,268       70,800            -                  -                  4,233,068       

Total capital assets, being depreciated 4,162,268       70,800            -                  -                  4,233,068       

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (104,057)         (209,883)         -                  -                  (313,940)         

Total accumulated depreciation (104,057)         (209,883)         -                  -                  (313,940)         

Total depreciable capital assets, net 4,058,211       (139,083)         -                  -                  3,919,128       

Discretely presented component unit
capital assets, not being depreciated 6,036,043$     1,833,657$     (79,457)$         -$                7,790,243$     
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Note 6.   Long-Term Debt 
 
Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 
The City’s long-term liabilities consist of bond indebtedness, public property finance contractual 
obligations, compensated absences, landfill postclosure care costs, and net pension liability and total 
OPEB liability. 
 
Certificates of obligation are issued to acquire and construct major capital facilities. General obligation 
refunding bonds are issued to legally defease previously issued bonded debt. The debt service 
requirements for the certificates and general obligation bonds are paid through the Debt Service Fund 
from tax revenues, transfers from the Enterprise Fund and contributions from the Discretely Presented 
Component Unit. Public property finance contractual obligations are accounted for and serviced 
through the Internal Service Fund.  Other long-term liabilities are typically liquidated by the General Fund 
(Governmental Activities) and the Enterprise Fund (Business-Type Activities).  
 
Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are not due and payable in the 
current period, and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities in the governmental funds. Interest on 
long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when 
due. 
 
The following is a summary of changes in the City's long-term liabilities for the year ended September 30, 
2021. 
 

Amounts
Beginning Ending  Due Within 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year

Governmental activ ities:
Certificates of obligation 22,535,000$   -$                (6,995,000)$    15,540,000$   975,000$        
General obligation refunding bonds 10,790,000     5,255,000       (1,170,000)      14,875,000     1,560,000       
Unamortized premiums 1,625,273       535,384          (246,661)         1,913,996       -                  

Bonds payable, net 34,950,273     5,790,384       (8,411,661)      32,328,996     2,535,000       

Public property finance
contractual obligation 1,169,868       -                  (130,000)         1,039,868       130,000          

Compensated absences 1,829,038       945,969          (973,806)         1,801,201       540,360          
Landfill postclosure care costs 345,375          67,874            (61,874)           351,375          60,275            
Net pension liability 5,280,898       4,483,040       (4,820,887)      4,943,051       -                  
Total OPEB liability 2,697,858       456,827          (96,323)           3,058,362       -                  

Total governmental activities 46,273,310$   11,744,094$   (14,494,551)$  43,522,853$   3,265,635$     

Business-type activ ities:
Compensated absences 319,111$        163,388$        (214,173)$       268,326$        80,498$          
Net pension liability 869,378          766,621          (805,221)         830,778          -                  
Total OPEB liability 597,161          97,598            (26,507)           668,252          -                  

Total business-type activities 1,785,650$     1,027,607$     (1,045,901)$    1,767,356$     80,498$          
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General Obligation Bonds and Certificates of Obligation 
A summary of the terms of general obligation bonds and certificates of obligation, as of  
September 30, 2021, follows: 
 

Original Final Interest
Description Issue Maturity Rates (%) Balance

Certificates of obligation
Series 2016 20,240,000$    2037 3.00-5.00 15,540,000$    

Total certificates of obligation 15,540,000      

General obligation refunding bonds
Series 2013 6,370,000        2023 1.00-1.65 1,140,000        
Series 2019 9,100,000        2032 2.00-4.00 8,480,000        
Series 2020 5,255,000        2033 2.00-4.00 5,255,000        

Total general obligation refunding bonds 14,875,000      

Total governmental activities bonds payable 30,415,000$    
 

Public Property Finance Contractual Obligations 
The City issued $1,300,000 in Public Property Finance Obligations to finance acquisition of equipment for 
the Fire Department.  Principal and interest payments are due in annual installments through November 
1, 2028, with interest at 3.65 percent through November 1, 2023 and at a fixed rate equal to the Wall Street 
Journal Prime Rate minus 1.35 percent per annum from November 1, 2023 through 2028.  
 
Debt Service Requirements 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation refunding bonds, certificates of 
obligation and public property finance contractual obligations outstanding at September 30, 2021, are 
as follows: 
 

Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total 

2022 2,535,000$    988,998$       3,523,998$     130,000$         37,960$          167,960$        
2023 2,595,000      890,323         3,485,323       130,000           33,215            163,215          
2024 2,060,000      796,262         2,856,262       130,000           28,470            158,470          
2025 2,105,000      707,238         2,812,238       130,000           23,725            153,725          
2026 2,135,000      616,862         2,751,862       130,000           18,980            148,980          
2027 2,185,000      534,738         2,719,738       130,000           14,235            144,235          
2028 2,225,000      460,637         2,685,637       130,000           9,490              139,490          
2029 2,270,000      389,163         2,659,163       129,868           4,745              134,613          
2030 2,295,000      327,312         2,622,312       -                  -                  -                  
2031 2,320,000      270,856         2,590,856       -                  -                  -                  
2032 2,340,000      212,188         2,552,188       -                  -                  -                  
2033 1,470,000      160,200         1,630,200       -                  -                  -                  
2034 970,000         121,250         1,091,250       -                  -                  -                  
2035 970,000         87,300           1,057,300       -                  -                  -                  
2036 970,000         52,744           1,022,744       -                  -                  -                  
2037 970,000         17,581           987,581          -                  -                  -                  

Totals 30,415,000$  6,633,652$    37,048,652$   1,039,868$      170,820$        1,210,688$     

Governmental Activ ities
General Obligation Refunding Bonds and

Contractual ObligationsCertificates of Obligation
Public Property Finance
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Debt Issuances and Prior Defeased Debt 
In current and prior years, the City legally defeased certain bonds and certificates of obligation by 
placing cash and/or proceeds of refunding bond issues in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future 
debt services payments on the refunded debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for 
the defeased bonds are not included in the City’s financial statements. As of September 30, 2021, there 
were no outstanding balances of defeased bonds. 
 
On December 16, 2020 the City issued General Obligation Refunding Bonds (the Bonds), Series 2020, in 
the par amount of $5,255,000. The Bonds refunded $5,625,000 of Combination Tax and Revenue 
Certificates, Series 2013, and were issued to lower overall annual debt service requirements of the City 
and to pay the costs of issuance of the Bonds.  Additionally, the City contributed cash of $40,117.  The 
refunding transaction yielded a reduction in debt service and an economic gain (difference between 
the present values of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $495,581 and $454,987, 
respectively.  The Bonds are scheduled to mature from February 15, 2022 to February 15, 2033. 
 
Federal Arbitrage 
The Tax Reform Act of 1986 instituted certain arbitrage restrictions consisting of complex regulations with 
respect to issuance of tax-exempt bond proceeds at an interest yield greater than the interest yield paid 
to bondholders.  Generally, all interest paid to bondholders can be retroactively rendered taxable if 
applicable rebates are not reported and paid to the Internal Revenue Service at least every five years 
for applicable bond issues.  Accordingly, there is the risk that if such calculations are not performed or are 
not performed correctly, a liability to the City could result. The City periodically engages an arbitrage 
consultant to perform the calculations in accordance with the Internal Revenue Service’s rules and 
regulations.  The City did not identify arbitrage liability as of September 30, 2021. 
 
Note 7.   Commitments and Contingencies 
 
A. Risk Management 
 
Property Damage / General Liability 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts: theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; law enforcement operations; cyber security; pollution; injuries to employees, and 
natural disasters for which the City participates in the Texas Municipal League’s Intergovernmental Risk 
Pool (the Pool).  In accordance with an interlocal agreement, the Pool will be self-sustaining through 
member premiums and will reinsure through commercial companies for claims in excess of acceptable 
risk levels.  The City has no additional risk or responsibility to the Pool, outside of the payment of insurance 
premiums and claims above the City’s deductibles.  The City has not significantly reduced insurance 
coverage or had settlements which exceeded coverage amounts in the past three years.  
 
Workers’ Compensation 
The City participates in the Texas Municipal League’s Intergovernmental Risk Pool (the Pool) for workers’ 
compensation.  In accordance with an interlocal agreement, the Pool will be self-sustaining through 
member premiums and will reinsure through commercial companies for claims in excess of acceptable 
risk levels.  The City has no additional risk or responsibility to the Pool, outside of the payment of insurance 
premiums and claims above the City’s deductibles.  The City has not significantly reduced insurance 
coverage or had settlements which exceeded coverage amounts in the past three years. 
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B. Contingent Liabilities 
 
The City is a party to various legal action due to nature of its operations.  Liabilities are reported when it is 
probable that a loss has occurred, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.  It is the 
opinion of the City’s management that the resolution of these matters, although the outcome is not 
presently determinable, will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the City. 
 
The City participates in a number of federal and state financial assistance programs. Although the City's 
financial statements have been audited through September 30, 2021, these programs are subject to 
financial and compliance audits by the grantor agencies. These audits could result in questioned costs or 
refunds to be paid back to the granting agencies. 
 
Note 8.   Interfund Transactions 
 
Interfund Receivables and Payables 
Outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund 
goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in 
the accounting system, and (3) payments between funds are made.  
 
The City did not report interfund receivables and payables as of September 30, 2021. 
 
Interfund Transfers 
The composition of interfund transfers in and out for the year ended September 30, 2021 is as follows: 
 

Proprietary
Fund

Capital State and Nonmajor
General Projects Federal Grants Governmental Enterprise

Transfers In Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund Total

General fund -$             -$             807$                  101,816$         2,668,418$  2,771,041$  
Capital projects fund 546,012       -               -                    61,670             220,000       827,682       
Nonmajor governmental funds 126,000       -               -                    -                   -               126,000       
Enterprise fund -               600,000       -                    -                   -               600,000       

Total 672,012$     600,000$     807$                  163,486$         2,888,418$  4,324,723$  

Transfers Out
Governmental Funds

 
Transfers are primarily used to: 
 

 move enterprise fund resources to provide an annual subsidy to the general fund 
 move available resources to fund special revenue programs, and 
 move available resources to provide funding for capital projects 

 
In addition, the City transferred $1,082,306 of capital assets between governmental activities and 
business-type activities, which is reflected in the government-wide financial statements as transfers and 
proprietary fund financial statements as capital contributions. 
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Note 9.   Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description and Provisions 
The City participates as one of 895 plans in the defined benefit cash-balance pension plan administered 
by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is a statewide public retirement plan created by 
the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas 
Government Code (the “TMRS Act”) as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for employees of 
Texas participating cities. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of TMRS with 
a six-member, Governor-appointed Board of Trustees; however, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the 
State of Texas. TMRS issues a publicly available annual comprehensive financial report that can be 
obtained at www.tmrs.com. 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits Provided 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing 
body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 
 
At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, and 
the City financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose 
to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven actuarially equivalent payments options. Members may 
also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a partial lump sum distribution in an amount equal to 
12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and interest. 
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options available in the 
state statues governing TMRS.  A summary of plan provisions for the City is as follows: 
 

Plan Year Plan Year
2021 2020

Employee deposit rate 7.00% 7.00%
Matching ratio (city to employee) 2 to 1 2 to 1
Years required for vesting 5 5
Serv ice retirement eligibility

(expressed as age/years of serv ice) 60/5, 0/20 60/5, 0/20
Updated serv ice credit 100% Repeating, Transfers 100% Repeating, Transfers
Annuity increase (to retirees) 70% of CPI  Repeating 70% of CPI  Repeating
Supplemental death benefit:

to active employees Yes Yes
to retirees Yes Yes

 
At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by 
the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiv ing benefits 98                       
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiv ing benefits 91                       
Active employees 186                     

Total 375                     
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Contributions 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and the 
City matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of 
the City. Under the State law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each City is determined annually 
by the consulting actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The City’s contribution 
rate is based on the liabilities created from the benefit plan options selected by the City and any changes 
in benefits or actual experience over time. 
 
Employees for the City were required to contribute 7% of their annual gross earnings during the fiscal year. 
The contribution rate for the City was 13.49% in calendar year 2020 and 13.31% in calendar year 2021. For 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the City made contributions of $1,648,453, which were equal 
to the required contributions. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
The City’s net pension liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2020, and the total pension liability 
(TPL) used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions: 
 

Inflation 2.50%
Overall payroll growth 2.75% per year, adjusted down for participation declines, if any
Investment rate of return 6.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

 
Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on 
the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General Employee table 
used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the Gender-distinct 
2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries 
are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements.  
 
For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year set-forward for 
males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate is applied, 
for males and females respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger members who become 
disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality 
improvements subject to the floor. The post-retirement mortality assumption for annuity purchase rates is 
based on the Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 
31, 2013.  
 
The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the experience of 
TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018. They were adopted in 
2019 and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. 
 
Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well 
as the production of income in order to satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real 
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. In 
determining their best estimate of a recommended investment return assumption under the various 
alternative asset allocation portfolios, the actuarial approach focused on the area between (1) 
arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) the geometric mean 
(conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). The target allocation for each major asset class 
are summarized in the following table: 

Long-term 
Expected Real

Target  Rate of Return
Asset Class Allocation (Arithmetic)

Global equity 30.0% 5.30%
Core fixed income 10.0% 1.25%
Non-core fixed income 20.0% 4.14%
Real return 10.0% 3.85%
Real estate 10.0% 4.00%
Absolute return 10.0% 3.48%
Private equity 10.0% 7.75%

Total 100%
 

Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the 
rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive 
employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to 
all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balance at December 31, 2019 47,822,058$    41,671,782$    6,150,276$      

Changes for the year:
Serv ice cost 1,966,144     -                1,966,144     
Interest 3,227,601     -                3,227,601     
Difference between expected 
  and actual experience 20,291          -                20,291          
Changes in assumptions -                -                -                
Employer contributions -                1,610,602     (1,610,602)    
Employee contributions -                835,747        (835,747)       
Net investment income -                3,165,401     (3,165,401)    
Benefit payments, including refunds

of employee contributions (1,977,624)    (1,977,624)    -                
Administrative expense -                (20,468)         20,468          
Other changes -                (799)              799               

Net changes 3,236,412        3,612,859        (376,447)          

Balance at December 31, 2020 51,058,470$    45,284,641$    5,773,829$      

 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75%, as 
well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-
percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 
 

Current Single
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

to Assumption to
5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

City's net pension liability (asset) 13,853,797$    5,773,829$      (709,062)$        

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in a separately-issued 
TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained at www.tmrs.com. 
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources  
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized pension expense of $1,321,515. 
 
At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and
actual experience 301,836$         85,829$           

Changes in actuarial assumptions used 168,534           -                   
Differences between projected and

actual investment earnings -                   1,171,801        
Contributions subsequent to the

measurement date 1,207,545        -                   

Totals 1,677,915$      1,257,630$      

 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date of $1,207,545 will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the 
measurement year ending December 31, 2021 (i.e. recognized in the City’s fiscal year 2022 financial 
statements). Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense in the City’s fiscal years as follows: 
 

Net Deferred
Outflows

Year Ending (Inflows) of
September 30, Resources

2022 (249,132)$            
2023 126,161               
2024 (595,497)              
2025 (68,792)                
2026 -                       

Totals (787,260)$            

 
Note 10.   Other Postemployment Benefits Plans 
 
The City offers two other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans: Texas Municipal Retirement System’s 
(TMRS) Supplemental Death Benefits Fund, and the City’s Retiree Health Care Plan. 
 
Plan Descriptions and Provisions, Benefits, Contributions 
 
TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF) 
The City participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term life insurance plan 
operated by TMRS known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by 
ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The 
City may terminate coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance 
before November 1 of any year to be effective the following January 1. 
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The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the 
employee’s annual salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings, for the 12-month period 
preceding the month of death); retired employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an OPEB.  
 
As the SDBF covers both active and retiree participants, with no segregation of assets, the SDBF is 
considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan (i.e. no plan assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the 
criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75). 
 
Contributions are made monthly based on the covered payroll of employee members of the 
participating member city. The contractually required contribution rate is determined annually for each 
city. The rate is based on the mortality and service experience of all employees covered by the SDBF and 
the demographics specific to the workforce of the city. There is a one-year delay between the actuarial 
valuation that serves as the basis for the employer contribution rate and the calendar year when the rate 
goes into effect. The funding policy of this plan is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet 
all death benefit payments for the upcoming year; the intent is not to prefund retiree term life insurance 
during employees’ entire careers. As such, contributions are utilized to fund active member deaths on a 
pay-as-you-go basis; any excess contributions and investment income over payments then become net 
position available for benefits. 
 
The retiree portion of contribution rates to the SDBF for the City was 0.11% and 0.04% in calendar years 
2021 and 2020, respectively. The City’s contributions to the SDBF for the year ended September 30, 2021 
were $11,289, and were equal to the required contributions. 
 
Retiree Health Care Plan (RHCP) 
The City’s administers a single employer defined benefit OPEB plan, City of Tomball Retiree Health Care 
Plan (RHCP), where the City will pay a portion of the premium for continuation of the medical and dental 
insurance coverage of certain retirees.  Enrollment for retiree coverage must be completed no later than 
30 days after the date of retirement.  Later enrollment is not permitted.  Any retiree eligible for medical 
coverage with another group plan shall not qualify for medical coverage with the City.  
 
The RHCP is closed to new entrants as the benefit is only provided to employees who were hired prior to 
October 1, 2014.  
 
In order to be eligible for this benefit, the retiree must meet the following criteria: 
 

 Retiree must be vested, age 55 or older and a current recipient of retirement benefits from the 
Texas Municipal System 

 Retiree must have been a full-time equivalent of the City for 10 consecutive years immediately 
prior to retirement 

 Retiree must satisfy the application plan requirements for the extension of retiree coverage under 
the medical and dental insurance benefit plan offered by the City at the time of retirement 

 
Beginning with retirement and ending when the person is eligible for Medicare coverage, the City may 
pay a portion of the retiree medical and dental coverage premiums in accordance with the following 
schedule: 
 

 40% of the premium costs for retirees having at least 10 year, but less than 15 years, of full-time 
service with the City 

 55% of the premium costs for retirees having at least 15 years, but less than 20 years, of full-time 
service with the City 

 70% of the premium costs for retirees having at least 20 years, but less than 25 years, of full-time 
service with the City 

 85% of the premium costs for retirees having at least 25 years of full-time service with the City 
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Eligible retirees shall pay 100% of vision premiums and 100% of the premiums for basic life insurance. 
Presently, a retiree’s spouse and dependent(s) are also eligible for continued coverage if they are already 
covered at the time of retirement. Retirees may not add dependents after retiring. Each retiree is 
responsible for all costs, including premiums, associated with spouse and dependent benefits. The benefit 
includes the same medical coverage approved by City Council and selected for current employees and 
excludes accidental death and life coverage. 
 
The City will no longer pay any retiree premiums once the retiree is eligible for Medicare coverage. 
Retirees who are eligible for Medicare coverage may, at their sole expense, continue to purchase 
coverage for themselves and their eligible dependents as provided under the applicable terms of the 
City’s policies. The City’s policy will be a secondary policy to Medicare. 
 
The benefit levels and contribution rates are approved annually by the City management and City 
Council as part of the budget process. Since the City does not contribute toward the RHCP in advance, 
the City employs a pay-as-you-go method ensuring the annually retiree contributions are equal to the 
benefits that are paid on behalf of the retirees.  
 
There are no plan assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 
No. 75 to fund the future requirements of the RHCP. 
 
Plan Membership 
Membership in the plans as of the measurement date of December 31, 2020 was as follows: 
 

SDBF RHCP

Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiv ing benefits 83                  29                  
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiv ing benefits 38                  -                 
Active employees 186                85                  

Total plan members 307                114                

 
Total OPEB Liability 
The City’s total OPEB liability for each of its OPEB plans was measured as of December 31, 2020.  The total 
OPEB liability for SDBF was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31 2020, and the total 
OPEB liability for RHCP was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2019, rolled forward 
to December 31, 2020 using update procedures. The total OPEB liabilities reported in the City’s September 
30, 2021 financial statements were as follows: 
 

SDBF 712,954$         
RHCP 3,013,660        

3,726,614$      

 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
The total OPEB liabilities were determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs. 
 

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.50% to 11.50% including inflation

Discount rate
2.00% - based on the Fidelity Index's "20-Year Municipal GO AA Index" 
rate as of December 31, 2020.
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The retiree’s share of benefit-related costs for the SDBF OPEB is assumed to be $0, and the healthcare 
trend cost rate for the RHCP actuarial valuation is assumed at an initial rate of 7.00%, declining to an 
ultimate rate of 4.15% after 15 years.  
 
Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on 
the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General Employee table 
used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the Gender-distinct 
2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries 
are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements. 
For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year set-forward for 
males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate is applied, 
for males and females respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger members who become 
disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality 
improvements subject to the floor. The Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method is used. 
 
The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation over the four-year 
period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018. They were adopted in 2019 and first used in the 
December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. 
 
Change in Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
The discount rate changed from 2.75% as of December 31, 2019 to 2.00% as of December 31, 2020.  
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

SDBF RHCP

Serv ice cost 28,651$             106,603$          
Interest 15,856               75,089              
Changes in benefit terms -                     -                    
Difference between expected 
  and actual experience 10,270               (5,422)               
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 98,325               213,387            
Benefit payments (4,775)                (106,389)           

Net changes 148,327             283,268            

Total OPEB liability - beginning 564,627             2,730,392         

Total OPEB liability - ending 712,954$           3,013,660$       

 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The following presents the City’s total OPEB liabilities calculated using the discount rate of 2.00%, as well 
as what the liabilities would be if they were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point 
lower (1.00%) or 1 percentage point higher (3.00%) than the current rate.  
 

Current Discount 
1% Decrease to Rate Assumption 1% Increase to

1.00% 2.00% 3.00%

SDBF 881,483$             712,954$             586,070$             
RHCP 3,323,968            3,013,660            2,732,718            
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The following presents the RHCP plan’s total OPEB liability, calculated using the assumed healthcare cost 
trend rates as well as what the plan’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a trend rate 
that is one percent lower or one percent higher. Note that the healthcare cost trend rate does not affect 
the total SDBF OPEB liability, therefore the sensitivity to the healthcare cost trend rate is not shown for SDBF. 
 

Current Healthcare
Cost Trend Rate

1% Decrease Assumption 1% Increase 

RHCP 2,617,877$          3,013,660$          3,495,213$          

 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources  
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
For the year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $79,673 relating to the SDBF 
plan and OPEB expense of $162,839 relating to the RHCP plan. Total OPEB expense for the two plans was 
$242,512. 
 
As of September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources

Differences between expected and
actual experience 8,396$             5,768$           8,981$        330,013$         

Changes in assumptions and other 
inputs 153,690           15,879           310,074      77,469             

Contributions subsequent to 
  the measurement date 9,980               -                 92,251        -                   

Total 172,066$         21,647$         411,306$    407,482$         

SDBF RHCP

 
The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from City contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the OPEB liability in the year ending 
September 30, 2022.  
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Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized 
in OPEB expense in the City’s fiscal years as follows: 
 

Year Ending
September 30, SDBF RHCP

2022 35,166$                      (18,853)$              
2023 34,811                        (18,853)                
2024 29,624                        (18,853)                
2025 31,328                        (25,145)                
2026 9,510                          (34,058)                

Thereafter -                             27,335                 

Totals 140,439$                    (88,427)$              

Net Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of 
Resources

 
Note 11.   Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
The City has a deferred compensation plan for its employees, created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Code, Section 457. Participation in the plan is open to all regular employees and is voluntary. 
The City does not contribute to, own or administer the amount deferred by employees and, therefore, 
the liability and corresponding investments are not reflected in the basic statements. 
 
Note 12.   Landfill Post Closure Care Costs 
 
The City’s municipal solid waste landfill is in the post closure process as the landfill has been closed.  State 
and federal laws and regulations required that the City place a final cover on its landfill when closed and 
perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site until approved for final 
regulatory closure by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality.   
 
The estimated liability for landfill post closure case costs of $351,375 as of September 30, 2021, represents 
the remaining estimated post closure costs required to achieve regulatory approval for closure including 
costs through 2026.  However, the actual cost of remaining post closure care may be higher due to 
inflation, changes in technology, or changes in landfill laws and regulations.  
 
Note 13.   Tax Abatements 
 
State law authorizes subdivisions of the State of Texas to grant tax abatements to any person, organization 
or corporation in order to stimulate economic development within the State under Chapter 312 of the 
Texas Tax Code. Consequently, the City Council has adopted a resolution establishing criteria whereby 
the City will, on a case-by-case basis, give consideration to providing tax abatement to any qualifying 
applicant. Generally, the period of abatement is for a maximum period of up to ten years subsequent to 
meeting the minimum criteria outlined in the agreement. The percentage of tax abated shall be 
determined based upon the level capital investment and number of new jobs created. Notwithstanding 
the resolution adopted by the City Council, or the criteria attendant thereto, it is not implied or suggested 
that the City is under any obligation to provide tax abatement to any applicant. The abatements are 
provided as a reduction of taxable assessed value of the property, and the recipient receives a tax bill 
that is already net of the abated amount.  
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For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the estimated value of property in the City that was subject 
to tax abatement was $0, as no participants met the minimum criteria identified in the agreements, 
therefore, no taxes were abated. 
 
Note 14.   Related Parties 
 
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, transactions with related parties of the City and the 
Corporation were as follows. 
 
The Corporation approved an agreement with a company controlled by a director of the Corporation 
to make direct incentives to that company in the amount of $18,000, for the creation or retention of jobs 
associated with the relocation and development of its corporate headquarters. The City’s expenditure 
transactions with that same company during the fiscal year amounted to approximately $40 thousand.  
 
Note 15.   Special Assessment Bonds 
 
The Raburn Reserve Public Improvement District (PID) was created by City Council ordinance in 
September 2020 under the Texas PID Act (Texas Local Government Code Chapter 372) principally to 
finance certain capital improvement projects for the master planned development known as “Raburn 
Reserve”. In order to finance the capital improvements, the City can issue special assessment bonds up 
to a maximum principal amount of $15,000,000, per an amended development agreement between the 
City and the developer. 
 
On October 20, 2020, the City issued $2,490,000 of Special Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (Raburn 
Reserve Public Improvement Area #1) (the PID bonds). The PID bonds were issued to fund authorized 
improvements related to the Raburn Reserve Public Improvement Area #1, PID formation costs and pay 
for the costs of issuance. The PID bonds pay interest of 3.375 – 4.000%, and are scheduled to mature on 
September 15, 2030 at $475,000 and September 15, 2050 at $2,015,000.  The PID bonds are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to their respective maturities and require annual sinking fund 
installments starting September 15, 2022 and ranging from $45,000 to $150,000. 
 
The City is authorized by the Texas PID Act and an Assessment Ordinance to collect assessments levied 
on the properties within the improvement area, which is pledged to pay the scheduled principal and 
interest payments on the PID bonds.   
 
The City is in no way liable for repayment of the PID bonds, and is only acting as a custodian for the 
property owners in collecting the assessments, forwarding the collections to bondholders, and initiating 
foreclosure proceedings, if appropriate. 
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Note 16.   Prior Period Adjustments 
 
During the year ended September 30, 2021, the City’s management identified errors in amounts reported 
in the City’s previously-issued 2020 financial statements.  The following represents the effect on beginning 
net position, as presented in the accompanying 2021 financial statements, of correcting these errors. 
 

Internal
Governmental Business-type Enterprise Serv ice

Activ ities Activ ities Fund Fund

Beginning net position, as prev iously reported 71,779,751$      44,706,859$      44,440,190$      4,798,815$        

Correction of error - capital assets (1) 1,644,482          835,448             835,448             -                    
Correction of error - receivables (2) 72,284               -                    -                    72,284               

Total prior period adjustments 1,716,766          835,448             835,448             72,284               
Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 (Note 1) 67,645               -                    -                    -                    

Beginning net position, restated 73,564,162$      45,542,307$      45,275,638$      4,871,099$        

 
1. Beginning net position of governmental activities, business-type activities and the enterprise fund 

was increased to correct an understatement of capital assets donated as of September 30, 2020.  
The effect of this correction on the 2020 financial statements is to increase beginning net position 
as of October 1, 2020, and increase total revenues by the same amount. 

 
2. Beginning net position of governmental activities and the internal service fund was increased to 

correct an understatement in receivables recognized as of September 30, 2020.  The effect of this 
correction on the 2020 financial statements is to increase beginning net position as of October 1, 
2020, and increase the reported revenues for the period by this amount.  
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For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021 
 

The Notes to the Required Supplementary Information are an integral part of this schedule. 
78 

 
Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Property tax 2,345,000$          3,550,000$          3,511,280$          (38,720)$             
Sales tax 11,590,000          12,585,000          13,361,050          776,050               
Franchise and other taxes 910,020               1,050,000            973,053               (76,947)               
Licenses and permits 724,700               1,544,500            1,633,908            89,408                 
Fines and forfeitures 460,000               350,000               307,568               (42,432)               
Charges for serv ices 2,480,177            2,952,607            3,013,862            61,255                 
Intergovernmental 758,558               1,415,558            1,358,419            (57,139)               
Investment earnings (losses) 225,000               7,500                   (15,499)               (22,999)               
Other 97,675                 100,150               44,366                 (55,784)               

Total revenues 19,591,130          23,555,315          24,188,007          632,692               

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government
City manager's office 402,043               364,540               348,814               15,726                 
Mayor and council 96,430                 57,552                 48,949                 8,603                   
City secretary 410,481               356,704               334,457               22,247                 
Human resources 452,570               447,477               408,708               38,769                 
Finance 789,052               928,074               927,993               81                        
Information systems 799,482               778,754               705,256               73,498                 
Legal 140,000               120,000               108,315               11,685                 
Non-departmental 3,085,900            3,469,974            3,531,416            (61,442)               

Total 6,175,958            6,523,075            6,413,908            109,167               

Public safety
Police 6,203,875            6,344,846            6,139,798            205,048               
Fire 3,027,521            2,891,227            2,794,566            96,661                 
Municipal court 434,415               411,541               391,259               20,282                 
Emergency management 15,275                 24,900                 15,183                 9,717                   
ESD#15 - Station 5 920,021               872,721               770,801               101,920               

Total 10,601,107          10,545,235          10,111,607          433,628               

Public works
Public works administration 71,462                 64,274                 60,290                 3,984                   
Garage 177,191               170,472               170,496               (24)                      
Streets 1,464,796            1,193,711            1,148,189            45,522                 
Engineering and planning 572,323               584,962               563,341               21,621                 
Sanitation 2,115,300            1,815,200            1,734,248            80,952                 
Facilities maintenance 710,673               1,007,268            1,031,575            (24,307)               

Total 5,111,745            4,835,887            4,708,139            127,748               

Parks and recreation
Parks 975,748               749,876               703,534               46,342                 
Community center 168,935               154,855               147,308               7,547                   

Total 1,144,683            904,731               850,842               53,889                 

Community development
Permits and inspections 417,466               398,738               382,201               16,537                 

Total expenditures 23,450,959          23,207,666          22,466,697          740,969               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (3,859,829)          347,649               1,721,310            1,373,661            

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                      -                      27,469                 27,469                 
Insurance recoveries -                      -                      219,612               219,612               
Transfers in 2,668,418            2,668,418            2,771,041            102,623               
Transfers out (672,012)             (672,012)             (672,012)             -                      

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,996,406            1,996,406            2,346,110            349,704               

Net change in fund balances (1,863,423)          2,344,055            4,067,420            1,723,365            

Fund balance, beginning of year 17,389,465 17,389,465 17,389,465 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 15,526,042$        19,733,520$        21,456,885$        1,723,365$          

Budgeted Amounts
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Notes to the Required Supplementary Information 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021 
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A. Budget – General Fund 
 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles, which 
is the modified accrual basis of accounting for the general fund. 
 
The original budget is adopted by the City Council prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.  The legal level 
of budgetary control as defined by the City Charter is the department level in the general fund, and fund 
level for all other funds.  The City Manager may transfer appropriations within departments without seeking 
approval from City Council.  Capital outlay is budgeted within the respective department.   
 
Expenditures exceeded budget at the legal level of control for the following departments: 
 

Variance With
Final Budget

Final Actual Positive
Budget Amount (Negative)

General government - nondepartmental 3,469,974$        3,531,416$        (61,442)$           
Public works - garage 170,472             170,496             (24)                    
Public works - facilities maintenance 1,007,268          1,031,575          (24,307)             
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Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability 
 and Related Ratios 
Texas Municipal Retirement System  
For the Last Seven Measurement Years Ended December 31* 
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2020 2019 2018
TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

Serv ice cost 1,966,144$      1,952,260$      1,799,563$      
Interest 3,227,601        2,978,534        2,801,748        
Differences between expected  and actual experience 20,291             363,731           (223,279)         
Changes in assumptions -                  295,730           -                  
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (1,977,624)      (1,837,004)      (1,833,649)      

Net change in total pension liability 3,236,412        3,753,251        2,544,383        

Total pension liability - beginning 47,822,058      44,068,807      41,524,424      

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING (a) 51,058,470$    47,822,058$    44,068,807$    

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer 1,610,602$      1,562,039$      1,431,544$      
Contributions - employee 835,747           810,547           746,707           
Net investment income 3,165,401        5,515,598        (1,091,540)      
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (1,977,624)      (1,837,004)      (1,833,649)      
Administrative expense (20,468)           (31,144)           (21,086)           
Other (799)                (937)                (1,101)             

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 3,612,859        6,019,099        (769,125)         

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 41,671,782      35,652,683      36,421,808      

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING (b) 45,284,641$    41,671,782$    35,652,683$    

NET PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING (a)-(b) 5,773,829$      6,150,276$      8,416,124$      

Plan fiduciary net position as a

percentage of total pension liability 88.69% 87.14% 80.90%

Covered payroll 11,937,726$    11,579,239$    10,667,238$    

Net pension liability as a 

percentage of covered payroll 48.37% 53.11% 78.90%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information:
The following factors significantly affect trends in the amounts reported for the City’s net pension liability:

Actuarial Assumptions: 2020 2019 2018
Inflation 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%
Payroll growth 2.75% 2.75% 3.00%
Investment rate of return 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%
Discount rate 6.75% 6.75% 6.75%

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of data; however, seven years of data is presented as the data for the years prior to 2014 is 
not available. Additionally, GASB Statement No. 68 requires that the information on this schedule correspond with the period covered 
as of the plan measurement date (December 31 of the prior year). 

Measurement Date December 31, 2019 - Actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the 
experience of TMRS over the four year period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018.

Measurement Date December 31, 2015 - Actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the 
experience of TMRS over the four year period from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2014.  
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2017 2016 2015 2014

1,780,118$      1,678,897$      1,631,504$      1,405,192$      
2,582,435        2,396,517        2,283,312        2,122,080        

437,533           (109,994)         153,806           (75,098)           
-                  -                  112,706           -                  

(1,287,794)      (1,235,596)      (1,404,009)      (1,120,036)      

3,512,292        2,729,824        2,777,319        2,332,138        

38,012,132      35,282,308      32,504,989      30,172,851      

41,524,424$    38,012,132$    35,282,308$    32,504,989$    

1,428,931$      1,309,638$      1,321,927$      1,106,867$      
736,020           689,283           680,604           629,009           

4,330,256        1,930,676        41,253             1,480,415        
(1,287,794)      (1,235,596)      (1,404,009)      (1,120,036)      

(22,437)           (21,804)           (25,124)           (15,453)           
(1,137)             (1,175)             (1,240)             (1,271)             

5,183,839        2,671,022        613,411           2,079,531        

31,237,969      28,566,947      27,953,536      25,874,005      

36,421,808$    31,237,969$    28,566,947$    27,953,536$    

5,102,616$      6,774,163$      6,715,361$      4,551,453$      

87.71% 82.18% 80.97% 86.00%

10,514,577$    9,846,905$      9,722,909$      8,985,838$      

48.53% 68.79% 69.07% 50.65%

2017 2016 2015 2014
2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 3.00%
3.00% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 7.00%
6.75% 6.75% 6.75% 7.00%
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2021 2020 2019

Actuarially determined contribution 1,648,453$       1,607,743$       1,542,211$       
Contributions in relation to the 
  actuarially determined contribution (1,648,453)       (1,607,743)       (1,542,211)       

CONTRIBUTIONS DEFICIENCY (EXCESS) -$                 -$                 -$                 

Covered payroll 12,346,203$     11,918,038$     11,447,890$     

Contributions as a percentage of 
  covered payroll 13.4% 13.5% 13.47%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of 
December 31 and become effective in January, 13 months later

   Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed
Remaining amortization period 25 years
Asset valuation method 10 year smoothed market; 12% soft corridor
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.50% to 11.50% including inflation
Investment rate of return 6.75%
Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of benefits. 

Last updated for the 2019 valuation pursuant to an experience study of the 
period 2014-2018.

Mortality Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are
projected on a fully generation basis with scale UMP.
Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the Public Safety table used for males 
and the General Employee table used for females. The rates are projected on a 
fully generational basis with scale UMP. 

   Other Information: There were no benefit changes during the year.

*GASB Statement No. 68 requires 10 years of data; however, seven years of data is presented as the data for the years prior to 
2015 is not available. Additionally, GASB Statement No. 68 requires that the information on this schedule correspond with the 
period covered as of the City's fiscal year (September 30). 
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2018 2017 2016 2015

1,439,971$       1,435,572$       1,285,841$       1,246,735$       

(1,439,971)       (1,435,572)       (1,285,841)       (1,246,735)       

-$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

10,693,441$     10,481,687$     9,620,867$       9,404,137$       

13.47% 13.70% 13.37% 13.26%
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Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability 
 and Related Ratios 
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2020 2019 2018 2017
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

Serv ice cost 106,603$             113,492$             145,528$             130,909$             
Interest 75,089                 111,415               99,651                 104,080               
Difference between expected and actual

experience (5,422)                 (453,167)             14,732                 -                      
Changes in assumptions 213,387               74,725                 (127,098)             152,484               
Benefit payments (106,389)             (124,854)             (123,721)             (108,157)             

Net change in total OPEB liability 283,268               (278,389)             9,092                   279,316               

Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,730,392            3,008,781            2,999,689            2,720,373            

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - ENDING 3,013,660$          2,730,392$          3,008,781$          2,999,689$          

Covered-employee payroll 6,474,035$          6,474,035$          7,633,706$          10,520,156$        

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 46.55% 42.17% 39.41% 28.51%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information:

The following factors significantly affect trends in the amounts reported for the City’s total OPEB liability:
Actuarial Assumptions: 2020 2019 2018 2017

Inflation 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%
Payroll growth 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%
Discount rate 2.00% 2.75% 3.71% 3.31%

*GASB Statement No. 75 requires 10 years of data; however, three years of data are presented as the data for the years prior to 2017 are not 
available. Additionally, GASB Statement No. 75 requires that information on this schedule correspond with the period covered as of the plan 
measurement date (December 31 of the prior year).

Measurement Date December 31, 2019 - Demographic assumptions were updated to reflect the 2019 Experience Study and the health care 
trend rates were updated to reflect both the RHCP’s anticipated experience and the repeal of the excise tax on high-cost employer health 
plans

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB 75, Paragraph 4, and therefore, the Retiree Health Care Plan does not 
report fiduciary net position.
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 and Related Ratios 
Supplemental Death Benefits Fund 
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2020 2019 2018 2017
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

Serv ice cost 28,651$              23,158$              24,535$              21,029$              
Interest 15,856                16,760                14,859                14,366                
Difference between expected and actual

experience 10,270                (8,489)                 -                      -                      
Changes in assumptions 98,325                94,765                (32,082)               34,434                
Benefit payments (4,775)                 (3,474)                 (3,200)                 (3,154)                 

Net change in total OPEB liability 148,327              122,720              4,112                  66,675                

Total OPEB liability - beginning 564,627              441,907              437,795              371,120              

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY - ENDING 712,954$            564,627$            441,907$            437,795$            

Covered-employee payroll 11,937,726$       11,579,239$       10,667,238$       10,514,577$       

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 5.97% 4.88% 4.14% 4.16%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information:

The following factors significantly affect trends in the amounts reported for the City’s total OPEB liability:
Actuarial Assumptions: 2020 2019 2018 2017

Inflation 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%
Payroll growth 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%
Discount rate 2.00% 2.75% 3.71% 3.31%

*GASB Statement No. 75 requires 10 years of data; however, three years of data are presented as the data for the years prior to 2017 are 
not available. Additionally, GASB Statement No. 75 requires that information on this schedule correspond with the period covered as of the 
plan measurement date (December 31 of the prior year).

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB 75, Paragraph 4, and therefore, the Supplemental Death Benefits Plan 
does not report fiduciary net position.
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that 
are legally restricted or committed for expenditures for specific purposes. 
 
Special General Fund - This fund is used to account for police forfeiture funds. 
 
Court Security Fund - This fund is used to account for fees generated from court fines which, by law, can 
only be spent on the City's municipal court security. 
 
Court Technology Fund - This fund is used to account for fees generated from court fines which, by law, 
can only be spent on the City's municipal court technology. 
 
Hotel Occupancy Tax Fund - This fund is used to account for revenues received from hotel occupancy 
taxes which are spent on efforts to promote local tourism. 
 
Red Light Camera Fund - This fund is used to account for the use of revenues that, by law, are limited to 
traffic safety programs, including pedestrian safety programs, public safety programs, intersection 
improvements and traffic enforcement. 
 
Child Safety Fund - The State of Texas allocates a percentage of each court fee to the Child Safety 
Program, a portion of which is remitted back to the City to be used for educational material for children. 
 
Tomball Fun Runs Fund - This fund is used to account for the revenues generated by City-sponsored races. 
 
Public Improvement Districts Fund – This fund is used to account for special assessments and operating 
and maintenance costs related to public improvement districts (PIDs) within the City. 
 
Tomball Legacy Fund – This fund represents the activities of the City’s blended component unit, a 401c(3) 
nonprofit corporation, which accounts for private and corporate grant funds received by the City. 
 
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds are used to account for acquisition and construction of capital facilities 
and improvements with proceeds not derived from the City. 
 
Capital Projects - PID Fund – This fund is used to account for the acquisition and construction of capital 
facilities and improvements relating to the Public Improvement Districts (PIDs) within the City. 
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ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents -$                    240,845$             155,469$             711,926$             -$                    

TOTAL ASSETS -     $                   240,845$             155,469$             711,926$             -     $                   

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$                    -$                    2,794$                 20,799$               -$                    
Accrued liabilities -                      -                      -                      7,179                   -                      

Total liabilities -                      -                      2,794                   27,978                 -                      

FUND BALANCES
Restricted -                          240,845               152,675               683,948               -                          
Committed -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total fund balances -                          240,845               152,675               683,948               -                          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES -     $                   240,845$             155,469$             711,926$             -     $                   

Special 
General Court Security

Court 
Technology

Hotel 
Occupancy Tax

Red Light 
Camera
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Total 
Nonmajor

Governmental
Funds

14,385$               -$                    -$                    84,640$               1,207,265$          -$                    1,207,265$          

14,385$               -     $                   -     $                   84,640$               1,207,265$          -     $                   1,207,265$          

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    23,593$               -$                    23,593$               
-                      -                      -                      -                      7,179                   -                      7,179                   

-                      -                      -                      -                      30,772                 -                      30,772                 

14,385                 -                      -                      -                      1,091,853            -                          1,091,853            
-                          -                      -                      84,640                 84,640                 -                          84,640                 

14,385                 -                          -                          84,640                 1,176,493            -                          1,176,493            

14,385$               -     $                   -     $                   84,640$               1,207,265$          -     $                   1,207,265$          

Child Safety 
Fund

Capital Projects 
- PID

Public 
Improvement 

Districts

Total
Nonmajor 
Special 

Revenue Funds
Tomball Fun 

Runs
Tomball Legacy 

Fund
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REVENUES
Franchise and other taxes -$                    -$                    -$                    486,518$             -$                    
Fines and forfeitures -                      11,284                 10,058                 -                      -                      
Special assessments -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Contributions from property owners -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Investment earnings -                      223                      141                      342                      -                      
Other -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total revenues -                      11,507                 10,199                 486,860               -                      

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government -                      13,931                 41,542                 161                      -                      
Public safety -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
Tourism and arts -                      -                      -                      551,162               -                      

Debt serv ice
Capital outlay -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total expenditures -                      13,931                 41,542                 551,323               -                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over (under) expenditures -                      (2,424)                 (31,343)               (64,463)               -                      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                      -                      -                      126,000               -                      
Transfers out (98,803)               -                      -                      -                      (61,670)               

Total other financing 
   sources (uses) (98,803)               -                      -                      126,000               (61,670)               

Net change in fund balances (98,803)               (2,424)                 (31,343)               61,537                 (61,670)               

Fund balances, beginning of year -
as prev iously reported 98,803                 243,269               184,018               622,411               61,670                 

Cumulative effect of adoption of GASB 84 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

Fund balances, beginning of year - restated 98,803                 243,269               184,018               622,411               61,670                 

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR -     $                   240,845$             152,675$             683,948$             -     $                   

Special 
General Court Security

Court 
Technology

Hotel 
Occupancy Tax

Red Light 
Camera
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Total 
Nonmajor

Governmental
Funds

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    486,518$             -$                    486,518$             
13,384                 -                      -                      -                      34,726                 -                      34,726                 

-                      -                      769,412               -                      769,412               -                      769,412               
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      1,906,073            1,906,073            
123                      -                      -                      25                        854                      -                      854                      
-                      -                      -                      77,107                 77,107                 -                      77,107                 

13,507                 -                      769,412               77,132                 1,368,617            1,906,073            3,274,690            

-                      -                      837,057               31,544                 924,235               -                      924,235               
10,051                 -                      -                      -                      10,051                 -                      10,051                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      551,162               -                      551,162               

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      1,906,073            1,906,073            

10,051                 -                      837,057               31,544                 1,485,448            1,906,073            3,391,521            

3,456                   -                      (67,645)               45,588                 (116,831)             -                      (116,831)             

-                      -                      -                      -                      126,000               -                      126,000               
-                      (3,013)                 -                      -                      (163,486)             -                      (163,486)             

-                      (3,013)                 -                      -                      (37,486)               -                      (37,486)               

3,456                   (3,013)                 (67,645)               45,588                 (154,317)             -                      (154,317)             

10,929                 3,013                   -                      39,052                 1,263,165            -                      1,263,165            
-                      -                      67,645                 -                      67,645                 -                      67,645                 

10,929                 3,013                   67,645                 39,052                 1,330,810            -                      1,330,810            

14,385$               -     $                   -     $                   84,640$               1,176,493$          -     $                   1,176,493$          

Capital Projects 
- PID

Total 
Nonmajor 
Special 

Revenue Funds
Tomball Fun 

Runs
Tomball Legacy 

Fund
Child Safety 

Fund

Public 
Improvement 

Districts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment earnings 750$                    150$                    -$                    (150)$                  
Other -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total revenues 750                      150                      -                      (150)                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out -                      -                      (98,803)               (98,803)               

Total other financing uses -                      -                      (98,803)               (98,803)               

Net change in fund balances 750                      150                      (98,803)               (98,953)               

Fund balance, beginning of year 98,803 98,803 98,803 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 99,553$               98,953$               -     $                   (98,953)$             

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeitures 11,000$               11,000$               11,284$               284$                    
Investment earnings 2,000                   150                      223                      73                        

Total revenues 13,000                 11,150                 11,507                 357                      

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 20,000                 12,000                 13,931                 (1,931)                 

Total expenditures 20,000                 12,000                 13,931                 (1,931)                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (7,000)                 (850)                    (2,424)                 (1,574)                 

Net change in fund balances (7,000)                 (850)                    (2,424)                 (1,574)                 

Fund balance, beginning of year 243,269 243,269 243,269 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 236,269$             242,419$             240,845$             (1,574)$               

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeitures 15,000$               12,000$               10,058$               (1,942)$               
Investment earnings 2,000                   150                      141                      (9)                        

Total revenues 17,000                 12,150                 10,199                 (1,951)                 

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 40,000                 40,000                 41,542                 (1,542)                 

Total expenditures 40,000                 40,000                 41,542                 (1,542)                 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (23,000)               (27,850)               (31,343)               (3,493)                 

Net change in fund balances (23,000)               (27,850)               (31,343)               (3,493)                 

Fund balance, beginning of year 184,018 184,018 184,018 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 161,018$             156,168$             152,675$             (3,493)$               

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Franchise and other taxes 575,000$             300,000$             486,518$             186,518$             
Investment earnings 6,000                   400                      342                      (58)                      
Other 5,000                   1,000                   -                      (1,000)                 

Total revenues 586,000               301,400               486,860               185,460               

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government -                      -                      161                      (161)                    
Tourism and arts 736,206               736,425               551,162               185,263               

Total expenditures 736,206               736,425               551,323               185,102               

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (150,206)             (435,025)             (64,463)               370,562               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 126,000               126,000               126,000               -                      

Total other financing sources 126,000               126,000               126,000               -                      

Net change in fund balances (24,206)               (309,025)             61,537                 370,562               

Fund balance, beginning of year 622,411 622,411 622,411 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 598,205$             313,386$             683,948$             370,562$             

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeitures 13,000$               13,000$               13,384$               384$                    
Investment earnings 750                      50                        123                      73                        

Total revenues 13,750                 13,050                 13,507                 457                      

EXPENDITURES
Current

Public safety 10,000                 10,000                 10,051                 (51)                      

Total expenditures 10,000                 10,000                 10,051                 (51)                      

Net change in fund balances 3,750                   3,050                   3,456                   406                      

Fund balance, beginning of year 10,929                 10,929                 10,929                 -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 14,679$               13,979$               14,385$               406$                    

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment earnings 200$                    20$                      -$                    (20)$                    
Other 15,000                 6,000                   -                      (6,000)                 

Total revenues 15,200                 6,020                   -                      (6,020)                 

EXPENDITURES
Current

Parks and recreation 21,000                 -                      -                      -                      

Total expenditures 21,000                 -                      -                      -                      

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures (5,800)                 6,020                   -                      (6,020)                 

OTHER FINANCING USES
Transfers out -                      -                      (3,013)                 (3,013)                 

Total other financing uses -                      -                      (3,013)                 (3,013)                 

Net change in fund balances (5,800)                 6,020                   (3,013)                 (9,033)                 

Fund balance, beginning of year 3,013                   3,013                   3,013                   -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR (2,787)$               9,033$                 -     $                   (9,033)$               

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance With
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Property tax 4,840,000$          3,755,000$          3,701,770$          (53,230)$             
Contributions from component unit for debt serv ice 757,885               1,127,885            757,885               (370,000)             
Investment earnings 70,000                 2,000                   1,647                   (353)                    
Other -                      -                      4,142                   4,142                   

Total revenues 5,667,885            4,884,885            4,465,444            (419,441)             

EXPENDITURES
Debt serv ice

Principal 2,745,972            2,540,000            2,540,000            -                      
Interest 953,151               1,004,852            1,028,508            (23,656)               
I ssuance costs and fiscal agent fees 14,000                 14,000                 186,875               (172,875)             

Total expenditures 3,713,123            3,558,852            3,755,383            (196,531)             

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
  over expenditures 1,954,762            1,326,033            710,061               (615,972)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from issuance of refunding bonds -                      -                      5,255,000            5,255,000            
Premiums on bonds issued -                      -                      535,384               535,384               
Payments to refunding bond escrow agent -                      -                      (5,652,859)          (5,652,859)          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                      -                      137,525               137,525               

Net change in fund balances 1,954,762            1,326,033            847,586               (478,447)             

Fund balance, beginning of year 5,019,772            5,019,772            5,019,772            -                      

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 6,974,534$          6,345,805$          5,867,358$          (478,447)$           

Budgeted Amounts
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INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
 

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one 
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other government 
units, on a cost reimbursement basis. 
 
Fleet Replacement Fund - This internal service fund is used to account for transportation fleet replacement 
to departments or agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
 
Health Benefits Fund - This internal service fund is used to account for the costs associated with health 
benefits to departments or agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
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Fleet Health
Replacement Benefits Total

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 532,031$             2,581,227$          3,113,258$          
Prepaid items -                      271,959               271,959               

Total current assets 532,031               2,853,186            3,385,217            

Noncurrent assets
Capital assets - depreciable, net 3,125,002            -                      3,125,002            

Total noncurrent assets 3,125,002            -                      3,125,002            

Total assets 3,657,033            2,853,186            6,510,219            

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable -                      63,579                 63,579                 
Due to other governments -                      5,194                   5,194                   
Accrued interest payable 37,853                 -                      37,853                 
Public property finance contract obligation, current 130,000               -                      130,000               

Total current liabilities 167,853               68,773                 236,626               

Noncurrent liabilities
Public property finance contract obligation 909,868               -                      909,868               

Total noncurrent liabilities 909,868               -                      909,868               

Total liabilities 1,077,721            68,773                 1,146,494            

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,085,134            -                      2,085,134            
Unrestricted 494,178               2,784,413            3,278,591            

TOTAL NET POSITION 2,579,312$          2,784,413$          5,363,725$          
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Total 
OPERATING REVENUES

Internal serv ice charges 526,303$               3,012,892$            3,539,195$            

Total operating revenues 526,303                 3,012,892              3,539,195              

OPERATING EXPENSES
Materials, supplies and contracted serv ices -                         2,614,909              2,614,909              
Depreciation 507,952                 -                         507,952                 

Total operating expenses 507,952                 2,614,909              3,122,861              

Operating income 18,351                   397,983                 416,334                 

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment earnings 765                        1,782                     2,547                     
Intergovernmental 72,284                   -                         72,284                   
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 40,733                   -                         40,733                   
Interest (39,272)                  -                         (39,272)                  

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 74,510                   1,782                     76,292                   

Change in net position 92,861                   399,765                 492,626                 

Net position, beginning of year 2,414,167              2,384,648              4,798,815              
Prior period adjustment 72,284                   -                         72,284                   

Net position, beginning of year - restated 2,486,451              2,384,648              4,871,099              

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,579,312$            2,784,413$            5,363,725$            

Fleet 
Replacement 

Fund
Health Benefits 

Fund
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Total
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from interfund charges 526,303$             3,060,209$          3,586,512$          
Payments to suppliers and serv ice providers (1,440)                 (2,663,420)          (2,664,860)          

Net cash prov ided by operating activ ities 524,863               396,789               921,652               

CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,000,728)          -                      (1,000,728)          
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 43,575                 -                      43,575                 
Principal paid on long-term debt (130,000)             -                      (130,000)             
Interest paid on long-term debt (43,359)               -                      (43,359)               
Intergovernmental capital grants 72,284                 -                      72,284                 

Net cash used for capital and related 
  financing activ ities (1,058,228)          -                      (1,058,228)          

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment earnings 765                      1,782                   2,547                   

Net cash prov ided by investing activ ities 765                      1,782                   2,547                   

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (532,600)             398,571               (134,029)             

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,  BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,064,631            2,182,656            3,247,287            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 532,031$             2,581,227$          3,113,258$          

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income 18,351$               397,983$             416,334$             
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net

cash provided by operating activ ities:
Depreciation 507,952               -                          507,952               

(Increase) decrease in assets
Due from other governments -                          47,317                 47,317                 
Prepaid items -                          (62,788)               (62,788)               

Increase (decrease) in liabilities
Accounts payable (1,440)                 9,083                   7,643                   
Due to other governments -                          5,194                   5,194                   

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 524,863$             396,789$             921,652$             

Fleet 
Replacement 

Fund
Health Benefits 

Fund
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9,323,399$          
Investments 9,506,259            
Receivables, net of allowance 995,858               

TOTAL ASSETS 19,825,516$        

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 3,646$                 
Deposits payable 8,869                   
Due to primary government 242,612               

Total liabilities 255,127               

FUND BALANCE
Assigned 19,570,389          

Total fund balance 19,570,389          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 19,825,516$        

Reconciliation to government-wide statement
  of net position

Total fund balance 19,570,389$        
Capital assets used in governmental activ ities are not financial resources
  and, therefore, are not reported in the fund 7,790,243            

NET POSITION OF COMPONENT UNIT 27,360,632$        
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REVENUES
Sales tax 4,408,484$          
Contributions not restricted to specific programs 16,000                 
Unrestricted investment earnings 87,766                 
Other 336,228               

Total revenues 4,848,478            

EXPENDITURES
Current

Economic development 4,690,734            

Total expenditures 4,690,734            

Excess of revenues over expenditures 157,744               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCE
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 662,747               

Net change in fund balance 820,491               

Fund balance, beginning of year 18,749,898          

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 19,570,389$        

RECONCILIATION TO GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Net change in fund balance 820,491$             

 Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the
  government-wide statement of activ ities, the cost of those assets is allocated
  over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. Transactions in the
  current period involv ing capital assets incude:

Capital outlay recorded as capital assets 2,043,540            
Depreciation expense (209,883)             
Asset retirements/disposals (79,457)               

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF COMPONENT UNIT 2,574,691$          
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Statistical Section 

(Unaudited) 
 
This part of the City's annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a context 
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required 
supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health. 
 
 Page  
 
Financial Trends – Schedules 1-4 112 
 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the 
City’s financial performance and well-being have changed over time. 

 
Revenue Capacity – Schedules 5-10 122 
 

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most 
significant local revenue sources: sales and property taxes. 

 
Debt Capacity – Schedules 11-15 132 
 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the 
City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt 
in the future. 

 
Demographic and Economic Information – Schedules 16-17 140 
 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader 
understand the environment within which the City’s financial activities take place.   

 
Operating Information – Schedules 18-20 142 
 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
understand how the information in the City’s financial report relates to the services 
the City provides and the activities it performs. 

 
 
 

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the annual 
comprehensive financial report for the relevant year. 
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2012 2013 2014 2015
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

Net investment in capital assets 23,370,524$     25,646,519$     28,189,848$     31,267,016$     
Restricted 2,675,627         2,804,100         3,557,490         4,308,595         
Unrestricted 10,571,977       12,612,754       13,566,745       10,694,702       

Total governmental activ ities net position 36,618,128       41,063,373       45,314,083       46,270,313       

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Net investment in capital assets 30,368,908       30,721,512       30,851,835       33,433,571       
Restricted -                    -                    1,095,173         -                    
Unrestricted 9,636,451         10,646,792       11,354,769       10,960,950       

Total business-type activ ities net position 40,005,359       41,368,304       43,301,777       44,394,521       

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Net investment in capital assets 53,739,432       56,368,031       59,041,683       64,700,587       
Restricted 2,675,627         2,804,100         4,652,663         4,308,595         
Unrestricted 20,208,428       23,259,546       24,921,514       21,655,652       

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT NET POSITION 76,623,487$     82,431,677$     88,615,860$     90,664,834$     
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

34,220,115$     40,779,628$     38,896,658$     39,717,999$     38,457,189$     52,259,872$     
5,821,510         3,912,411         4,303,114         6,024,527         5,959,267         6,829,497         

10,340,744       11,385,550       13,436,447       18,791,783       27,363,295       25,246,016       

50,382,369       56,077,589       56,636,219       64,534,309       71,779,751       84,335,385       

33,059,434       33,038,353       34,874,499       36,762,190       38,760,225       40,057,607       
-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

11,445,362       8,966,625         9,838,615         5,830,989         5,946,634         9,152,453         

44,504,796       42,004,978       44,713,114       42,593,179       44,706,859       49,210,060       

67,279,549       73,817,981       73,771,157       76,480,189       77,217,414       92,317,479       
5,821,510         3,912,411         4,303,114         6,024,527         5,959,267         6,829,497         

21,786,106       20,352,175       23,275,062       24,622,772       33,309,929       34,398,469       

94,887,165$     98,082,567$     101,349,333$   107,127,488$   116,486,610$   133,545,445$   
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2012 2013 2014 2015
EXPENSES
Governmental activ ities:

General government 4,077,633$          5,131,879$          4,789,051$          4,968,344$          
Public safety 6,845,653            7,508,811            8,069,621            8,493,353            
Public works 5,794,907            5,456,886            6,137,989            6,181,783            
Parks and recreation -                       -                       -                       -                       
Tourism and arts -                       -                       -                       -                       
Community development 287,085               302,564               338,381               313,713               
Interest and fiscal agent fees 821,705               830,054               926,584               891,258               

Total governmental activ ities expenses 17,826,983          19,230,194          20,261,626          20,848,451          

Business-type activities:
Utility administration 979,390               955,026               909,211               979,161               
Water 3,262,366            2,962,612            3,087,563            3,410,534            
Sewer 1,736,531            1,978,197            2,418,443            2,483,923            
Gas 1,743,258            2,229,583            1,963,162            1,429,950            
Interest and fiscal agent fees 321,443               245,129               -                       -                       

Total business-type activ ities expenses 8,042,988            8,370,547            8,378,379            8,303,568            

Total primary government expenses 25,869,971          27,600,741          28,640,005          29,152,019          

PROGRAM REVENUES
Governmental activ ities:

Charges for serv ices
General government -                       -                       -                       -                       
Public safety 1,181,742            1,066,313            999,667               1,334,938            
Public works 2,613,043            2,695,712            2,694,670            2,673,999            
Communtiy development -                       -                       -                       -                       

Operating grants and contributions 1,313,128            1,844,224            1,039,237            544,607               
Capital grants and contributions -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total governmental activ ities program revenues 5,107,913            5,606,249            4,733,574            4,553,544            

Business-type activities:
Charges for serv ices
Utility administration 1,001,306            807,673               842,468               907,654               

Water 4,668,205            4,578,777            4,449,383            4,654,613            
Sewer 2,365,611            2,372,163            2,320,748            2,316,495            
Gas 3,061,634            3,578,145            3,295,521            2,844,005            

Operating grants and contributions 670,000               670,000               670,000               558,148               
Capital grants and contributions -                       -                       -                       -                       

Total business-type activ ities program revenues 11,766,756          12,006,758          11,578,120          11,280,915          

Total primary government program revenues 16,874,669          17,613,007          16,311,694          15,834,459          

NET (EXPENSE/REVENUE)
Governmental activ ities (12,719,070)         (13,623,945)         (15,528,052)         (16,294,907)         
Business-type activities 3,723,768            3,636,211            3,199,741            2,977,347            

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT NET EXPENSE (8,995,302)$         (9,987,734)$         (12,328,311)$       (13,317,560)$       

 

Page 291



 Schedule 2 
 Page 1 of 2 
 
 
 

115 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

5,391,624$          5,174,908$          3,821,623$          4,474,991$          6,479,677$          7,453,414$          
9,028,841            9,650,665            10,000,655          10,435,902          10,976,532          10,642,757          
6,436,355            6,952,664            8,912,367            7,074,104            4,071,787            4,998,747            

-                       741,577               637,942               780,799               924,069               850,842               
-                       -                       648,305               688,638               604,578               551,323               

421,381               386,153               431,157               430,360               556,924               532,472               
830,716               1,252,064            1,452,252            1,328,319            1,295,548            1,017,122            

22,108,917          24,158,031          25,904,301          25,213,113          24,909,115          26,046,677          

1,179,100            1,362,874            2,876,373            2,938,276            1,672,850            1,908,989            
3,410,534            3,937,152            3,356,893            3,793,224            5,115,488            5,132,543            
2,483,923            2,228,636            1,239,276            1,448,029            2,114,431            2,041,666            
1,429,950            1,507,955            1,529,924            1,774,315            1,646,494            4,474,541            

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

8,503,507            9,036,617            9,002,466            9,953,844            10,549,263          13,557,739          

30,612,424          33,194,648          34,906,767          35,166,957          35,458,378          39,604,416          

-                       -                       -                       -                       71,864                 103,456               
1,334,938            1,315,754            1,528,423            1,899,018            1,468,491            1,344,309            
2,673,999            2,359,008            1,961,957            1,954,602            1,793,191            1,888,491            

-                       441,542               513,522               558,992               1,109,989            1,628,808            
544,607               1,420,653            1,012,028            839,316               473,851               1,358,419            

-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       4,869,087            

4,553,544            5,536,957            5,015,930            5,251,928            4,917,386            11,192,570          

907,654               739,061               1,335,974            934,852               1,384,685            2,878,294            
4,654,613            5,092,916            5,347,170            5,494,083            6,376,840            6,819,402            
2,316,495            2,434,143            2,405,689            2,310,252            2,208,301            2,522,144            
2,844,005            2,655,884            3,139,726            3,271,868            3,504,744            3,988,923            

558,148               558,148               558,148               -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       989,795               

11,280,915          11,480,152          12,786,707          12,011,055          13,474,570          17,198,558          

15,834,459          17,017,109          17,802,637          17,262,983          18,391,956          28,391,128          

(17,555,373)         (18,621,074)         (20,888,371)         (19,961,185)         (19,991,729)         (14,854,107)         
2,777,408            2,443,535            3,784,241            2,057,211            2,925,307            3,640,819            

(14,777,965)$       (16,177,539)$       (17,104,130)$       (17,903,974)$       (17,066,422)$       (11,213,288)$       
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2012 2013 2014 2015
GENERAL REVENUES AND OTHER CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Governmental activ ities:

Taxes:
Property taxes, lev ied for general purposes 1,228,461$          1,543,913$          1,638,673$          1,715,949$          
Property taxes, lev ied for debt serv ice 2,557,169            3,164,416            3,371,282            3,525,979            
Sales taxes 8,189,360            9,442,376            10,532,691          10,839,818          
Franchise and other taxes 1,227,784            1,267,302            1,253,077            1,282,598            
Other taxes 444,032               428,208               590,910               538,843               

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets -                       -                       -                       17,634                 
Contributions not restricted to specific programs -                       -                       -                       -                       
Special assessments -                       -                       -                       -                       
Unrestricted investment earnings 46,763                 44,877                 30,636                 40,115                 
Other 151,142               227,592               253,375               475,712               
Transfers 3,054,958            2,448,842            1,691,621            1,607,068            

Total governmental activ ities 16,899,669          18,567,526          19,362,265          20,043,716          

Business-type activities:
Gain on sale of capital assets -                       -                       -                       -                       
Contributions not restricted to specific programs -                       -                       -                       -                       
Unrestricted investment earnings 21,721                 13,088                 (1,417)                  33,771                 
Other 44,212                 50,567                 45,800                 47,847                 
Transfers (3,054,958)           (2,448,842)           (1,691,621)           (1,607,068)           

Total business-type activ ities (2,989,025)           (2,385,187)           (1,647,238)           (1,525,450)           

Total primary government 13,910,644          16,182,339          17,715,027          18,518,266          

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
Governmental activ ities 4,180,599            4,943,581            3,834,213            3,748,809            
Business-type activities 734,743               1,251,024            1,552,503            1,451,897            

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 4,915,342$          6,194,605$          5,386,716$          5,200,706$          
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,855,706$          1,964,345$          2,144,861$          2,046,480$          2,265,470$          3,511,280$          
3,818,986            4,042,945            4,374,552            4,195,229            4,654,251            3,701,770            

10,578,683          10,791,147          12,427,660          12,523,084          12,291,928          13,361,050          
1,331,077            1,307,171            1,270,927            1,300,064            1,565,842            1,459,571            

628,932               554,839               711,245               798,623               -                       -                       
127,134               -                       -                       -                       162,560               260,345               

-                       -                       -                       536,112               2,356,370            782,885               
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       769,412               

133,673               473,077               920,613               184,901               788,699               39,807                 
395,060               145,114               376,266               1,234,387            633,271               533,098               

2,798,178            5,037,656            836,473               5,040,395            2,467,434            1,206,112            

21,667,429          24,316,294          23,062,597          27,859,275          27,185,825          25,625,330          

-                       -                       -                       38,462                 -                       195,593               
-                       -                       -                       558,148               1,420,458            370,000               

43,741                 82,792                 154,619               -                       94,836                 6,041                   
87,304                 11,511                 4,417                   266,639               140,513               661,412               

(2,798,178)           (5,037,656)           (836,473)              (5,040,395)           (2,467,434)           (1,206,112)           
-                       

(2,667,133)           (4,943,353)           (677,437)              (4,177,146)           (811,627)              26,934                 

19,000,296          19,372,941          22,385,160          23,682,129          26,374,198          25,652,264          

4,112,056            5,695,220            2,174,226            7,898,090            7,194,096            10,771,223          
110,275               (2,499,818)           3,106,804            (2,119,935)           2,113,680            3,667,753            

4,222,331$          3,195,402$          5,281,030$          5,778,155$          9,307,776$          14,438,976$        
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2012 2013 2014 2015
GENERAL FUND

Nonspendable 39,913$             30,441$             15,894$             14,435$             
Restricted -                    -                    -                    -                    
Assigned 325,879             161,921             322,702             127,671             
Unassigned 9,489,655          11,559,755        13,075,443        13,340,472        

Total General fund 9,855,447          11,752,117        13,414,039        13,482,578        

ALL OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Restricted 19,319,655        27,524,034        26,470,729        23,370,264        
Committed -                    -                    -                    -                    
Assigned, reported in:

Capital project funds -                    -                    -                    -                    
Nonmajor governmental funds 133,570             143,436             168,245             167,060             

Total all other governmental funds 19,453,225        27,667,470        26,638,974        23,537,324        

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 29,308,672$      39,419,587$      40,053,013$      37,019,902$      
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

12,047$             14,956$             22,244$             41,027$             32,959$             44,475$             
-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

35,379               24,767               78,620               -                    -                    101,936             
13,245,355        13,021,273        14,649,687        16,040,036        17,356,506        21,310,474        

13,292,781        13,060,996        14,750,551        16,081,063        17,389,465        21,456,885        

19,434,478        42,711,890        39,639,759        42,382,622        31,060,871        20,772,788        
-                    -                    -                    -                    39,052               84,640               

-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
128,489             140,059             150,799             160,021             101,816             -                    

19,562,967        42,851,949        39,790,558        42,542,643        31,201,739        20,857,428        

32,855,748$      55,912,945$      54,541,109$      58,623,706$      48,591,204$      42,314,313$      
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2012 2013 2014 2015
REVENUES

Taxes 13,886,856$        15,846,215$        17,386,633$        17,903,187$        
Pemits, licenses, and fees 308,621               445,104               446,292               492,646               
Fines and forfeitures 1,143,981            1,181,742            1,066,313            999,667               
Serv ice Revenue 2,075,785            2,167,939            2,249,420            2,202,024            
Intergovernmental 273,950               784,918               939,861               384,308               
Contributions from component unit 1,021,703            528,210               904,363               606,753               
Investment earnings 44,347                 42,913                 29,604                 38,372                 
Special assessments -                      -                      -                      -                      
Contributions from property owners -                      -                      -                      -                      
Other revenues 151,143               178,501               242,361               538,244               

Total revenues 18,906,386          21,175,542          23,264,847          23,165,201          

EXPENDITURES
General government 4,520,919            5,099,473            4,929,295            5,128,871            
Public safety 7,344,336            7,353,064            8,230,705            9,114,221            
Public works 3,407,143            3,217,149            3,364,509            3,464,256            
Public serv ice 266,984               1,677,586            1,627,610            1,366,045            
Parks and recreation -                      -                      -                      -                      
Tourism and arts -                      -                      -                      -                      
Community development -                      -                      -                      -                      
Capital outlay 4,311,250            1,939,517            2,996,663            5,923,542            
Debt serv ice

Principal 1,192,057            1,800,649            2,210,330            2,742,812            
Interest 806,738               733,166               955,817               854,618               
Issuance costs and fiscal agent fees 106,633               284,673               8,113                   11,015                 

Total expenditures 21,956,060          22,105,277          24,323,042          28,605,380          

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (3,049,674)          (929,735)             (1,058,195)          (5,440,179)          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 5,206,958            2,748,842            2,491,049            3,261,023            
Transfers out (2,152,000)          (300,000)             (799,428)             (1,653,955)          
I ssuance of debt 14,500,000          14,270,500          -                      -                      
Premium on debt issued 107,735               205,934               -                      -                      
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent -                      (5,884,626)          -                      -                      
Capital leases 725,000               -                      -                      800,000               
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                      -                      -                      -                      
Insurance recoveries -                      -                      -                      -                      

Total other financing sources 18,387,693          11,040,650          1,691,621            2,407,068            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 15,338,019$        10,110,915$        633,426$             (3,033,111)$        

DEBT SERVICE AS A PERCENTAGE OF NONCAPITAL EXPENDITURES 11.33% 12.56% 14.85% 15.86%
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

18,213,384$        18,660,447$        20,855,485$        20,863,480$        20,777,491$        22,033,671$        
439,677               477,934               532,615               580,397               1,113,989            1,633,908            
892,654               811,084               664,577               702,464               387,512               342,294               

2,234,322            2,236,863            1,844,191            2,944,374            2,967,034            3,013,862            
288,988               879,740               453,416               814,316               473,851               2,881,985            
538,012               540,913               558,612               561,112               755,684               757,885               
125,092               451,739               920,616               1,234,387            760,258               37,260                 

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      769,412               
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      1,906,073            

637,104               746,050               1,412,658            370,277               467,213               505,629               

23,369,233          24,804,770          27,242,170          28,070,807          27,703,032          33,881,979          

5,226,561            6,100,527            5,393,013            5,864,176            6,126,522            7,338,143            
8,509,599            9,089,408            9,299,659            9,343,944            9,938,995            10,121,612          
3,386,348            6,526,127            4,125,511            3,981,985            3,747,361            4,633,013            
2,716,596            -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-                      741,577               637,942               780,799               933,132               850,842               
-                      -                      648,305               688,638               604,578               551,162               
-                      702,393               431,157               430,037               400,824               382,201               

7,384,704            777,156               4,135,518            2,804,551            14,657,977          15,267,183          

2,285,608            3,119,373            3,322,713            3,576,806            3,923,000            2,540,000            
812,046               1,647,348            1,446,498            1,368,870            1,128,683            1,028,508            
10,163                 10,163                 10,163                 10,163                 181,880               186,875               

30,331,625          28,714,072          29,450,479          28,849,969          41,642,952          42,899,539          

(6,962,392)          (3,909,302)          (2,208,309)          (779,162)             (13,939,920)        (9,017,560)          

3,979,455            8,138,353            4,204,166            6,314,895            4,789,385            3,724,723            
(1,181,277)          (2,323,541)          (3,367,693)          (1,453,136)          (1,088,050)          (1,436,305)          

-                      20,240,000          -                      -                      9,100,000            5,255,000            
-                      911,687               -                      -                      733,352               535,384               
-                      -                      -                      -                      (9,663,255)          (5,652,859)          
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      
-                      -                      -                      -                      166,059               27,469                 
-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      219,612               

2,798,178            26,966,499          836,473               4,861,759            4,037,491            2,673,024            

(4,164,214)$        23,057,197$        (1,371,836)$        4,082,597$          (9,902,429)$        (6,344,536)$        

13.50% 17.06% 18.84% 18.99% 19.08% 13.15%
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Function 2012 2013 2014 2015

Property 4,025,680$       4,708,329$       5,009,955$       5,241,928$       
Sales 8,189,360         9,442,376         10,532,691       10,839,818       
Franchise fee 964,790            1,267,302         1,253,077         1,282,598         
Other taxes 707,026            428,208            590,910            538,843            

13,886,856$     15,846,215$     17,386,633$     17,903,187$     
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

5,674,692$       6,007,290$       6,519,413$       6,241,709$       6,919,721$       7,213,050$       
10,578,683       10,791,147       12,427,660       12,594,274       12,291,928       13,361,050       
1,331,076         1,064,371         1,026,440         996,118            832,450            851,126            

628,933            797,639            881,972            1,031,379         733,392            608,445            

18,213,384$     18,660,447$     20,855,485$     20,863,480$     20,777,491$     22,033,671$     
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2012 2013 2014 2015

Residential property 436,949,202$         433,331,223$         439,396,850$         497,193,417$         
Commercial property 1,071,555,690        1,192,905,533        1,303,924,316        1,314,023,000        

Less:  Tax exempt property (341,307,250)         (261,641,054)         (274,973,296)         (280,967,178)         

TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUE (1) 1,167,197,642$      1,364,595,702$      1,468,347,870$      1,530,249,239$      

TOTAL DIRECT TAX RATE 0.341455 0.341455 0.341455 0.341455

Source:  Harris County Certified / Uncertified Tax Roll.

(1) Property is assessed at actual value; therefore, the assessed values are equal to actual value.
Tax rates are per $100 of assessed value.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

561,634,471$         588,671,706$         623,634,272$         710,129,040$         925,530,809$         796,448,519$         
1,395,710,026        1,451,279,183        1,469,452,394        1,709,373,371        1,575,407,601        1,758,884,849        

(290,126,523)         (298,380,174)         (263,289,888)         (345,460,031)         (362,380,020)         (355,036,270)         

1,667,217,974$      1,741,570,715$      1,829,796,778$      2,074,042,380$      2,138,558,390$      2,200,297,098$      

0.341455 0.341455 0.341455 0.341455 0.341455 0.337862
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2012 2013 2014 2015
City of Tomball by fund:

General 0.111455$        0.111455$        0.111455$        0.111455$        
Debt serv ice 0.230000          0.230000          0.230000          0.230000          

Total Direct Rates 0.341455          0.341455          0.341455          0.341455          

Tomball Independent School District 1.360000          1.360000          1.360000          1.360000          
Harris County 0.391170          0.400210          0.414550          0.417310          
Harris County Flood Control District 0.028090          0.028090          0.028270          0.027360          
Port of Houston Authority 0.185600          0.019520          0.017160          0.015310          
Harris County Hospital District 0.192160          0.182160          0.170000          0.170000          
Harris County Dept. of Education 0.006581          0.006617          0.006358          0.005999          
Lone Star College System District 0.121000          0.119800          0.116000          0.108100          
Emergency Serv ice District #8 0.050000          0.050000          0.050000          0.100000          

TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING RATES (1) 2.676056$        2.507852$        2.503793$        2.545534$        

Tax rates per $100 of assessed valuation
Source:  Harris County Appraisal District

(1) Overlapping rates are those of local and county governments that apply within the City of Tomball.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

0.111455$        0.111455$        0.111455$        0.111455$        0.111455$        0.164279$        
0.230000          0.230000          0.230000          0.230000          0.230000          0.173583          

0.341455          0.341455          0.341455          0.341455          0.341455          0.337862          

1.340000          1.340000          1.340000          1.290000          1.290000          1.290000          
0.419230          0.416560          0.418580          0.407130          0.407130          0.391160          
0.027330          0.028290          0.028770          0.027920          0.027920          0.031420          
0.013420          0.013340          0.011550          0.010740          0.010740          0.009910          
0.170000          0.171790          0.171080          0.165910          0.165910          0.166710          
0.005422          0.005200          0.005190          0.005000          0.005000          0.004993          
0.107900          0.107800          0.107800          0.107800          0.107800          0.107800          
0.100000          0.095470          0.098250          0.096700          0.096700          0.097000          

2.524757$        2.519905$        2.522675$        2.452655$        2.452655$        2.436855$        
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Principal Property Taxpayers 
Current Year and Nine Years Ago 
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% of % of
Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed

Property Tax Payer Rank Value Rank Value

North Houston TRMC 132,709,999$           1 6.03% -$                          0.00%
Weingarten Investments Inc. 37,227,854               2 1.69% 14,465,046               4 1.24%
Baker Hughes 34,641,844               3 1.57% -                            
CXA Corporation 33,835,859               4 1.54% -                            
Mustang CAT Manufacturing 27,430,656               5 1.25% -                            
SJBC Commercial XXI  LLC 27,056,859               6 1.23% -                            
CenterPoint Energy 21,224,842               7 0.96% 14,630,455               5 1.25%
Wal Mart 19,676,763               8 0.89% 18,176,890               2 1.56%
29807 Tomball LLC 19,378,442               9 0.88% -                            
MPT Tomball LP 18,107,612               10 0.82% 15,640,730               3 1.34%
B J Serv ices -                            0.00% 152,536,820             1 13.07%
Lowe's -                            0.00% 13,145,395               6 1.13%
HEB Grocery -                            0.00% 11,993,498               7 1.03%
Target Corporation -                            0.00% 10,723,678               9 0.92%
Tomball Hospital Authority -                            0.00% 10,338,236               8 0.89%
MB Tomball Town Center LP -                            0.00% 9,658,207                 10 0.83%

Subtotal 371,290,730             16.87% 271,308,955             23.24%

Other Taxpayers 1,829,006,068          83.13% 895,888,687             76.76%

TOTAL TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUE 2,200,296,798$        100.00% 1,167,197,642$        100.00%

Source:  Harris County Tax Assessor-Collector's records.

2021 2012
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Taxes Levied Percentage Percent of Total
for the of Net Tax Tax Collections

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year Amount Levy Amount To Net Tax Levy

2012 3,983,961$              3,943,188$              99% 33,284$                   3,976,472$              100%
2013 4,649,753                4,633,156                100% 10,691                     4,643,847 100%
2014 4,985,054                4,967,598                100% 12,120                     4,979,718 100%
2015 5,185,007                5,168,570                100% 10,012                     5,178,582 100%
2016 5,688,531                5,591,963                98% 89,921                     5,681,884 100%
2017 6,077,755                5,870,159                97% 199,068                   6,069,227 100%
2018 6,285,748                6,210,139                99% 64,542                     6,274,681 100%
2019 6,400,713                6,344,039                99% 42,996                     6,387,035 100%
2020 6,844,962                6,751,924                99% 68,624                     6,820,548 100%
2021 7,297,621 7,118,059 98% -                          7,118,059 98%

Collections in 
Subsequent 

Periods

Total Collections to date
Collected Within the

Fiscal Year of the Levy
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Number Percentage Tax Percentage Number Percentage Tax Percentage
of of Liability of of of Liability of

Sales Tax Remitter Outlets Total (thousands) Total Outlets Total (thousands) Total

Retail trade 2,771       33.60% 9,933$          54.25% 1,268       24.85% 4,361$        38.59%
Serv ices 1,326       16.08% 2,673            14.60% 975          19.11% 1,797          15.90%
Wholesale trade 1,169       14.17% 1,338            7.31% 756          14.82% 880             7.79%
Utilities, transportation, communications 621          7.53% 916               5.00% 366          7.17% 724             6.41%
Manufacturing 1,025       12.43% 858               4.69% 432          8.47% 324             2.87%
Construction 392          4.75% 265               1.45% 301          5.90% 166             1.47%
Finance, insurance, real estate 276          3.35% 912               4.98% 217          4.25% 442             3.91%
Mining, quarrying, and oil and gas extraction 73            0.89% 384               2.10% 19            0.37% 19               0.17%
All other outlets 595          7.21% 1,029            5.62% 768          15.05% 2,589          22.91%

TOTAL 8,248       100.00% 18,308$        100.00% 5,102       100.00% 11,302$      100.00%

Source:  Texas State Comptroller of Public Accounts

Tax liability information is not available on a fiscal-year basis.

Calendar Year 2012

Notes:  Due to confidentiality issues, the names of the ten largest revenue payers are not available.  The categories 
presented are intended to provide alternative information regarding the sources of the City's revenue.

Calendar Year 2021
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Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 
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2012 2013 2014 2015
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Governmental activ ities:

General obligation bonds 5,501,750$            10,985,250$           9,710,500$           8,437,500$           
Certificates of obligation 21,151,000            22,435,000             21,565,000           20,640,000           
Premiums 332,990                 492,862                  449,806                406,750                
Public property finance contactual obligation -                         -                          -                        -                       
Other debt items (338,639)                (453,956)                 -                        -                       
Capital leases 664,193                 601,044                  535,464                800,000                

Subtotal 27,311,294            34,060,200             32,260,770           30,284,250           

Business-type activ ities:
General obligation bonds 4,738,250              5,304,750               4,669,500             4,042,500             
Certificates of obligation 1,199,000              -                          -                        -                       
Premiums 105,987                 94,211                    82,435                  70,659                  
Revenue bonds 3,315,000              2,900,000               2,465,000             -                       

Subtotal 9,358,237              8,298,961               7,216,935             4,113,159             

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 36,669,531$          42,359,161$           39,477,705$         34,397,409$         

PERSONAL INCOME 315,207,090          315,207,090           463,247,856         475,348,930         

DEBT AS A PERCENTAGE OF PERSONAL INCOME 11.633% 13.439% 8.522% 7.236%

POPULATION 10,979 10,979 11,124 11,299

DEBT PER CAPITA 3,340                     3,858                      3,549                    3,044                    

Note:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

7,165,750$           5,887,500$                4,603,250$           3,603,000$           10,790,000$         14,875,000$         
19,695,000           38,165,000                36,200,000           34,210,000           22,535,000           15,540,000           

363,694                1,188,911                  1,103,038             1,017,164             1,625,273             1,913,996             
-                       -                             1,300,000             1,169,868             1,169,868             1,039,868             
-                       -                             -                       -                       -                       -                       

731,142                660,019                     586,556                -                       -                       -                       

27,955,586           45,901,430                43,792,844           40,000,032           36,120,141           33,368,864           

3,429,250             2,832,500                  2,246,750             1,672,000             -                       -                       
-                       -                             -                       -                       -                       -                       

58,883                  47,107                       35,331                  23,555                  -                       -                       
-                       -                             -                       -                       -                       -                       

3,488,133             2,879,607                  2,282,081             1,695,555             -                       -                       

31,443,719$         48,781,037$              46,074,925$         41,695,587$         36,120,141$         33,368,864$         

508,752,440         576,689,433              575,773,674         420,244,052         381,549,768         459,924,388         

6.181% 8.459% 8.002% 9.922% 9.467% 7.255%

11,540 11,643 11,707 11,761 12,053 12,341

2,725                    4,190                         3,936                    3,545                    2,997                    2,704                    
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2012 2013 2014 2015
NET TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUE

All property 1,167,197,642 1,364,595,702 1,468,347,870 1,530,249,239

NET BONDED DEBT
Net bonded debt 32,690,338          38,858,117          36,477,241          33,597,409          

NET BONDED DEBT 32,690,338$        38,858,117$        36,477,241$        33,597,409$        

RATIO OF NET BONDED DEBT TO ASSESSED VALUE 2.80% 2.85% 2.48% 2.20%

POPULATION 10,753 10,979 10,979 11,124

NET BONDED DEBT PER CAPITA 3,040 3,539 3,322 3,020
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,667,217,974 1,741,570,715 1,829,767,778 2,074,042,380 2,138,558,390 2,200,297,098

30,712,577          48,121,018          42,285,167          38,048,276          36,120,141          33,368,864          

30,712,577$        48,121,018$        42,285,167$        38,048,276$        36,120,141$        33,368,864$        

1.84% 2.76% 2.31% 1.83% 1.69% 1.52%

11,299 11,643 11,707 11,761 12,053 12,341

2,718 4,133 3,612 3,235 2,997 2,704
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Estimated
Net Bonded Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Overlapping
Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable (1) Debt

DEBT REPAID WITH PROPERTY TAXES
Tomball ISD 564,985,000$          17.520% 98,985,372$            
Harris County 1,723,192,125         0.380% 6,548,130                
Harris Co. Flood Control District 590,725,000            0.380% 2,244,755                
Harris Co. Hospital District 81,540,000              0.380% 309,852                   
Port of Houston Authority 492,439,397            0.380% 1,871,270                
Harris County Dept of Education 20,185,000              0.380% 76,703                     
Lone Star College System 610,225,000            0.970% 5,919,183                

Subtotal, overlapping debt 115,955,264            

City direct debt 100.000% 33,368,864              

TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT 149,324,128$          

Notes: 
(1) Estimated Percentage Applicable developed from information obtained from the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas.

Source:  First Southwest Company / Texas Municipal Reports
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Legal Debt Margin Information 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 
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The City has no general obligation legal debt limit other than a ceiling on the ad valorem tax rate as 
specified by the State of Texas. The prescribed maximum is $ 2.50 per $ 100.00 at 100 percent valuation.

Page 314



City of Tomball, Texas  
Pledged Revenue Coverage 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 
 

138 

2012 2013 2014 2015

Gross revenues 11,012,281$        11,831,041$        12,060,478$        11,650,417$        
Operating expenses (1) 5,968,026 6,366,426 6,766,405 6,989,458

NET REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR DEBT SERVICE 5,044,255            5,464,615            5,294,073            4,660,959            

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS (2)

Principal and interest 563,815               568,174               273,536               -                      

TOTAL 563,815$             568,174$             273,536$             -$                    

COVERAGE 8.95 9.62 19.35 n/a

(1)  Total operating expenses less depreciation
(2)  Includes revenue bonds only. Revenue bonds were paid off during fiscal year 2015.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

11,371,959$        10,922,004$        12,228,559$        12,011,055$        13,615,083$        16,870,175$        
6,917,814 7,200,566 7,492,441 8,444,761 8,594,907 11,998,767

4,454,145            3,721,438            4,736,118            3,566,294            5,020,176            4,871,408            

-                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

-$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    

n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
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Fiscal Year Per Capita
Ended Personal Personal Median School Unemployment

Sept 30 Population(1)
Income Income(5) Age (2) Enrollment(3) Rate(4)

2012 10,979 315,207,090$      28,710$               36.9 11,132 7.50%
2013 10,979 315,207,090        28,710 39.8 12,362 6.20%
2014 11,124 463,247,856        41,644 35.6 12,461 4.90%
2015 11,299 475,348,930        42,070 37.2 13,270 4.40%
2016 11,540 508,752,440        44,086 37.3 14,077 5.70%
2017 11,643 576,689,433        49,531 34.5 14,700 4.80%
2018 11,707 575,773,674        49,182 34.5 15,934 4.72%
2019 11,761 420,244,052        35,732 39.3 16,962 4.40%
2020 12,053 381,549,768        31,656 39.0 18,294 8.30%
2021 12,341 459,924,388        37,268 39.0 18,666 5.60%

Sources:

(2) Tomball Economic Development Corporation or American FactFinder
(3) Tomball Independent School District
(4) Texas Employment Commission, SMSA Houston-Sugar Land-Baytown Metropolitan Statistical Area or 
      Houston-The Woodlands-Sugar Land MSA.
(5) Tomball Economic Development Corporation or American FactFinder

(1) Tomball Economic Development Corporation or American FactFinder
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141 

Total City Total City
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Tomball ISD 2,235 1 16.28% 1,436 2 16.67%
HCA (Previously Tomball Regional) 940 2 6.85% 1,600 1 18.58%
Lone Star College - Tomball 715 3 5.21% 800 3 9.29%
HEB 320 4 2.33% 266 6 3.09%
Walmart 275 5 2.00% 459 5 5.33%
City of Tomball 204 6 1.49% 165 7 1.92%
Lowes 200 7 1.46% 127 9 1.47%
Kroger 157 8 1.14% 140 8 1.63%
Target 90 9 0.66% 113 10 1.31%
Baker Hughes (B J Serv ices) 70 10 0.51% 600 4 6.97%

Notes:  The residents of the City of Tomball are primarily employed outside of the City limits.

Sources:
Tomball Area Chamber of Commerce
Tomball Economic Development Corporation
Tomball Independent School District
Human Resource Department of Listed Companies

2021 2012
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2012 2013 2014 2015
GENERAL FUND

Administration 16.00            17.50            17.50            17.50            
Permits & Inspection 5.00              5.00              5.00              4.00              
Police Department 59.00            58.00            58.50            59.50            
Municipal Court 4.50              4.50              4.50              4.50              
Community Center 3.00              3.00              3.00              3.00              
Fire Department 18.00            18.00            18.50            27.50            
Public Works Admin. 9.00              9.00              9.00              10.00            
Garage 2.00              2.00              2.00              2.00              
Parks 5.20              5.20              5.20              5.20              
Streets 8.20              7.20              7.20              7.20              

Total General Fund 129.90          129.40          130.40          140.40          

ENTERPRISE FUND
Utility Administration 9.00              8.00              7.00              7.00              
Water 7.20              7.20              8.20              8.20              
Wastewater 10.20            10.20            10.20            10.20            
Gas 6.20              6.20              6.20              6.20              

Total Enterprise Fund 32.60            31.60            31.60            31.60            

SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 2.50              3.00              12.00            3.00              

Total Special Revenue Fund 2.50              3.00              12.00            3.00              

TOTAL CITY POSITIONS 165.00          164.00          174.00          175.00          

Notes:
Temporary and seasonal employees are hired during the summer months.
This count is not reflected above. 
Police reserves are not included.
Fire Department volunteers are not included.
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

17.50            18.00            18.00            18.00            18.00            18.00            
6.00              6.00              6.00              6.00              6.00              6.00              

59.50            61.50            61.50            62.00            62.00            65.00            
4.50              4.50              4.50              5.50              5.50              5.50              
3.00              3.00              3.00              3.00              3.00              3.00              

27.50            27.50            27.50            35.30            32.30            35.30            
8.00              8.00              8.00              8.00              8.00              8.00              
2.00              2.00              2.00              2.00              2.00              2.00              
5.20              5.20              6.20              6.70              6.70              6.70              
8.20              8.20              9.20              9.20              9.20              9.20              

141.40          143.90          145.90          155.70          152.70          158.70          

8.00              8.00              9.00              9.00              9.00              9.00              
8.20              8.20              8.20              8.20              8.20              8.20              

10.20            10.20            10.20            10.20            10.20            10.20            
6.20              6.20              6.20              6.20              6.20              6.20              

32.60            32.60            33.60            33.60            33.60            33.60            

3.00              3.50              3.50              4.00              4.00              3.00              

3.00              3.50              3.50              4.00              4.00              3.00              

177.00          180.00          183.00          193.30          190.30          195.30          
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2012 2013 2014 2015
FUNCTION/PROGRAM
Police:

Arrests 1,475 2,394 1,650 1,252
Accident reports 392 378 453 514
Citations 13,329 11,330 10,181 7,251
Offense reports 2,153 2,008 2,224 1,462
Calls for serv ice 7,399 7,069 7,524 7,938

Fire:
Emergency responses 1,523 1,768 2,749 2,002
Fire incidents 178 129 128 104
Average response time 6:40 4:50 5:13 5:18

Water:
New accounts 56 122 126 88
Source

Water 56 122 126 88
Sewer 56 122 126 88

Average daily consumption (millions of gallons) 2.249 2,043 1,967 2,052
Number of million gallons of surface water pumped -                -                -                -                
Number of million gallons of well water pumped 822,215 759,817 718,069 750,434
Total consumption (millions of gallons) 822,215 759,817 718,069 750,434
Peak daily consumption (millions of gallons) 4,312 4,689 3,385 2,840

Sewer:
Average daily sewage treatment (millions of gallons) 1.555 1.347 1.478 1.576
Total consumption (millions of gallons) 567.754 491.660 539.470 575.240
Peak daily consumption (millions of gallons) 7.44 2.85 5.19 3.78

Source:  Various City departments
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

883 1,073 808 454 481 749
577 489 486 832 149 310

6,746 5,679 4,789 4,774 4,169 2,278
1,092 1,299 525 886 1,230 993
7,747 7,205 28,443 34,899 40,851 13,713

1,671 1,773 2,820 2,162 1,677 1,961
114 162 135 91 114 78
6:52 6:10 6:43 6:07 6:10 6:13

41 148 87 133 268 527

41 148 87 133 268 527
41 148 87 133 268 527

2,051 1,807 2,090 2,112 2,126 1,909
-                -                -                -                -                -                

748,615 659,814 763,060 912,707 776,032 773,283
748,615 659,814 763,060 912,707 693,111 706,483

2,657 4,760 3,941 5,083 4,141 5,730

1.920 1.589 1.528 1.554 1.297 1.352
700.800 579.985 565.824 568.764 473.415 535.090

2.70 3.51 3.20 3.23 3.99 4.99
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2012 2013 2014 2015
FUNCTION/PROGRAM

Police:
Stations 1 1 1 1
Patrol units 33 33 33 35

Fire stations 2 2 2 2
Other public works:

Streets (miles - centerlines) 58.20            50.60            50.60            50.60            
Streetlights 664 689 720 720

Parks and recreation:
Parks 4 6 6 7
Parks acreage 24.00 acres 39.00 acres 39.00 acres 52.00 acres
Swimming pools 1 1 1 1
Baseball / softball diamonds 8 8 8 8
Tennis courts 4 4 4 4
Racquetball/handball courts -                    -                    -                    -                    
Gymnasiums -                    -                    -                    -                    
Basketball courts 1 2 2 2

Water:
Water mains (miles) 0.20              1.00              92.69            92.69            
Fire hydrants 14 950 955 955
Storage capacity (millions of gallons) 2.35              2.85              2.85              2.85              

Sewer:
Sanitary sewers (miles) 1.53              1.65              1.65              1.65              
Storm sewers (miles) 17.40            22.90            22.90            22.90            
Open ditch / creek / canal drainage (miles) 54.00            54.00            54.00            54.00            
Treatment capacity (millions of gallons) 3                   3                   3                   3                   

Source:  Various City departments. In 2018, water and sewer mains (miles) were determined using a Geographic Imaging System
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1 1 1 1 1 1
35 35 35 38 51 56
2 2 2 2 2 2

50.60            57.94            57.94            61.67            84.00            88.18            
720 720 720 751 793 793

7 7 7 7 7 7
52.00 acres 69.81 acres 69.81 acres 69.81 acres 69.81 acres 69.81 acres

1 1 1 1 1 1
8 8 8 8 8 8
4 4 4 4 4 4
-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
-                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
2 2 2 2 2 2

94.49            95.11            121.36          123.97          128.92          132.60          
974 981 1,135 1,163 1,219 1,277
2.85              2.15              2.15              2.15              2.15              2.15              

3.25              3.88              98.14            84.50            88.52            92.23            
22.90            22.90            22.90            62.85            66.09            69.65            
54.00            57.00            57.23            57.23            57.23            57.23            

3                   3                   3                   3                   3                   3                   
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: 07/05/2022 

Topic: 

Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program Resolution 

Background: 

Police Chief Jeff Bert will present a proposed resolution needed to receive funds from the Motor Vehicle 

Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program. This $20,000.00 grant will enable the Tomball 

Police Department to obtain ALPR (Automatic License Plate Reader) cameras that will be placed in 

strategic locations in the City where vehicle theft and burglary of a motor vehicle are trending.  

Origination: Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program 

Recommendation: 

Approve Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority 2022 City of Tomball Resolution: Motor Vehicle 

Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: Jeff Bert, Chief of Police 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Jeff Bert  Approved by   

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 
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Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority 

City of Tomball Resolution No. 2022-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TOMBALL, 

TEXAS, DESIGNATING THE CITY MANAGER AS THE AUTHORIZED 

OFFICIAL/PROGRAM DIRECTOR OF THE CITY TO APPLY FOR 

GRANTS FOR THE MOTOR VEHICLE CRIME PREVENTION 

AUTHORITY AUXILIARY GRANT PROGRAM AND EXECUTE THE 

NECESSARY DOCUMENTS, AND DESIGNATING THE FINANCE 

DIRECTOR 

 * * * * * * * * * *  

WHEREAS, under the provisions of the Texas Transportation Code Chapter 1006 and 

Texas Administrative Code Title 43; Part 3; Chapter 57 and Texas Administrative Code Title 43; 

Part 3; Chapter 57, entities are eligible to receive grants from the Motor Vehicle Crime 

Prevention Authority to provide financial support to law enforcement agencies for economic 

motor vehicle theft enforcement teams; and 

 

WHEREAS, this grant program will assist this jurisdiction to combat motor vehicle 

theft, motor vehicle burglary and fraud-related motor vehicle crime; and 

  

WHEREAS, City of Tomball has agreed that in the event of loss or misuse of the grant 

funds, City of Tomball assures that the grant funds will be returned in full to the Motor Vehicle 

Crime Prevention Authority. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED and ordered that David Esquivel, City Manager, is 

designated as the Authorized Official to apply for, accept, decline, modify, or cancel the grant 

application for the Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority Grant Program and all other 

necessary documents to accept said grant; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that David Esquivel, City Manager, is designated as the 

Program Director and Katherine DuBose, Finance Director, is designated as the Financial Officer 

for this grant. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED AS SET OUT BELOW AT THE MEETING OF THE CITY 

COUNCIL HELD ON THE    5TH        DAY OF     JULY    2022. 
 

 

 

          

LORI KLEIN QUINN, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

                               

Doris Speer, City Secretary 
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City Council Meeting 

Agenda Item 

Data Sheet 
Meeting Date: July 5, 2022 

Topic: 

Executive Session: The City Council will meet in Executive Session as Authorized by 

Title 5, Chapter 551, Government Code, the Texas Open Meetings Act, for the Following 

Purpose(s): 

 

ᵒ     Sec. 551.071 – Consultation with the City Attorney regarding a matter which the Attorney’s 

duty requires to be discussed in closed session 

 

ᵒ     Sec. 551.074 - Personnel Matters: Deliberation of the Appointment, Employment, and Duties 

of Public Officers or Employees – Police Department 

 

ᵒ     Sec. 551.076 – Deliberation regarding Security Devices 

 

Background: 

 

Origination: David Esquivel, City Manager 

Recommendation: 

 

Party(ies) responsible for placing this item on agenda: David Esquivel, City Manager 

FUNDING (IF APPLICABLE) 

Are funds specifically designated in the current budget for the full amount required for this purpose? 

Yes:  No:  If yes, specify Account Number:   # 

If no, funds will be transferred from account  # To account # 

 

Signed Doris Speer 6-29-2022 Approved by    

 Staff Member Date  City Manager Date 

 

Page 328


	Top
	Item # I.	2022 Swim Season
	ADI - 7-5-22 - Tomball 2022 Swim Season

	Item # II.	Tomball Kid's Club
	ADI - Tomball Kids Club

	Item # III.	July 9 - 2nd Saturday
	ADI - 7-9-2022 2nd Saturday at the Depot

	Item # IV.	August 5 - Tomball Night
	ADI  - 8-5-22 50th Tomball Night
	50th Tomball  Night reduced

	Item # V.	August 13 - 2nd Saturday
	ADI 8-13-22 - 2nd Saturday at the Depot

	Item # VI.	Sept 9 and 10 - 9-11 21st Anniversary Remembrance
	ADI - 9-9 and 9-10 - 9-11 21st Anniversary Remembrance

	Item # VII.	Sept 17 - GroovFest 2022
	ADI - 9-17-22 GroovFest 2022

	Item # I.	Drought Contingency Plan as required by (TCEQ).
	ADI - Drought Contingency Plan

	Item # II.	COT New Interactive Map
	ADI - DS - ND COT New Interactive Map

	Item # 1.	6/20/22 Minutes
	ADI - Approve 6-29-2022 Minutes
	CC_Minutes_06-20-2022_Regular

	Item # 1.	2nd rdg ORD 2022-12 (Rezone AG to GR)
	ADI - DS - Ord 2022-12 2nd rdg
	Ord 2022-12 - P22-111 - 13100 Block of Medical Complex - Shahnaz Shahzad REVISED FOR 7-5-22 AGENDA
	June NOPH
	P22-111 Staff Report
	P22-111 Friendly & Response
	Public Response Comment Form(s)

	Item # 2.	Table to 7/5 ORD 2022-13 (Rezone AG to C)
	ADI - DS - ORD 2022-13 Remove from Table for 1st rdg
	Ord 2022-13 - P22-115 13000 Block of Medical Complex - Welcom Land and J Marshall
	June NOPH
	P22-115 Friendly & Response
	Public Comments Combined
	P22-115 Staff Report

	Item # 3.	2nd rdg ORD 2022-15 (Thoroughfare Plan Amendment)
	ADI - DS - Ord 2022-15 2nd rdg
	Ord 2022 -15 - P22-184 - Major Thorough Fare Plan - amend
	June_Public_Hearing_Notice
	P22-184 Staff Report 

	Item # 1.	Purchase 3 vehicles for PD thru State BuyBoard Cooperative Contract, Caldwell Country, $119,815
	ADI Shop Request
	Shop Quote

	Item # 2.	Contract - Land Related Services -Threshold Land Services, NTE $100,000
	ADI - Land Aquisition
	Threshold - Land Related Srevices Agreement

	Item # 3.	Reappoint Presiding Judge Brett Peabody Tomball Municipal Court
	ADI - Municipal Court Judge Peabody 2022 two year term

	Item # 4.	Reappoint Chief Prosecutor Grant Stevens Tomball Municipal Court
	ADI - Prosecutor 2022 two year term

	Item # 5.	Texas Hot Sauce Festival
	ADI - Texas Hot Sauce Festival
	Tomball Proposal
	Fees for the event
	2022 Special Event Applicatio..
	Map draft

	Item # 6.	Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for fiscal year ending September 30, 2021
	ADI - FY 2021 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report
	City of Tomball 2021 Compliance Report
	City of Tomball 2021 ACFR

	Item # 7.	RES 2022-24 Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority Auxiliary Grant Program
	07.05.2022 MVCPA Grant Resolution- JBert
	RES 2022-24 - MVCPA Resolution 2022

	Item # 8.	Executive Session 551.071 551.074 551.076
	ADI - DS - Executive Session 7-5-2022 - 551.071 551.074 551.076

	Bottom

